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ABSTRACT

This paper discusses an internship experience at the Audubon Institute, a not-
for-profit organization located in New Orleans, Louisiana. The Audubon Institute
oversees the management of several facilities dedicated to the cultivation and awareness
of nature. The primary focus of the internship was development and fund raising. As
intern the author was given the responsibility for several special projects, the purpose
of which was to assist the Vice-president for Development with improving the
operations of the department. In addition, the intern assisted with the ongoing activities
of the department, including grant writing and special events planning. Special projects
included a feasibility study for developing a new membership category for an out-of-
state market, obtaining bids on an electronic screening service for the department’s
database, and financial studies of 2 major fund raising events. In addition,
recommendations were made regarding the improvement of Development’s donor
research process. The primary impact of the intern’s time upon the Audubon Institute
was to provide a resource for analyzing Development Department plans and events in
order to assist in future decision making. The results of all research and analyses are

included in the Appendix.
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Chapter 1
THE AUDUBON INSTITUTE
History
The Audubon Institute, a not-for-profit organization located in New Orleans,
Louisiana, oversees the administration of a family of facilities which serve the New
Orleans community: Audubon Park and Zoological Gardens; the Aquarium of the
Americas; Woldenberg Riverfront Park; the Freeport-McMoRan Audubon Species
Survival Center and Wilderness Park; the Audubon Center for Research of Endangered
Species; the Entergy IMAX Theater; and the Louisiana Nature Center. The Institute is
the grandchild of a project that began over 100 years ago in 1893. By the late
nineteenth century the nation had become an urban industrialized society. In the 1890’s
urban parks and recreation centers were seen as a means to provide city dwellers with
exposure to the rejuvenating effects of a natural environment. New Orleans did not
escape this trend, and in 1893 the city hired the nationally known architectural firm
founded by Frederick Law Olmsted, the designer of New York’s Central Park, to
create an urban park for its citizens.'
In 1914 the city established the Audubon Park Commission to oversee the care of

the park. This Commission is still the governing agency for Audubon Park. During

' John F. Kasson, Amusing the Million, Coney Island at the Turn of the Century (New York: Hill
and Wang, 1978), pp. 11-17.




the early years of this century plans were implemented to create a zoo within the park,
and in the 1930’s the federal Works Progress Administration built several buildings for
the zoo. By the 1950’s and 1960’s the Zoo had lost much of its public funding,
causing a deterioration in the facilities. The caging and exhibition of the animals had
become a disgrace to the city. The New York Times once described the Audubon Zoo
as an “animal ghetto.” By the 1970’s city officials realized that something needed to
be done to save this potentially valuable asset for the future of New Orleans. In 1972
the citizens of New Orleans agreed by passing a special referendum that generated $1.9
million in general obligation bonds to be used for the restoration of the Zoo.

As restoration went forward the Zoo adopted an ambitious new mission that
encompassed not only the exhibition of wildlife, but conservation, education, and
recreation. In 1974 an association of Zoo volunteers formally established the Friends
of the Zoo. This organization began with 400 members and has grown to over 37,000
individuals and families. In 1977 L. Ronald Foreman was appointed Executive
Director of the Audubon Zoological Garden. Under Mr. Foreman’s direction a master
plan was created to establish natural animal habitats, state-of-the-art support facilities
and a highly trained professional staff. The plan also called for the establishment of a
long-range vision for the future of Audubon. The decade of the 1980°s saw many
progressive changes at the Audubon Zoo with the creation of diverse programming to
attract greater attendance. Education became a primary programming goal in order to
supplement a increasingly under funded public school system. The Friends of the Zoo

became the Audubon Institute, and took on a more active role in the administration of



the Zoo. By the end of the 1980’s the Institute had moved from total dependency on
local government funds to total self-sufficiency.

The 1980’s also brought expansion of the Institute from one facility to two with the
opening of the Aquarium of the Americas. From this point forward the Institute has
continued its growth into eight facilities dedicated to nature conservation and education,
and there are plans for more growth in coming years. The Audubon Institute has
grown from a modest urban recreation spot into a community of organizations that has

a major impact on conservation efforts and on the economy of the city of New Orleans.

Mission
The mission of the Audubon Institute is “to cultivate awareness and appreciation of
life, the interdependence of all living things, and to help conserve and enrich our
natural and man-made world.” The primary objectives established to accomplish this

mission are:

= Conservation: To participate in the effort to conserve and protect natural

resources by developing and maintaining captive populations of endangered
plants and animals, and by becoming involved in projects related to these
species in the wild.

= Education: To bring knowledge and understanding of the interaction between
nature and humans and to promote a balanced understanding of the
environment by establishing museums and wildlife facilities, programs, exhibits

and publications, and to promote public conservation efforts.



— Research: To encourage the collection and analysis of scientific information
that will enhance the conservation and education objectives of the Audubon

Institute.

= Economics: To insure long-range fiscal security by sound fiscal management
and development funding that encourages corporate, foundation, and individual
support.

— Leadership: To serve as a model of cooperation, participation and pride in the
civic and professional communities.

= Recreation: To provide a wide range of recreational opportunities, both active

and passive, to the community.

The Audubon Institute Family Tree
As the master plan established in the late 1970’s began taking shape the Audubon
Institute grew into a family of related entities dedicated to nature. Following is a brief

description of each branch of the current family and its future offspring:

Audubon Park
Since its inception in the late nineteenth century Audubon Park has evolved from a
wooded retreat on the rural outskirts of the city to an urban Eden surrounded by
residential neighborhoods and two universities. The park is host to thousands of
walkers, joggers, golfers and bicyclists. More than 60 races use the park each year,

including the annual Crescent City Classic, and most recently, the 1995 Symphony



Run. This event featured a concert by the Louisiana Philharmonic Orchestra and
attracted over 5,000 visitors. Unlike many other urban parks, Audubon receives no
public funding. Despite this, in 1995 $3.5 million was committed to enhancement
projects for the park. These projects are to be paid for with funds from the Institute’s
revenue-generating facilities and from private support. A recent enhancement was
made to The Riverview, located on the Audubon Park batture. This included new live
oak plantings and a pavilion. Funding came from a joint project with the New Orleans

Arts Council’s 1% for Art Program.

Audubon Zoological Garden

The Zoological Garden is the heart of the Audubon Institute. Located within the
acreage of Audubon Park it has progressed over the last 20 years from one of the worst
zoos in the nation to one of the best. This progression was due to a commitment on the
part of local government and citizens. In addition to assistance from the City of New
Orleans and the State of Louisiana the Zoo was able to turn itself around through the
financial commitments of hundreds of local businesses and individuals. That financial
commitment, which continues today, will allow the Zoo to continue to grow in order to
fulfill the Institute’s mission. Current projects include a Mezoamerica exhibit, the
interactive Diefenthal Earth Lab, a new elephant exhibit, and enhanced educational
programs. In the last few years several special exhibits have attracted additional
visitors to the Zoo. In 1993 the Dinomania Exhibit brought over 600,000 additional

visitors, and in 1995 weekend celebrations such as the Black Heritage Festival,



EarthFest and Swamp Fest lured over 85,000 to the Zoo. Also in 1995, the Premier

Bank Zoo-to-Do, the annual gala fund raising event, raised over $600,000.

Aquarium of the Americas

Opened in 1990, the Aquarium of the Americas has become one of the top
facilities of its kind in the nation. The success of the Aquarium is an example of the
Audubon Institute’s dedication to establishing a family of facilities to further the natural
sciences. The campaign to create the Aquarium began in 1986 with the passage of a
new millage by the citizens of New Orleans to service $25 million in bonds to be used
to establish an aquarium. From there the business community and citizens gave the
needed financial support for the project. Since opening to record breaking crowds the
aquarium has grown considerably. New exhibits, educational, and entertainment
programs have been added over the years. Plans for Phase Il of the aquarium began in
1994. This new phase includes additional exhibit space as well as the Entergy IMAX
Theater. The IMAX Theater opened in the fall of 1995, and the Changing Exhibits
Gallery opened in February of 1996. With over 7 million visitors to-date the Aquarium
has made a substantial impact on the local economy in terms of tourist dollars, visitors

to downtown, and the regeneration of the riverfront.

Woldenberg Riverfront Park
As part of the Aquarium of the Americas project the Audubon Institute also created

the Woldenberg Riverfront Park along the banks of the Mississippi River in downtown



New Orleans. This park has revitalized this area of the city, which had degenerated
into rows of abandoned warehouses. The park covers 14 acres from the Aquarium
entrance down river to the Jax Brewery in the French Quarter. Future plans for the
park include expansion to encompass the Moonwalk continuing down to the Governor
Nicholls Street Wharf. Also, Washington Artillery Park, located between Jackson
Square and the Moonwalk, will go under the management of the Audubon Institute. In
addition to green space, Woldenberg Park contains a collection of public art by local

artists such as Ida Kohlmeyer and John Scott.

Audubon Center for Research of Endangered Species (ACRES)

ACRES is one of the newest additions to the Audubon Institute family of facilities.
Located on the Westbank, ACRES is a 38,000 square foot research facility dedicated to
species survival. It will be completed in 1996 and will include laboratories for the
study of the reproduction and rearing of endangered species in captivity. It has been
funded primarily with a $15 million grant from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. It
is hoped that researchers will develop new and enhanced techniques for breeding
vanishing species. In 1995 the Institute recruited Dr. Betsy Dresser, a well known
expert in animal procreation, to be the Senior Vice-president for Research at ACRES.
This facility is just another step toward in accomplishing Audubon’s conservation

mission.



Freeport McMoRan Audubon Species Survival Center (FMASSC)

This facility is a 12 acre site on which the Audubon Center for Research of
Endangered Species is located. In 1993 FMASSC opened as a refuge for endangered
species, where they can breed undisturbed and ultimately increase their populations.
FMASSC also serves as a research facility for students at the University of New
Orleans and Tulane University. Like ACRES the Species Survival Center is not open
to the general public. However, there are plans for a Wilderness Park within the

Center which will be open to the public by special arrangement.

The Louisiana Nature Center
The Nature Center is an 86 acre nature preserve located within Joe W. Brown
Memorial Park in eastern New Orleans. In 1994 the Center merged with the Audubon
Institute, giving Audubon operational responsibility. The Nature Center serves the
community as a resource on ecology and environmental subjects. It includes a
museum, a greenhouse, hiking trails, and a science resource center. The Center has an

average yearly attendance of approximately 100,000.

Insectarium
As of this writing the proposed Audubon Insectarium is still in the early planning
stage. In 1995 a public hearing was held to review possible sites for this project. A
definite site has not yet been chosen, but the old U.S. Custom House on Canal Street is

the most likely place as of this writing. In February 1996 Ron Forman, president of



the Audubon Institute, asked a committee of the Louisiana state legislature to approve
$18 million over the next 5 years for the Insectarium and other improvements to
Audubon Institute facilities. Of the $18 million requested, $8 million would be slated
for the Insectarium. This request was made at a hearing of the State Capital Outlay
Committee, and included local officials from around the state making requests for
various statewide projects. Any funds granted would come from the state’s 1996-97
construction budget.2 The Insectarium is also receiving funding from the National
Science Foundation. However, the funds from NSF will probably not be received in
1996 due to the delay in settling on a location. When complete the Insectarium will be
the first free standing museum of its kind in the United States. It will hold more than
50 live species of insects, and will be another part of the Institute’s family of living

science museums.

The Audubon 2000 Campaign
In order to further its mission the Audubon Institute launched the Audubon 2000
Campaign in 1993. This ambitious campaign is a 5-year fund raising plan with an
overall goal of $123.8 million. Funds from this campaign will be used for
enhancements to current Audubon Institute components, the creation of 4 new facilities,
and the establishment of an endowment fund. As of the spring of 1995 some of these
goals have already been accomplished or are near completion. The Audubon Institute

Development Department has been given the responsibility for the Audubon 2000

* Ed Anderson, “Audubon Seeks Insectarium Money, Forman Wants $18 million,” The Times
Picayune, New Orleans, 22 February 1996.



Campaign, making it a top priority. Each quarter a Campaign Newsletter is issued,

updating the staff, members, and donors. (See Appendix 1). A breakdown of the

campaign goal appears below:

Summary of Capital Needs

Audubon 2000

10

CAPITAL PROJECTS
Z0o 2000 Animal Healthcare $ 3,500,000
Entry Plaza 3,000,000
Endangered Species Exh. 3,000,000
Changing Exhibit Venue 2,500,000
Mezoamerica Exh. Phase 1 2,000,000
Mezoamerica Exh. Phase 2 2,000,000
Dienfenthal EarthLab 1,500,000
Elephant Exhibit 1,500,000
Alligator Museum 1,000,000
Animal Adventures 500,000
Education Presentation
Amphitheater 500,000
TOTAL $21,000,000
Aquarium Phase II Facility Construction $18,350,000
Upgrade Existing Exhibits 750,000
New Exhibits 900,000
TOTAL $20,000,000
Entergy IMAX Theater $ 5,000,000
Woldenberg Riverfront
Park , Phase II 5,750,000
Audubon Park 4,500,000
FMA Species Survival Center 5,000,000
ACRES Phase I 15,000,000
ACRES Phase II 4,000,000
Insectarium, & Butterfly Pavilion 15,000,000
TOTAL CAPITAL $ 95,250,000
ENDOWMENT Audubon Institute for: $14,550,000
Audubon Zoo, Park,
Aquarium of the
Education Programs
Wilderness Park 1,000,000
Woldenberg Park 3,000,000
FMA Species Survival 10,000.000

TOTAL ENDOWMENT $ 28,550,000
GRAND TOTAL $123.,800,000
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Of the $123.8 million, approximately 80% or $103.8 million is already committed, and

16% is still needed:

Millions Percentage

Public Funds $ 34.9 28%

Private Funds 36.2 29%

Bond Funds 25.0 20%

Operating Funds 7.7 6%
Committed Funds $103.8 84 %
Audubon 2000

Campaign Phase 11

Private Funds $ 16.0 13%

Public Funds 4.0 3%
Non-Committed $ 20.0 16%
Grand Total $123.8 100%

As of the spring of 1996 some of the Campaign’s goals have been completed or are

well on their way to completion. In the fall of 1995 the Entergy IMAX Theater
opened, the first major Audubon 2000 project. In February 1996 the Aquarium of the

Americas opened the Changing Exhibits Gallery, part of the Aquarium Phase 11

project. In the winter of 1995-96 construction began on the Dienfenthal Earth Lab and

the Columbia HCA Animal Health Care Complex, both part of Audubon 2000’s plans

for the Zoo. The expected date of completion for these projects is the fall of 1996.

The Freeport-McMoRan Audubon Species Survival Center was dedicated in December

1993, and received its first inhabitants in the spring of 1994, This project continues to

grow each year. Finally, the Audubon Center for Research of Endangered Species was

opened in June of 1996.



The Audubon 2000 Campaign is projected to have a far reaching economic impact
upon the Institute, the local community, and the state. It is estimated that Audubon
2000 components will attract new Institute visitorship of over 200,000 annually. The
projects will create 6,416 new jobs, both directly and indirectly. Also, projected tax
revenues from the new projects are estimated at $7.8 million for New Orleans, and
$11.3 million for the State of Louisiana. The overall direct and indirect economic

impact of Audubon 2000 is estimated to be $284.1 million.

Management Structure
Governance/Board of Directors
The Audubon Institute is governed by the Audubon Commission, a 24-member
board appointed by the Mayor of New Orleans to six year terms. It is the highest
governing body for facilities of the Audubon Institute, and has decision making
authority over all capital projects in excess of $5,000. The Commission has a contract
with the Audubon Institute to manage the Zoo and other facilities on a day-to-day basis.
The Institute is a private nonprofit organization governed by a 28-member board,
elected by members of Friends of the Zoo and Friends of the Aquarium to 4 year
terms. Members of the Board represent a broad cross-section of community and
business leaders. Board meetings average nine to ten per year. In addition, the
Audubon Institute Board hires the President/CEO of the Institute. The role of the
Board has many facets: long-range planning, policy making, supervising the CEO who

carries out the policies, monitoring operations and financial position, and actively
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participating in fund raising. Board members are also active members of the Audubon
2000 Campaign.

The President has a 5 year contract and reports directly to the Audubon Institute
Board of Directors. He supervises all staff through 2 Executive Vice-presidents: the
Chief Operating Officer and the Chief Administrative Officer. Each Executive Vice-
president has a staff of Senior Vice-presidents and Vice-presidents. These V-P’s are
responsible for the various facilities and their operations, as well as the various
administrative departments. (See Appendix I for organizational chart). Bi-weekly
meetings are held for this group, with senior staff and department heads meeting with
their respective Vice-president on a monthly basis. In addition, staff retreats are held
once each year by each department. The purpose of these retreats is to discuss
accomplishments of the past year and plan for the coming year. Usually held off-site,
these meetings allow staff members to discuss with management any ideas or concerns
they may have. During the course of my internship I participated in the Development

Department retreat.

Development Department
The Audubon Institute Development Department is headed by the Vice-president
for Development, Laurie Conkerton. Ms. Conkerton joined the Audubon Institute in
1993 as Director of Development to manage the Audubon 2000 Campaign. She was
named Vice-president in May 1995, and is responsible for all fund raising activities for

the Institute. Ms. Conkerton has a Bachelor of Arts in Communications from St.
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Mary’s Dominican College in New Orleans, and an MBA, with a concentration in
finance, from Tulane University. She is member of the National Society of Fund
Raising Executives, serves as a mentor for the Louisiana Association of Museums’
Jump Start Program, and served as Finance Chair for the Southeast Museum
Conference’s 1995 meeting.

Reporting to the Vice-president are 6 Directors, each responsible for specific areas of

development, (See Appendix I for Development Department organizational chart):

e Membership

e Special Events/Gifts

e Annual Fund

e Major Gifts

e Corporate and Environmental Funding
e Leadership and Planned Giving

These Directors are supported by Development Associates and Assistants. In addition
to the Directors there is also an administrative support staff reporting to the Vice-
president.

The Development Department holds general staff meetings each month, and
prospect review meetings on a bi-weekly basis. All staff members have easy access to
the Vice-president to forward information, suggestions, or report on the status of
various projects. The Vice-president delegates projects to the appropriate staff, who
are allowed to work as independently as is efficient for the work at hand. In addition
to regular responsibilities Development staff members are required to assist after hours

with fund raising events. During the course of my internship | was asked to assist at 3
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special events: the opening of Phase II of the Aquarium of the Americas, Zoo-To-Do,

and the grand opening of ACRES.

Along with regular staff meetings an annual Development Department retreat is

held each January. The purpose of this retreat is to focus on department goals and

accomplishments, and to plan for the coming year. The 1996 meeting was held on

January 26th at the McDermott Lodge at the FMA Species Survival Center. The focus

of this retreat was to:

1.

4.

5.

Strengthen the working relationship between the Development and
Membership areas.

Insure that all staff understand the Audubon Institute’s mission and how
their work helps the Institute fulfill its purpose, vision and mission.
Raise the level of excitement with the start of the new year.

Prepare 1996’s business plan and calendar.

Lay the groundwork for a 3 and 5 year plan.

Specific goals and activities discussed were:

Increase the Annual Fund 15% through 1997, and then 7.5% each of the

next 4 years.
To plan for national targeting for the Audubon Foundation.

To determine Zoo-To-Do demographics and piggyback this event with a
local act (i.e. House of Blues) associated with the Jazz and Heritage

Festival. Zoo-To-Do is held the same weekend as Jazz Fest.
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e Push the IMAX Producer’s Circle “Buy a Seat” Campaign. For a gift of
$1,000 the donor’s name will be placed on a seat in the IMAX Theater.
e To prepare at least 3 funding or grant proposals per month for the Audubon

2000 capital campaign.

Financial Summary

Financial reporting and management at the Audubon Institute is the responsibility
of the Vice-president of Finance, who reports to the Chief Administrative Officer.
Using standard fund accounting methods, separate records are kept for each facility to
effectively track performance. These records are then consolidated to communicate the
overall performance of the Audubon Institute. The finances of the Audubon Institute
are subject to a standard financial audit each year, conducted by an independent
accounting firm. Financial results are also presented at each Board of Director’s
meeting so the Board can fulfill its financial oversight responsibility. In addition, daily
reports are prepared by the Finance Department to track attendance and earned revenue
at each facility.

The primary source of operating revenue is admissions to the various facilities that
are open to the general public. Total Institute admissions for 1994 (figures were not
yet available for 1995) were $10,678,000 or 55% of total gross operating revenue.
Food service and gift shop sales generated 27% of gross revenue or $5,138,000. The
remaining 18% came from membership support, recreational/educational fees, and

other miscellaneous sources. Contributed income is generally restricted to capital
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projects, specific programming, or endowment. However, the Institute does receive
some contributed operating support.

Operating revenues are used to cover a wide variety of operational and
administrative costs. The largest expense item is Maintenance and Utilities;
$4,212,000 or 22 % of operating revenues. Curatorial expenses are 17% of revenues,
and the cost to fund the food services and gift shops is 15% of total operating revenue.
It is interesting to note that food service and gift shop expenses are approximately 56 %
of the revenue that they generate, giving a 44 % return on every dollar that it costs to
operate these functions. All other expenses are each below 15% of total revenue; see

the following Statement of Revenues and Expenses for 1994:



Statement of Revenues and Expenses
For the Year Ended December 31, 1994

The Audubon Institute

Woldenberg ACRES
Audubon Park Riverfront Park FMA Species
Audubon Aquarium Survival
Zoo of the Americas Center Total
Operating Revenues*
Admissions $ 3,050,000 $ 7,628,000 $ 10,678,000
Food Service & Gift Shop 2,332,000 2,806,000 5,138,000
Membership Support 1,289,000 633,000 1,922,000
Recreational & Educational 850,000 282,000 1,132,000
Other 286,000 153,000 $ 20,000 459,000
Total Operating Revenues $ 7,807,000 $11,502,000 $ 20,000 $ 19,329,000
Operating Expenses*
Curatorial 2,019,000 1,083,000 199,000 3,301,000
Maintenance & Utilities 1,881,000 2,227,000 104,000 4,212,000
Food Service & Gift Shops 1,629,000 1,270,000 2,899,000
Membership 424,000 253,000 677,000
Recreational & Educational 1,122,000 939,000 2,061,000
Marketing 376,000 875,000 1,251,000
Visitor Services & Volunteers 319,000 480,000 799,000
Administration 1,333,000 1,408,000 34,000 2,775,000
Fringe Benefits 744,000 811,000 15,000 1,570,000
Total Operating Expenses $ 9,847,000 $ 9,346,000 $ 352,000 $19,545,000
Income(Loss) from operations** ( 2,040,000) 2,156,000 ( 332,000) (  216,000)
Non-Operating Items
Interest Expense ( 42,000) ( 1,239,000) ( 1,281,000)
Tax Millage 259,000 1,256,000 1,515,000
Interest Income 24,000 395,000 28,000 447,000
Transfers ** 1,799,000 (2,103,000) 304,000 0
Excesy (Deficit) of Revenues
over Expenditures $ 0 $ 465,000 $ 0 $ 465,000
*  Excludes revenues/expenses associated with The Louisiana Nature Center which was merged

into the Audubon Institute in October 1994.

*%  Zoo and Survival Center deficits are funded from the Aquarium’s excess of revenues over

expenses.
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For 1994 there was a loss of $216,000 from operations before considering revenue
from non-operational sources. The tax millage and interest earned offset this loss to net

a $465,000 gain.
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Chapter 2
INTERNSHIP
As an intern in the Development Department at the Audubon Institute I was given
the responsibility for several special projects. The Vice-president for Development,
Laurie Conkerton, wishes to improve the operations of the department. In addition,
she wants to determine methods for improving special events attendance and increasing
membership. In order to accomplish these objectives, research and analysis of various
factors needs to be completed before any decisions can be made. My job as intern was
to assist in this decision making process by completing the research and analysis, and
making recommendations to the Vice-president. In addition, I was given the
opportunity to learn the ongoing operations of the Development Department.
Responsibilities
My primary responsibilities included the following:
Special Projects:

IMS Grant Assistance:

Objective:  Learn the IMS process and its impact on museums. Assist in the
preparation of an IMS grant proposal.

Tasks:

1. Read and become familiar with the IMS application guidelines, process, and
critiques.
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2. Assist the Grants and Stewardship Associate with the preparation of the IMS grant
for the 1996 application year. This grant is for the Aquarium of the Americas.
a) Prepare consolidations of staff credentials.
b) Research and select appropriate attachments.
c) Prepare various sections of grant narrative as assigned by the Grants and
Stewardship Associate.

Research:

Objective:  Develop a systematic approach to identifying and qualifying new
prospects.

Tasks

1. Review materials from the National Association of Prospect Researchers
conference. Select information most useful to department.

2. Review Fundmaster (current database software) for prospect research capabilities.

3. Develop recommendations on how to use resources on hand most effectively.
Develop research procedures.

4. Research various electronic search vendors and prepare recommendations for the
top 2 or 3 possibilities. Coordinate on-site presentations from these.

Special Events:

Objective:  1dentify trends affecting the Bank One Zoo-to-Do fund raising event;
develop recommendations to help increase revenues/attendance.

Tasks:
1. Create a spreadsheet analysis of past Zoo-to-Do results.
2. Prepare a cost/benefit analysis of Zoo-to-Do and plot the trend over time.

3. Analyze data for Louisiana Nature Center school group tours as relates to Twilight
Adventure sponsorships.
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Membership:

Objective:  Help develop “out-of-market” membership product. Also analyze
current membership base by location and present findings.

Tasks:

1. Obtain membership database by zip code and analyze location and concentration of
members.

2. Survey other large zoos, aquariums, and museums to determine out-of-market
membership benefits.

Other Responsibilities:

1. Attend Prospect Review Meetings

2. Review professional fund raising journals and manuals: Chronicle of Philanthropy,
Fund Raising Management, Taxwise Giving, Teitel’s planned giving book.

3. Meet regularly with the Vice-president for Development.
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Chapter 3
INSTITUTE OF MUSEUM SERVICES
Description
The Institute of Museum Services (IMS), established in 1976, is an independent
agency within the Executive Branch of the federal government. The purpose of IMS is
to encourage museums to modernize their facilities and programs. Typically, IMS
provides General Operating Support and is the only federal agency that grants this type
of assistance. In addition to general operating support, IMS also grants smaller
Conservation Assessment Grants, which help zoos and aquariums meet their
conservation needs. IMS is governed by the National Museum Services Board, a 15
member voting body appointed by the President of the United States. Two year,
unrestricted grants are made for ongoing museum activities. The grants are based on
the overall quality and strength of the organization as communicated through the
application. Because these grants cover a two year period an organization can only
apply for IMS General Operating Support every other year. However, if the grant is
not awarded the organization may apply again the following year.
To be eligible for an IMS grant the applicant must fall into one of the prescribed
categories of museums approved by IMS. In the case of the Audubon Institute all of its

facilities would be eligible. Aquariums, nature centers, and zoological parks are
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included on the list of eligible museums. In addition to the types of museums there are
several other eligibility criteria. The organization must:

e be a public or private nonprofit institution that exists for educational or

aesthetic purposes.

e care for and own tangible objects and exhibit these objects.

e have at least one professional staff member who is responsible for the

acquisition and care of exhibits.

¢ be open to the general public a minimum of 120 days per year.

e be open on a regular basis for at least 2 years prior to applying for the IMS

grant.

e be located in one of the 50 States or in the U.S. Territories.

In the case of museums that are part of a multipurpose parent organization, as is
the situation with the Audubon Institute, the applicant facility must function as a
separate unit. It must also have a separate itemized budget, at least one full time staft
member at the facility, and must individually meet all the IMS eligibility criteria. Any
funds granted for a single facility must be used solely for that facility. All information
and financial data reported in the application must also be for that facility alone.

The funds requested in the grant application are based on the museum’s level of
non-federal operating income. Grants are paid out in eight installments over a 2 year
period, and in most cases are sent in equal portions each quarter of the 2 years. The
recipient must maintain a rlestricted account for these funds, and a separate accounting

category to insure that the award is used only for operating expenses. After all tunds
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are received the organization is required to file performance and financial reports with

IMS. Following is a chart outlining the current award limits:

If the amount of the museum’s non- | The maximum amount of the
Federal operating income for the award is:
most recently completed fiscal year
is:

Under $7,500 50% of the non-Federal
operating income
Between $75,00 & $50,000 $7,500
Between $50,000 & $750,000 15% of the non-Federal
operating income
Over $750,000 $112,500

These funds are for general operating support only and cannot be used for activities
such as endowment contributions, acquisitions, social activities, pre-award expenses,
construction, or renovations.

The review process for an IMS grant includes a peer review program. Each grant
application is sent to 4 peer reviewers. The reviewers for each grant are selected based
on comparable museum budget size and discipline. The reviewers score each section of
the application using a range of 1 (unsatisfactory) to 7 (leadership). IMS then reviews
the proposals and standardizes the scores. All applications are then ranked by
standardized score and the funds available that year are granted to the highest ranking
applicants in sequence until all the funds have been used.

Effects of Recent Legislation

For the past 2 years there has been much Congressional debate over the funding of

cultural agencies. The tax cuts proposed in the “Contract with America” are forcing

Congress to develop plans to recoup lost revenue by cutting back on other programs.



26

In 1995 IMS, along with the National Endowment for the Arts (NEA) and the National
Endowment for the Humanities (NEH) were up for re-authorization. Because of the
debate over cultural funding IMS was in danger of losing some or all of its funding. In
January 1995 the American Zoo and Aquarium Association (AZA) issued a request for
member organizations to contact their representatives in Congress to explain the
importance of IMS grants. As a member of AZA the Audubon Institute complied with
this request. In February of 1995 Ron Forman, President and CEO, as well as
members of the Board of Directors of the Audubon Institute issued letters to Louisiana
representatives in Congress, Senators John Breaux and J. Bennett Johnston, and
Representatives Robert Livingston and William Jefferson. These letters explained the
importance of IMS funds to the Institute’s facilities. (See sample copy of letters in
Appendix II).

In May 1995 the House Economic and Educational Opportunities Committee
approved a bill that re-authorized IMS for another 3 years. However, the controversy
continued, and there was still worry that the bill would not pass both Houses of
Congress. The letter writing campaign continued urging Congress not to cut or
eliminate IMS appropriations. In August the U.S. Senate approved by a 92-6 vote the
1996 Department of the Interior appropriations bill, which included funding for IMS,
the NEA and the NEH. (see letter from Senator John Breaux in Appendix II).
However, the amount appropriated for IMS for 1996 is $21 million, $7.7 million less

than the prior year. This will mean a reduction in the number of grants that can be
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issued for 1996. Beyond 1996 the existence of IMS is still in question, and will be part
of future House and Senate negotiations.3
Audubon’s History with IMS

Over the last 15 years the Audubon Institute has received 8 General Operating
Support grants. Funds received have had a positive impact upon the operation of the
Institute and the Zoo. With the aid of IMS grants the Institute has been able to build a
professional Development Department that has in turn raised over $25 million. In
addition, the Zoo has been able to develop a computerized tracking system for gifts,
and has upgraded security for the animals and the public. Audubon has also been the
recipient of Conservation Assessment Grants. These funds allowed the Zoo to create 2
published books; The Medical Management of Orangutans published in 1990, and The
Medical Management of Elephants in 1994. These publications have been distributed
and used worldwide.

For 1996 it was decided to apply for the IMS General Operating Support grant on
behalf of the Aquarium of the Americas. This is the Aquarium’s first IMS grant
proposal. Because IMS requires that a museum be open 2 full years before application,
the opportunity for the Aquarium to apply had not come up yet. The Aquarium was
opened in 1990, but did not complete accreditation until 1993. It was felt that the
Development Department should wait until the Aquarium was fully accredited for 2
years before applying. A grant proposal for the Zoo was sent to IMS in 1994, so 1996

was the first year available for the Aquarium.

® “Senate Restores Some Agency Funds,” AVISO, The Monthly Newsletter of The American
Association of Museums, (Washington, D.C.), September 1995, p. 1.
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1996 IMS Grant Proposal: Aquarium of the Americas

The Grants and Stewardship Associate, Mary Len Costa, was responsible for the
1996 IMS grant application. Upon my arrival at the Audubon Institute in January the
grant writing process had just begun. Originally the deadline for submission was
January 19, 1996, but because of the blizzard which caused most government offices in
Washington, D.C. to shut down for several days this deadline was extended one month.
It was fortunate that this delay occurred, as I do not believe the application could have
been thoroughly completed by mid-January. Preparing this grant depended upon
information received from various departments within the Aquarium and the Institute’s
administrative office. In order to obtain the most accurate information sections of the
application were sent out the appropriate department heads for suggestions. Once the
information was returned to the Development office it had to be written in the correct
format for the application. | was assigned a portion of the writing responsibility, such
as the long-range marketing plan, staff qualifications, personnel policies and
procedures, financial management, and the Aquarium’s volunteer Naturalists program.
(See copy of proposal in Appendix II).

In addition to the text of the proposal, appropriate attachments were needed as
support. I was given the task of gathering and compiling all necessary addenda. This
included financial reports, copies of emergency procedure manuals, and samples of
public relations items. These samples included newspaper and magazine clippings that

were chosen for their emphasis and illustration of the Aquarium’s growth since its



29

inception. It also included articles that illustrated programming, staff expertise, and the
Aquarium’s impact on the community, both economically and culturally.

Once drafts of each section were complete they were sent back to the department
heads for review and revisions. Meetings were held with Mary Len, the department
heads and me to go over revisions. In addition, Mary Len and I met with the Vice-
president for Development and a public relations associate to review the samples of
news articles chosen to accompany the proposal. The limit for this type of addendum
was ten, so the review was necessary to eliminate those considered unnecessary or
inappropriate. In addition, 1 relevant publication can be included with the application.
The fall issue of the Audubon Institute Quarterly was chosen because its feature article
covers Phase Il of the Aquarium: the Entergy IMAX Theater and the Changing
Exhibits Gallery. Revised drafts of the entire grant proposal were sent to the President
and Vice-presidents for a final review. The grant was completed and mailed on
February 13, 1996.

Audubon Institute is requesting $112,500 in General Operating Support from IMS.
According to the eligibility requirements this is the maximum that can be requested for
museums with non-Federal operating income in excess of $750,000. As can be seen on
page 3 of the proposal (see Appendix II), the Aquarium’s non-Federal operating
income for fiscal year 1994 was $24,857,754. The amount requested will be used to
cover a variety of operational purposes:

e Changing Exhibits Gallery

e Expenses related to collections trips
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e Staff research to care for new exhibits

e Cost of hiring a full time Exhibit Designer

e A theater lighting system

e A Video/CD Rom production system for interactive educational

components of the exhibits

A more detailed description of the use of the funds can be found on page 33 of the
proposal (see Appendix II). Grant award notification for the application is in August of
1996. 1 believe that the Aquarium has a good chance of receiving an award.
However, there are 2 factors that may not be in its favor. This is the Aquarium’s first
attempt at receiving an IMS grant, and because the Aquarium is so new the peer review
process may be more stringent. Also, the reduction in the appropriated federal budget
for IMS from $28.7 million in 1995 to $21 million in 1996 could reduce the chance for

an award.



31

Chapter 4
DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH
Objective

The aim of this part of the internship was the creation of an organized research
function for the Audubon Institute Development Department. There has never been a
formal research function in the department. The Development staff members generally
do their own research on prospects. It is the desire of the Vice-president of
Development to establish more efficient research procedures. In the past most funding
for Audubon has come from local sources, but as the Institute grows into a more
globally oriented organization it is felt that there could be sources outside of this
region. The plans of the Audubon 2000 Campaign to greatly expand conservation and
research will open up a more regional and national potential for funding. Therefore,
more organized and efficient research procedures will be needed.

In 1995 a Development employee was given the responsibility for establishing
research procedures. Unfortunately, she left the Institute in the fall and no further
work has been done toward this goal. Currently, there are some “research” files, and
some directories, but most of this is very old and out-of-date. The research element of
the department has no strong focus. A current employee has been told that she will be

taking on this duty. However, after speaking with her it seems her present job duties
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may not allow her the time needed to develop and maintain a research system. It may
require a full-time employee, or at least a part-time person whose time is fully
dedicated to research.
Recommended Guidelines

With the information and resources already on hand the Development Department
has the potential to begin a good research function. There are some limitations with
which to work; the biggest being the somewhat antiquated computer system currently
used in the department. Realizing that there is not an unlimited budget from which to
purchase the most up-to-date equipment, the current system will have to be utilized as
efficiently as possible. Given this limitation I have come up with some ideas for using
existing information and some recommendations for obtaining additional resources.

American Prospect Research Association and the
Effective Research System

Organization is the key to an effective research function. According to the
American Prospect Research Association (APRA) an organized administrative system 1s
the foundation of any research office. APRA is an affiliated group of prospect
researchers whose objective is the advancement of the profession of prospect research,
and to provide members with networking support. It publishes a quarterly newsletter
for members, and hold an annual conference. In 1995 the same employee who

eventually left the Audubon Institute in the fall of that year attended the conference,



bring back some useful information. APRA suggests a simple, basic framework for a
good system:4
1. Filing Systems

e Find one that fits, and use it consistently
e File every day
e Electronic list of files

2. Action Requests

e Delegate tasks
e Communicate with your support staff

3. Annual Reports

e Mailed Requests
e Check in/out procedures

4. Forms

e Request for research
e Sources checklist

e Contact reports

e Cultivation strategy

5. Follow-up System

e Decide when & what
e Expanding file

Using this framework as a guide my recommendations for a research function at the
Audubon Institute include the following:

1. Purge files of all duplicates, unnecessary, and outdated information.

* Fran Miller, “Administration and Communication: Tools for Greater Efficiency,” 1995
International Conference of the American Prospect Research Association, (Minneapolis, MN), August
1995, session notes pp. 133-139.

33
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2. Develop written goals for Research, outlining Audubon’s fund raising
objectives, and type of donors needed for the various goals.
3. Develop a record keeping system.

a) Paper Files

e Develop standard forms for Development Associates to use, (See
sample forms in Appendix III):
= Research Request - Use of this form will help avoid having many
different hands in the research files, and allows the Researcher to
track all materials.
= Prospect Contact Sheets - Corporate, Individual, and Foundations.
= Sources Checklist - Primarily used by the Researcher.

e Re-file all information as soon as possible. A once per day filing
time keeps this under control.

e Standardize all news clippings - make copies on 8-1/2 x 11 or 8-1/2 x
14 paper. Cite source and date on copies using a label or typed print.
Throw newsprint away.

e Purge files on a regular basis, keeping them simple, concise and
uncluttered.

e Develop check-in and check-out procedures for all files, research
catalogues, directories, etc.

b) Computer Files

e Utilize existing software (see Fundmaster section following this for
more detail)

4. File Organization
a) Methods of organizing prospect files can vary among institutions,
depending upon their size and funding needs. As far as physical files, one

basic method of organization is to use the 5 primary types of financial
support:’

e General: funds that are unrestricted in their use.

s Carolyn L. Stolper and Karen Brooks Hopkins, Successful Fundraising for Arts and Cultural
Organizations, (Phoenix, AZ, Oryx Press, 1989), pp. 27-31.
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e Project: restricted to a specific program for which the
institute has requested funds.

e (apital: generally restricted to building, renovation,
construction or equipment.

e Endowment:: funds used to begin or add to an organization’s

endowment, which is a reserve of funds that
produces income through investment.

e Matching: funds given on condition that the amount will be
matched by funds from other sources. The
match can be in any ratio specified, up to as
much as 3 to 1.
b) Within the 5 main categories the files could be sub-divided by type of
funding source: corporate, individual, foundation, or government.
Prospect files are then put into their respective categories. In the case of
computer files, the organizational system is dependent upon the capabilities
of the software. In the Audubon Institute’s case there is an available
database system that can be used.
Currently, the Audubon Institute is a member of APRA. I recommend maintaining
membership. This allows participation in the annual conference, and based on
materials from the 1995 conference it appears to be a valuable source of information
and personal contacts. The annual fee is only $75.00.
Use of Fundmaster
Fundmaster is a database product that is presently being used by the Development
Department to track donor prospects. After a brief overview 1 realized that this asset is
being under utilized. Right now it simply contains a database of prospects that have
already given to the Institute. In fact, prospects are not entered into the system until
they have become donors for the first time. New potential prospects are tracked

manually by Heather Stanley, the Campaign Associate, on a word processing file called

“The Diary.” New donors are initially entered into the database by the Computer
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Associate, Kathy Barr, who is also responsible for generating reports from Fundmaster
upon request from staff members.

Fundmaster’s capabilities include more than just tracking current donors. There is
a research module, FM Research, which is designed specifically for prospect research.
FM Research files are part of the main Fundmaster files. When records are entered in
this main file, codes can be attached that indicate that the record is a research account.
As a result basic information for a record has to be entered only once. When running
reports the codes are used to either include for exclude those donors or prospects
needed for specific extractions. In the Audubon case use of the Fm Research module
appears to be impractical due to the limitations of the computer hardware. The main
file size would become too large for the computer’s memory to handle if research
prospects were added.

There is an alternative to compensate for this problem. In Fundmaster more than
one organization can be set up. It would not be the most efficient use of Fundmaster’s
capabilities, but a separate organization could be set up to handle research prospects
only. In June of 1995 this was experimented with, so a research organization already
exists, but with no records. Going forward I recommend that this research organization
be used as new potential prospects are identified and become part of the research

process:

e Potential prospects being researched could be entered here and continually
updated as new information is discovered.

e The Development staff could use the records in this file to plan cultivation
strategies.
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e After prospects make initial donations they would be transferred to the
main donor file.

e The Research file could also be run through any screening processes that
are utilized. (see next section for further details).

Electronic Screening Services

This element of my Research responsibilities involved making the necessary plans
to achieve the department’s goal of having its database screened. The date set for this
goal is the summer of 1996. Electronic screening is a process that helps development
personnel create targeted strategies for various types of funding needs. A donor or
prospect database is run through the screening consultant’s database system, which
contains a wide range of demographic, financial, and philanthropic information.
Matches are then made between the client’s records and the consultant’s records to
determine likelihood of giving. the client records are ranked and sorted using a variety
of parameters. This allows the client to focus its solicitation efforts on the most likely
prospects for different types of giving. Thus, the client is able to become more
efficient with its prospect management, which is the foundation of effective fund
raising.

In order to assist the Audubon Institute Development Department in selecting an
electronic screening service | gathered information from 6 vendors. The Vice-president
for Development was able to give me the names of vendors that she was interested in
pursuing. After requesting information and proposals from each vendor, I began the
task of selecting 2 or 3 for on-site presentations, from which a choice would be made.

Based upon the printed materials sent and phone conversations | determined that most
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of these services operate with the same prospect management goals in mind. Prospect

management can be broken down into 5 general stages:

1.

2.

4.

Discovery:

Qualifications:

Cultivation:

Solicitation:

Stewardship:

Efficiently identify more individuals/corporations who
are likely to be capable of giving.

Gather and assess biographical, financial and other
information about these likely candidates in order to
determine specific gift potential.

Effectively inform prospects of your programs and
financial requirements. Establish a relationship with
these prospects that will turn them into enthusiastic
supporters.

Effectively interpret information from the first 3 stages
so that the prospects are asked for the right amount of
support, for the right reason and at the right time.
Keep donors informed of progress and use of funds.

Of the 6 vendors analyzed 1 was able to eliminate 4; due to either poor references,

high cost along with more services than needed by Audubon, or a recent history of

corporate instability. The 2 vendors chosen for presentations were picked for a number

of reasons; reasonable cost; services that seem to fit the Institute’s needs, and

recommendations from local clients. Following is a brief description of each vendor:

1. Marts & Lundy, Inc., Lyndhurst, New Jersey: Prospect Plus 3, the product
offered by this company provides a basic screening service that encodes all
client records with 4 Prospect Codes:

e Rating Code
e Precision Indicator

Percentage of Gift Potential
Lifestyle Codes

The reports provide lists of the best prospects, industry comparisons, the top
1,000 prospects, and a likelihood of significant gifts list.

2. Bentz, Whaley, Flessner, Minneapolis, Minnesota: There are 2 basic features
of the product offered by this vendor:

e Database Enhancement: updates current records with correct
information.
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e Screening: rates the records for gift capacity and likelihood.
Also, identifies stockholders, and provides additional information
on the top 1% of the file.

After evaluating the 2 presentations the decision was made to purchase Prospect
Select from Bentz, Whaley, Flessner. The primary reasons for choosing this vendor
are:

e Competitive price, within amount budgeted by Development Department.

Total amount budgeted was $30,000. Cost for Prospect Select is $25,000,

which includes any out-of-pocket expenses for the Bentz, Whaley, Flessner
consultants.

e Services provided within scope of plans made by Vice-president of
Development. Other products charged higher prices with services that were not
needed by Audubon.

e Excellent references from other development professionals in the community.
Potential of the Internet

With the explosive advances in technology over the last few years, use of the
Internet is becoming a widespread and effective way for nonprofit organizations to
gather information. In addition, the Internet provides an organization with increased
public exposure. In the area of development, use of the Internet could eventually be a
cost effective way to raise funds, especially for organizations with a national or global
focus. The Audubon Institute could become such an organization with its expansion
into wildlife conservation. A home page on the World Wide Web gives organizations
global exposure; the ability to say who they are and what is their mission. The Internet
i1s ideally suited for soliciting membership, annual fund donations, or pledges. These
types of gifts could be donated via a credit card account, or through on-line pledges

followed up by checks. This method of fund raising would enable a nonprofit to reach
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a whole new generation of donors. The Internet allows an organization to link up with
a younger generation, who will be the future source of revenue for nonprofits. Using
Audubon as an example, in 1995 only 16% of memberships at the three major facilities
(Zoo, Aquarium, and Nature Center) belonged to individuals 20 to 35 years old.
Eighty-four percent were above age 35, with the highest percentage in the 36 to 45 year
old range. (See membership chart in Appendix VI). Those in the younger age group
are prime candidates to be reached through the latest technology. Currently,
establishing a web site on the Internet can be time consuming and costly. The reason
for this is that the know-how is not yet very widespread. However, one method of
beating the cost of hiring an expensive consultant is to recruit college students to help
set up these sites as part of their education or as part time jobs. As use of the Internet
grows the cost of establishing a site will decline, as more technicians become
knowledgeable in this area. The consensus among fund raisers is that the Internet will
eventually become an important resource for development departmt—‘:nts.6

As applies to the Audubon Institute use of the Internet has the potential of
becoming a good resource. Using the Internet in soliciting donations may be a few
years away, but is something that the current Vice-president of Development has stated
is a long-range goal. At present however, the Internet could be used less expensively
in doing prospect research. Several fund raisers around the country have begun using
the resources available on-line. In the process many of these fund raisers have learned

what type of sources are the most helpful. Corporate proxy statements can be accessed

¢ James P. Clark, “Nonprofits in Cyberspace: The Fund Raiser’s Guide,” Fund Raising
Management, October 1995, p. 28.
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via the Internet. These are helpful in identifying corporate executives, how much they
earn, and how much stock they hold. In addition, there are web sites available to assist
fund raisers in looking in the right direction for potential prospects. David F. Lamb,
Director of Prospect Research at the University of Washington, has set up a web page
that includes a directory of Internet sites that would be of interest to fund raisers. Mr.
LLamb has reviewed these for value and has sorted them by topic. His web page is
available to anyone with access to the Internet. Research organizations, such as The
Foundation Center, can be accessed for a fee through the Internet. Other services are
available at no charge. Organizations such as these are on the rise as the technology
becomes more widely accepted.7 At the Audubon Institute the problem at present with
utilizing the Internet for research is the computer hardware and software that is
available in the Development Department. The software needed to gain access to the
Internet with the ability to download files will require a major revamping of the
equipment being used today. The Vice-president of Development is aware of this and
does have plans to include a new computer system in the department’s budget.
However, this will probably not happen until fiscal year 1997. When a new system is

purchased I recommend that use of the Internet become part of the Research function.

The Professional Researcher
In recent years there has been a move toward separating the research function in

development from the fund raising activities. Previously, most organizations used a

" Jennifer Moore, “Donor Details on the Net,” The Chronicle of Philanthropy, 10 August 1995.
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reactive method of doing prospect research. When fund raisers learned of or began
cultivating a prospect there was a mad dash to gather as much information on that
prospect as possible. As development departments grew and became responsible for
larger campaigns this method grew very inefficient. A proactive method of research
was needed, especially among universities and growth institutions. As a result the
research function in many organizations became a separate but integral part of the fund
raising process. Researchers had to possess more experience and knowledge about
development.

Development officers are hired to raise money and need to have the time and
resources to concentrate on this task. Time spent researching and tracking prospects is
time that could be better spent on cultivation of contacts. A research function can
allow the fund raisers to do their jobs more effectively. The professional researcher
however is not just clerical support preparing profiles and filing reports. The
professional researcher can best aid an organization by having in depth knowledge of
development activities, understanding the cultivation process, and having the skills
needed to run an efficient support system for the department. As Kristin Kristopik

describes in “The Proactive Office,” in Connections, The Journal of the American

Prospect Research Association, the professional researcher “frees the development

officers from administrative and management duties and forces them to focus on raising
money.”
Having a separate research function also provides researchers with an opportunity

for professional growth. The researcher is then raised to the same professional level as
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the development officers, thus promoting a sense of teamwork as opposed to
subordination to the fund raising staff. Other advantages of a professional research
function include:

e All prospect initiatives are managed in one central location.

e Assurance of consistent quality of information.

e Emphasis on the overall mission of the department and organization.

e Forces development staff to plan and organize campaigns more efficiently,
and become more goal oriented.

e Allows the research staff to view the overall picture of the organization,
and to assist in meeting future goals.

All of these advantages would help Audubon’s development department become a
more cohesive work team. Currently there is a need for only one full-time researcher
in the department. As the organization continues to grow perhaps the research area
will require additional growth. It is my opinion that the most effective way for a
research function to be initiated at the Audubon Institute is to budget for a full-time
professional to be hired to manage and direct all prospect research, tracking, and
stewardship. As a result I have developed the following potential job description for

such a position.8

® Christine Lockmon Wright, “Hot Off the ‘L - Prspct-L That Is,” Connections, The Journal of the
American Prospect Research Association, Winter 1995, pp. 6-7.
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Job Description

Title: Director of Development Research
Grade: Exempt
Reports to: Vice-president of Development

Qualifications: Reference desk experience.

On-line/PC experience, especially with databases, spreadsheets, and
word-processing.

Writing, communication, and supervisory skills.
Understanding of and/or experience with development activities.

Minimum bachelor’s degree, preferably in Business,
Communications, English or Journalism.

Duties:

e Organize and maintain all research files for the department.

*  Ensure reference materials are kept up-to-date, and recommend additions
and deletions to the reference library.

e Establish and monitor procedures for prospect research.
*  ldentify potential prospects for various campaigns.
*  Communicate procedures to department staff.

e Coordinate overall prospect activities including identification, tracking, donor
relations and stewardship.

*  Assign prospects to development officers.
*  Manage acknowledgment and stewardship process.
*  Attend staff and prospect review meetings.

e Participate in continuing education seminars in the field of prospect research.
* Attend annual conference of the American Prospect Research Association.
*  Attend 1 other related local seminar or conference

e Supervise any necessary clerical support staff.
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As part of the researcher’s professional development at Audubon I recommend the
American Prospect Researchers Association Mentor Program. This program provides
support for APRA members who have recently entered the research profession. The
researcher is paired on-to-one with fellow professionals to share knowledge and
expertise. The term of the program is 1 year and involves telephone conferences and
face to face meetings whenever possible. These face to face meetings are encouraged

to coincide with a regional or chapter APRA meeting, or at the national conference.
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Chapter 5
Special Events
Zo0o-to-Do

Of the two major fund raising events held annually by the Audubon Institute, Zoo-
to-Do is the oldest. Begun in 1978 it has grown to be a very successful part of the
Audubon Institute development program. The event is a formal gala held each year at
the Zoo, on the first Friday evening in May. A Patron Party is held a few evenings
prior to Zoo-to-Do for those that purchased the Sponsor level tickets. For the past
several years Premier Bank has been the title sponsor of Zoo-to-Do. This year, with
the purchase of Premier Bank by Bank One, the sponsorship has continued. However,
the title is now Bank One Zoo-to-Do. Kids’ Zoo-to-Do was started in 1989 as an off-
shoot of the main event. It is also sponsored by Bank One. This event is held at the
Zoo one week prior to the regular Zoo-to-Do, and focuses on children. It is an early
evening, carnival-like event with games and activities to entertain children. Prices for
this event are $12.00 for Audubon Institute members and $15.00 for non-members.

In addition to a title sponsor Zoo-to-Do receives support from a large number of
businesses and individuals in the community. Local restaurants donate food and
beverages, and set up food tents where their specialties are served to guests. In
addition, several local distributors provide wine and other alcoholic beverages for

mixed drink bars. Along with food and drink almost everything else needed to put on
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this event is donated from local companies. For example, design firms produce the
special effects and decorations of the various tents and pavilions, and florists provide
flowers and extra plants. Tickets are sold to the general public, and Audubon
[nstitute employees can purchase them at a discount. For 1996 the ticket prices started
at $85 per person for Young Members under age 30, and proceeded to $135 per person
for other adult members of the Institute. Tickets were $175 per person for non-
members. There are also several sponsorship levels above the regular ticket price.
Contributions over the value of the dining and entertainment are tax deductible. For
the Sponsor levels this is $100, and for regular tickets the value is $60 per ticket.
Other tund raising activities that take place at Zoo-to-Do include a Raffle of donated
items, and the newest activity, a Silent Auction. The auction was very successful its
first time out in 1995, and was repeated in 1996. This year proceeds from Zoo-to-Do
are designated for the new Columbia/HCA Animal Healthcare Complex. This facility
was under construction on the Zoo grounds during the spring of 1996. The complex
includes a new animal hospital, administrative offices and a commissary. In keeping
with the medical project being funded, Zoo-to-Do 1996 had a healthcare theme. The
Patron Party, called “Doc Hop” had the following Sponsor levels:

Sensational Surgeon General $ 10,000 Personal tent, admits 20 to

Animal Encounter, “Doc Hop”
and Zoo-to-Do

Charming Chief Resident 3,000 Admits 12 to Animal Encounter,
“Doc Hop” and Zoo-to-Do
Dashing Doctor 1,500  Admits 6 to Animal Encounter,
“Doc Hop” and Zoo-to-Do
Ravishing Resident 1,000  Admits 4 to “Doc Hop” and

Z00-to-Do
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Ingenious Intern 500 Admits 2 to “Doc Hop” and
Z00-to-Do
Terrific Technician 350 Admits 2 to Zoo-to-Do

As an intern [ was asked to do a trend analysis of the revenues received for Zoo-to-
Do and Kids Zoo-to-Do over the last 11 years. (See Appendix IV). Over the 11 year
period, 1985 through 1995, the regular Zoo-to-Do has received a total of $5,703,867 in
donations and ticket sales. 1988 was the best year with $612,625 in gross revenue,
while 1992 was the worst with $402,062. Appendix IV summarizes the activity over
the 11 years, including ticket prices and attendance. Attendance figures are calculated
based upon revenues and ticket prices. I was unable to obtain actual support for the
attendance numbers. Record-keeping for events of this type is not very thorough. No
one was able to give me attendance figures, which for the biggest fund raising event at
the Institute is not a good example of event management. There seems to be a lack of
understanding and experience with financial matters within the Development
Department. I recommend training in this area so that records are kept in better order.
This will make planning for future events more effective. Any necessary changes

based on prior events can be made in a timely manner.

Zoo-to-Do Trends: 1985 - 1988
Plotted on a graph (See Appendix IV), total revenue rose steadily from 1985
through 1988. While there were some decreases at certain patron levels during this
time period, most revenue categories experienced either significant or moderate

growth. In particular, in 1986 three $10,000 level patron tickets were sold and there
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was a 25% increase in Regular ticket prices. Another significant event during these
four years was the 1987 introduction of the Zoo-to-Do Raffle. The Raffle earned
$52,992 the first year, or 10% of total revenue. One thing to note is that attendance
had a slight decrease during this time period. This did not have huge impact upon total
revenue due to the 25 % increase in ticket prices. Also, in 1988 an anonymous

sponsor, donated $25,000 to Zoo-to-Do.

Zoo-to-Do Trends 1989 - 1992

Beginning with 1989, Zoo-to-Do revenue and attendance fell dramatically. The
overall decrease from 1989 through 1992 was 34%. In 1989 there were no additional
or “special” sponsorships received, nor were any received for the next 3 years. There
were losses of sponsorship at all patron levels; the most significant being at the $500
level with a loss of $24,300 or 49 sponsors. Also, in 1989 there was an 8% increase in
regular ticket prices, which may have partially contributed to the drop in attendance.
Looking at revenue generated from regular ticket sales there was a downward trend
each year from 1989 through 1992. Other than the rise in ticket prices there is no
substantiated reason for this decline. Satisfaction surveys have never been utilized to
help determine the drop in attendance. Speculating, I believe that timing of the event
may have become a factor in the last 5 to 7 years. Zoo-to-Do is always scheduled on
the first Friday in May. This is also the second and most popular weekend for the New
Orleans Jazz and Heritage Festival. Jazz Fest has become increasingly popular over the

last 10 years, with record breaking crowds each year. The popularity of this event
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could be drawing away some of Zoo-to-Do’s local audience. In addition, Jazz Fest
sponsors many evening concerts around the city which may contribute to this
competition. While the total constituency for Zoo-to-Do and Jazz Fest are not exactly
the same, Jazz Fest’s audience is very large, ranging from national and international
tourists to locals of all different socioeconomic groups. Zoo-to-Do’s audience is much
narrower, focusing on mostly locals with more expendable income. However, some of
Z00-t0-Do’s market also falls into Jazz Fest’s audience. This is especially true with the
“baby boomer” generation. This generation now has the income and interest in
supporting organizations such as the Audubon Institute, but they also still have interests
in contemporary music. Much of the music represented at Jazz Fest is that of the baby
boomers’ generation. Many in this group may choose to spend their entertainment
dollars for a weekend at Jazz Fest rather than at Zoo-to-Do. [ made inquiries as to why
Z00-to-Do is still held on the first Friday of May and was told only that “it’s always
been on that day and no one has ever really thought of changing it.” Jazz Fest is not
seen as being a conflict. It is my belief that while Jazz Fest is not seriously draining
Zoo-to-Do attendance, it is contributing to the decline. In selling any kind of product
or service, whether it is insurance, cars, food, or tickets to a fund raising event,
competition must be monitored carefully. Taking care not to spread your audience too
thin is essential, especially in New Orleans where social events are crowded on the

springtime calendar.
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Z0o0-to-Do Trends 1993 - 1995

The last 3 years have seen some recovery in most of the Zoo-to-Do revenue
categories. The most notable item in this recovery is the gain in 1994 of a $100,000
anonymous sponsorship. Comparing the 1992 Zoo-to-Do with 1995 there was a gain
of 33 $500 level patrons, contributing $16,265 or 42% of the 3-year increase.
However, it should be noted that patron giving has fluctuated in both directions over
the last few years, so it cannot be assumed that this revenue will continue to rise each
year.

There was a small rise in ticket sales each year from 1992 through 1994. In 1995
these sales dipped again by 15% to a level lower than 1992. One possible explanation
is the addition of the Young Friend ticket category. This category is for adults under
age 30, and is priced at $85, which is $50 less than a regular ticket. The reason for the
development of this category is to capture more of the younger adult audience who may
not yet be in a financial position to purchase the higher priced tickets. Also, this
practice cultivates donors for the future. Young professionals today can become the
members and major donors of tomorrow. This may have drawn some dollars out of
revenue from regular ticket sales, but the effect on total revenue is not material.

In total, revenue rose 44% from 1992 to 1995, mostly due to the special
sponsorship received in 1994. Without this donation however, Zoo-to-Do revenue
would still have had a healthy increase of 19% from 1992 to 1995. Other items
contributing to the overall rise in total revenue include the newly introduced Zoo-To-

Do Silent Auction. Begun in 1995 this facet of the Zoo-to-Do consists of a silent
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auction of donated items. In its first year the auction raised $32,927 or 5.63 % of total
revenue. Also, the Raffle, which had been declining as a source of revenue since
1992, began rising again in 1994, In 1995 the Raffle generated $36,722 or 6% of total
revenue. Overall, Zoo-to-Do has become a stable source of revenue for the Audubon
Institute. As with any successful event the organizers must keep an eye on the market
each year to ensure that Zoo-to-Do continues to be a viable special event on the
Development Department’s fund raising agenda.
Louisiana Nature Center’s Twilight Adventure

Twilight Adventure is the annual gala fund raising event held at the Louisiana
Nature Center. Proceeds from this event are designated for maintenance,
improvements and educational programs. In 1995 the theme for Twilight Adventure
was “Wild, Wild, Wildlife” and featured western music, alligator wrestling, a jail
house, and a silent auction, (See Appendix V), for the 1993 - 1995 financial results of
Twilight Adventure. In examining the figures for the 1995 event, which was held in
October, $98,860 net of expenses was raised for the Nature Center. By comparison to
1994 however, this figure is not as positive as it would appear. In 1995 there was a
29.88% drop in net income from 1994. Gross revenue (ticket sales and sponsorships)
fell dramatically from 1994 to 1995. If it had not been for the even greater fall in
event related expenses, net proceeds from Twilight Adventure would have been worse.
In order to counter this downward trend in revenue management at Audubon is anxious

to determine a way to attract more corporate sponsors for Twilight Adventure. As a
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result the proposed theme for 1996 is an educational one: “The ABC’s of Learning.
An educational theme was decided upon for two primary reasons:

1. To promote the Nature Center as an environmental resource for area school
children.

2. The opening of the new Hidden Kingdoms exhibit at the Nature Center, which
focuses on microbiology in nature, will fit very well with an educational
theme.

It is also felt that since the Nature Center is an instructional resource local corporations
will be more willing to sponsor the event if they know that they are helping supplement
the education of area school students.

Each proposed sponsorship level will allow area corporations to sponsor a class
from a metropolitan New Orleans public school for one Nature Center program during
the year. The programs for these classes will include a general visit to the Nature
Center with a live presentation, and a choice of one classroom program or one
planetarium program. In addition, for individuals who can commit to a larger
contribution than a general ticket purchase, a sponsorship level has been created to
include one outreach program for an area school. In order to target corporations and

higher giving individuals for this new sponsorship program several strategies have been

developed:

e Secure the list of Partners In Education corporation-school listing.

e Target businesses that have given at lower levels in the past and attempt to raise
them to a higher level.

e Each sponsor will be allowed to request a specific school, class or parish.
Work with area school boards to match classes which have not been selected.

e  Work with individual schools to schedule their visits.
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Sponsor recognition will be accomplished in the following ways:

e Each class completing the program will receive a certificate stating that they
completed the program sponsored by their partner corporation.

e Each sponsor will receive a letter from Audubon thanking them for their
contribution and indicating the class they sponsored.

e Each principal will be asked to send a thank you letter to their sponsor.

As intern [ was asked to analyze the proposed corporate sponsorship program to
determine the increase in sponsorship funds needed to at least maintain the 1995 net
income level for Twilight Adventure. I obtained the estimated costs for both an

outreach program and an on-site program from the Nature Center staff. These costs

are as follows:

With Bus Without Bus
Transportation Transportation
On-site program 190.00 60.00
Outreach program n/a 80.00

Estimated revenue for the sponsorship program is based on the following sponsorship

levels and ticket prices:

1996 Twilight Adventure Sponsorship Categories

Sponsor Level Cost Benefits

Emeritus $500 - 999 4 Twilight Adventure tickets

1 Outreach program
Honor Roll $1,000 - 1,999 6 Twilight Adventure tickets

1 Public school class sponsorship
Principal’s Honor Roll $2,000 -4,999 |8 Twilight Adventure tickets

2 Public school class sponsorships
Headmaster’s List $ 5,000 - 9,999 10 Twilight Adventure tickets

4 Public school class sponsorships
Phi Beta Kappa $ 10,000 & above | 16 Twilight Adventure tickets

8 Public school class sponsorships
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1996 Twilight Adventure Ticket Price Categories

Category Price Benefits
Audubon Members $ 50.00 | 1 ticket to Twilight Adventure
Audubon Members under age 35 $ 40.00 | 1 ticket to Twilight Adventure
Non-members $ 65.00 | 1 ticket to Twilight Adventure
Patron $ 250 - 499 | 2 tickets to Twilight Adventure

In addition to using the above data I also analyzed the sponsorship information from the
1995 Twilight Adventure, including compilation of a list of all sponsors and how much
each gave in their respective categories. After reviewing all of the available
information I determined that Twilight Adventure will need additional sponsors in order
to maintain the 1995 net income level. If Audubon provides bus transportation for the
student beneficiaries an additional $6,770 will be needed in sponsorship revenue.
Without providing the transportation for the students, Audubon will need $3,780 in
additional sponsorship funds. Upon completion of this project I prepared a letter of
recommendations and a complete packet of information for the Special Events Director
and the Vice-president of Development. This packet included a financial analysis,
projections for 1996, and a list of 1995 sponsors.

In conjunction with the Twilight Adventure financial analysis and projection I was
also asked to analyze 1995 attendance data for school groups at the Nature Center. The
primary reason for this analysis was to help the Nature Center program directors
determine capacity for additional school groups sponsored by the Twilight Adventure
donors. The Nature Center already hosts many school group tours and the education

staff has expressed some concern over the Center’s ability to provide a quality program
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to additional groups that may be sponsored by the Twilight Adventure donors.
Therefore, this data was compiled for their review to assist with scheduling of school
group tours. However, it is my belief that while the total number of school groups
may increase somewhat many of those who would have gone to the Nature Center on
their own may now be sponsored by a donor. In this case the total number will not rise
drastically, but the total revenue earned from such a group will increase due to
corporate sponsorship. A careful analysis of this theory should be done after the 1996
Twilight Adventure is complete. (See Appendix V for a copy of the results of the

entire Twilight Adventure/Nature Center project).

Other Special Events
As intern I was required to assist with preparation for and participate in a number
of smaller special events and openings at the Audubon Institute. This involved
assisting the development staff with mailings, volunteer coordination, troubleshooting,
and attendance at the events. Following is a brief description of those events or
openings with which I was involved.

Aquarium of the Americas
Exhibit Opening: Changing Exhibits Gallery & IMAX 3-D Film

In 1996 the Aquarium of the Americas Phase II officially opened with the
Changing Exhibits Gallery. The first exhibit displayed here was “Mating Games,” an
exhibit dedicated to exploring the reproductive patterns of marine life. At the same

time the IMAX Theatre opened its latest feature, “Into the Deep,” a 3-D movie
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exploring the undersea world. These 2 openings were combined into one grand event
at the Aquarium.

My participation in this event included guest relations and guiding. In order to
accommodate the very large crowd in the screening of the new IMAX movie at various
times throughout the evening several staff members were required to act as hosts for a
large groups of guests. Our job was to guide the guests from the lobby of the
Aquarium to the new exhibit gallery where the party was taking place, and to the
IMAX theatre. In addition, we were available to answer guest questions and give

directions throughout the Aquarium.

Aquarium of the Americas/IMAX Theatre
Dedication of the IMAX Theatre Lobby to the Hilton Corporation

One of the major sponsors for the IMAX Theatre was the Hilton Corporation. As
a result the lobby of the theatre was dedicated and renamed the “Hilton Lobby” of the
IMAX Theatre. The event planned for this dedication included a ceremony honoring
national representatives of the Hilton Corporation and a cocktail party. Guests were
also invited to view the current film at the IMAX Theatre if they wished to do so.

Once again, | worked with the Development statf on guest relations. In addition,
before the event | was asked to assist with invitation responses, which involved calling
invited guests who not responded to their invitations. I noticed that for most events of
this type this is a standard procedure. Most events have an “RSVP” attached to the

invitation, but about a week before the staff begins calling those who have not yet
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responded. This duty seems to be divided equally among the entire Development staff.
The special events staff is usually excluded from this as their schedules are extremely
tight one week prior to an event.

Audubon Zoological Gardens
Zoo-to-Do Patron Party

As discussed in the Zoo-to-Do section of Chapter 5 a Patron Party is held a few
evening prior to the main event. All guests who purchase Sponsor level tickets or
make large contribution to Zoo-to-Do are invited to this party. In 1995, given the
dedication of Zoo-to-Do proceeds to the new Columbia/HCA Animal Healthcare
Complex, the Patron Party was held outdoors in the courtyard between the new
complex and the administration building. The new animal hospital was open to the
guests for tours. The Silent Auction is held at the Patron Party. My job for Patron
Party was to manage the auction registration table, signing guests up for participation in

the auction and explaining the rules to them.

Audubon Center for Research of Endangered Species (ACRES)
Grand Opening

This facility is the latest addition to the Audubon Institute and is dedicated to the
research and preservation of endangered species. The grand opening gala was held the
first week in June. In preparation for this event I was asked to assist with 2 separate
phases. Approximately 2 months before the opening announcement letters were mailed
local and national guests. Dr. Betsy Dresser, the Executive Director of ACRES,

wished to announce the opening of this facility to her professional peers across the
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country. Because Dr. Dresser came from the Cincinnati Zoo she had developed many
relationships with donors who are interested in species preservation on a national and
international level. It was felt that including these on the mailing list could be a
potential source of funding. My job associated with this mailing was to coordinate a
group of volunteers, both from Audubon staff and from a small group of regular
development volunteers to help with the mailing of these announcements. The letters
were personalized from Dr. Dresser and needed to be signed, folded, attached to a
brochure, stuffed, and stamped. 1 was also asked to coordinate and assist with the
signing, stuffing, mailing, etc. of the announcements.

The second phase of my work with the ACRES grand opening was to the serve on the
Host Committee for the actual event. The Host Committee was composed of
approximately 20 Audubon staff members, whose job was, as the title indicates, to
serve as hosts for the over 800 guests attending the event. As such we were required to
costume to the theme of the party, explain the game created for the party, direct guests
through the layout of the facility, answer guest questions, and be available for solving
last minute problems.

I was very impressed with the implementation and coordination of plans at the
ACRES grand opening, as well as at all of the other Audubon events. The Special
Events department is an extremely well run part of the Audubon Development
Department. Serving as a volunteer host for many of these events I came into contact
with many guests and was always given very positive feedback concerning the quality

and smoothness with which an event at Audubon is run.
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Chapter 6
Membership
New Product Development

The first project that I worked on related to membership development was an
analysis of current Audubon Institute membership by age range. While the data is
available for review, no one in the Development Department had ever looked at it
graphically to determine if there are any categories which would benefit from extra
targeting. For 1995 membership at the 3 major facilities of the Audubon Institute
breaks down into the following age ranges (See Appendix VI for graphic descriptions
of the member/age breakdown):

Membership

Age
Range Zoo % AOA %o LNC %o Total %

20-35 1,932 0.19 804 0.12 248 | 0.17 2,984 0.16
36 - 45 3,510 0.34 2,020 0.31 514 0.35 6,044 0.33
46 - 60 | 2,406 0.24 1,869 0.28 416 | 0.28 4,691 0.26

60 + 2,365 0.23 1,927 0.29 300 0.20 4,592 0.25

10,213 1.00 6,620 1.00|| 1,478 | 1.00| 18,311 1.00

AOA = Aquarium of the Americas
LNC = Louisiana Nature Center

Looking at these figures the category which obviously needs more targeting is the 20 to
35 year old range. This is not a surprising discovery. This age range is less likely to
have children or grandchildren to which these facilities would appeal. This category

also has less expendable income than the older categories, which contain members who
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have established careers and families. The Membership Director at Audubon was not
surprised by these findings either. However, as stated above, this analysis had never
been done in writing in prior years, and will be helpful to her in getting approval for
new membership strategies.

The second membership development project on which I worked involved an idea
formulated by the Vice-president of Development as a potential way to increase
membership. This idea is the “out-of-area” and/or national membership product. |
have used the term “product” instead of membership category because | feel that this
type of membership level would have to marketed in a very different manner than any
of the current membership levels. A different set of, or even additional, benefits would
have to be established for this category due to the fact that these types of members
would not generally be located within close proximity to New Orleans. | developed 2
phases to determining the feasibility of developing such a product: 1.) An analysis of
the location of the current Audubon Institute members; and 2.) A survey of several
zoos and aquariums across the country in similar markets to determine if any of these
had an out-of-market product. (See Appendix VI for a sample of the survey and
requests).

In phase one I analyzed membership figures by zip code, as listed in the
Membership database. First | summarized membership by state, and then created a
sub-analysis of membership by parish in the state of Louisiana. In developing an out-
of-market product I believe the first region to target should be parishes of Louisiana

(and possibly Southern Mississippi) that fall within a specific radius of New Orleans.



As expected, the closer to metropolitan New Orleans, the higher the concentration of
current memberships. This is therefore an obvious place to start marketing such a
product. Nationally, there were more current memberships than I would have
expected. Most of these are the result of tourists visiting New Orleans and purchasing
memberships at the Aquarium of the Americas. A visitor traveling with a family will
find it more cost effective to purchase a membership rather than to buy individual
admission tickets to the Aquarium. As I communicated in my findings to the
Membership Director, (See Appendix VI for complete results of the study), a national
membership product would have to be based upon a global interest in conservation, not
upon facility attendance. Therefore, using current out-of-state memberships as a base
for marketing a national product would not be very effective.

The second phase of the out-of-market category analysis was to survey several zoos
and aquariums across the country to get their opinions on such a product. Using the
American Zoological Association Directory I compiled a list of nineteen organizations

to include in the survey. These organizations are as follows:
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Name City Type Responded

Toledo Zoo Toledo, OH Zoological Garden yes
Sacramento Zoo Sacramento, CA Zoological Garden no
San Antonio Zoo & San Antonio, TX | Zoo & Aquarium no
Aquarium

National Aquarium Baltimore, MD Aquarium no
Seattle Aquarium Seattle, WA Aquarium no
Monterey Bay Aquarium Monterey, CA Aquarium yes
John G. Shedd Aquarium Chicago, IL Aquarium no
Tennessee Aquarium Chattanooga, TN | Aquarium yes
Baltimore Zoo Baltimore, MD Zoological Garden no
Zoo Atlanta Atlanta, GA Zoological Garden yes
Cincinnati Zoo Cincinnati, OH Zoological Garden no
Columbus Zoo Columbus, OH Zoological Garden yes
Houston Zoo Houston, TX Zoological Garden yes
Jacksonville Zoo Jacksonville, FL Zoological Garden yes
Kansas City Zoo Kansas City, MO | Zoological Garden no
Indianapolis Zoo Indianapolis, IN Zoological Garden no
Lincoln Park Zoo Chicago, IL Zoological Garden yes
Woodland Park Zoo Seattle, WA Zoological Garden yes

Of the nineteen organizations surveyed, 9 responded, which is a response rate of

47.37%. Of the responses none had examples of out-of-market products, stating that

such a product had either never been considered, or was not economically feasible.

One of the main reasons given for lack of feasibility was a reasonably close proximity

to other major zoos and aquariums.

Taylor-Audubon Student Membership Program

Early in May of 1996 the Audubon Institute was approached by Mr. Pat Taylor of

Taylor Energy Company about a co-sponsoring a program to reward local students with

memberships in Audubon facilities. Tied to this co-sponsorship was a donation of
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$600,000 from Taylor Energy to the Audubon Institute. In exchange for the donation
from Taylor, Audubon agreed to give memberships to students who met certain
academic criteria each school year. This program is to continue “in perpetuity,”
according to wording of the agreement. On May 15', 1996 a press conference was held
at the Aquarium of the Americas at which a contract was signed between Pat Taylor
and the Audubon Institute. Summarized, the primary conditions of this contract are as

follows:

e The Audubon Institute is to award memberships to all 7th through 12th grade
students in public, private and parochial schools within Orleans parish who meet the
following criteria:

Academic Criteria* Membership Award
GPA 2.5-2.999 1 yr. Aquarium of the Americas
GPA 3.0 - above 1 yr. Aquarium & Zoo

* Private & parochial school students include the additional condition of being on
some kind of need based scholarship or other tuition assistance program.

e The Audubon Institute will allow the parents of the student members free admission
twice each year. The first free admission will be honored on the day of the awards
ceremony. The second free admission for parents will be honored from December
1 through February 28.

e Taylor Energy is to donate to the Audubon Institute of total of $600,000 to be held
in trust with the annual earnings being made available to Audubon for use in
educational programming.
= $100,000 had been received prior to the contract signing.
= $150,000 was received at the contract signing.

= The remaining $350,000 was to be received after the memberships had been
awarded to the students.

e The Audubon Institute will plan and implement an Awards Ceremony on June 26,
1996 at which memberships cards and merit certificates will be distributed.

e The Audubon Institute will solicit the cooperation of all school officials.
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In addition to the above contractual criteria it should be noted that Mr. Taylor wished
to personally hand each student his or her certificate and membership card in the
awards ceremony. However, after discussions with the Orleans Parish School Board,
the Archdiocese of New Orleans and the remaining private school officials it was
estimated that fifteen to twenty thousand students would be eligible for this program.
This would obviously present a logistical nightmare regarding Mr. Taylor’s desire to
award the memberships to each student individually. As part of my participation with
this program 1 was asked to develop alternative plans for the awarding of the
memberships that would also satisfy Mr. Taylor’s wish to see as many students as
possible receiving their awards. In addition, I worked with the Director of
Membership, Cynthia Thibodeaux, on establishing a workplan for this project and in
communicating with the various school officials. Because there was such a short
deadline of approximately 4 weeks, working on this project became a top priority.
Following are the 3 logistical alternatives I presented to the Membership Director for

the Taylor Awards Day Ceremony.

Full Participation Ceremony:

While I knew that this type of ceremony would be impossible, it was felt that we
should lay it out in writing so as to convince Mr. Taylor that his original plan for the
ceremony would be impractical. Because of the potentially large number of students
and parents who could attend the ceremony the membership cards and certificates could
not be handed out individually by Mr. Taylor. There could be as many as 15,000

participants in attendance (excluding parents), causing such a ceremony to take several
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hours. This method would be practical only if expected attendance were 100 students

or less.
Example of Time Needed for Ceremony
Estimated Time per # of Potential Hours to Complete
Student to Receive Card Attendees Ceremony
30 sec. 15,000 125 hrs.
1.0 min. 15,000 250 hrs.
2.0 min. 15,000 500 hrs.

Arrangements Needed for the Ceremony

e Space large enough to accommodate 15,000 students
e Enough chairs for students and parents.
e Refreshments for 15,000

e C(Certificates, membership cards and parent passes sorted by school, GPA
groupings and student last names.

e Name tags for chairs to ensure that students are seated in correct order.
e Boxes and tables to hold certificate packets.

e Stage risers and podium.

e Microphone and sound system.

e Stage decorations: Flags, plants, balloons.

e Volunteer workers to help with crowd control and ushering.

e Photographer.

The only solution for a ceremony in which all eligible students attended at the same
time would be a “graduation” type ceremony similar to that used by large universities.
Mr. Taylor could acknowledge each school and announce the number of students
meeting the criteria from that school. Students from each school could then stand for
recognition. After the ceremony the cards and certificates would be picked up at tables
at the back and sides of the ceremony area. However, even using this method,

handling this large number of people in a confined period of time would be extremely
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difficult. Also, because the students and their families are invited to visit the Aquarium
after the ceremony the number of people inside the facility would likely violate
statutory regulations.

Small Symbolic Ceremony:

This alternative involves having 2 students representing each school attend a formal
awards ceremony. One student from each GPA range could be chosen to represent his
or her school, or the choice could be left up to the discretion of the school. In
addition, each child chosen as a representative could be bring his or her parents. One
adult representative from each school would also be invited. Each of these students
would then be presented membership cards and certificates individually by Mr. Taylor.
Using this method the potential audience for the formal ceremony would be reduced
significantly to a much more manageable size:

Student representatives
School representative
Parents (avg. 1 per child)
Total attendance per school

# of schools 9
Total estimated attendance 480

o — b

N

The program for this type of ceremony would be as follows:

1. A formal ceremony is held for the student representatives at 9:00 a.m. in the Plaza
outside of the Aquarium.

2. Pat Taylor, Ron Forman, and other dignitaries give brief speeches. Mr. Taylor

then hands out a “blank” certificate to each student while the names are called.

The students then return to their seats for the ceremony conclusion.

Ceremony closes and guests are invited to visit the Aquarium of the Americas.

5. Students can then go to tables in adjacent tents to “redeem” their blank certificates
for their actual membership cards and certificates.

6. All students not invited to the formal ceremony are invited to pick-up their cards
and certificates at the these tables throughout the day, from 10:30 a.m. until 8:00
p.m. They are also invited, with their parents, to visit the Aquarium any time
during the day.

halihe
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7. All un-retrieved cards will be mailed to the students.

Arrangements Needed for the Ceremony

e Invitations with RSVP sent to families of student representatives.
e Tent space and chairs in the Plaza for approximately 500 people.
e Refreshments for approximately 500 people.

e “Blank” certificates for students attending the formal ceremony.

e Stage risers and podium.

e Microphone and sound system.

e Stage decorations: Flags, plants, balloons.
e Volunteer workers to assist with ushering and to man tables throughout the

day.
e Photographer.

e Rain location: Hilton Lobby, IMAX Theater.

Fall vs. Summer Ceremony:

In many of the discussions concerning this project the issue of timing was brought

up several times. As one of the alternatives the Membership Director requested that I

prepare a list of pros and cons for changing the ceremony from June to September.

September Awards Ceremony

Pros

Cons

Children are back in school, making it
easier logistically to get them to the
ceremony. School buses can be utilized &
school can insure their attendance.

Better motivational tool for students who
did not earn the required GPA. These
children will see first hand the rewards for
trying harder in the coming school year.

More planning time allows Audubon to
insure a quality ceremony.

Less impact on summer ticket sales at the
Aquarium. Paying attendance drops in
September.

Public announcement of the program has
already been made. By September, public
awareness will be gone.

High school seniors from previous year
are gone. Attendance from them may be
Very poor.

Students advancing from 8th grade to high
school could be at different schools. This
will make coordinating with the schools
more difficult.
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June Awards Ceremony

Pros

Cons

Announcement has been made - public
awareness is high for June

High school seniors may be more likely to
attend because school just ended.

8th graders haven’t scattered to different
high schools yet.

Children can visit the Aquarium with their
parents at their leisure on day of
ceremony, not restricted to school’s
schedule.

School year is over, making it more
difficult to insure good attendance.
Students are not located in one area (i.e.
summer jobs, day camps, etc.)

Possible transportation problem for some
families.

Not adequate time to plan a quality
ceremony.

Weather - very hot in June.

Negative impact upon summer ticket sales
at Aquarium.

Parents with other children may have to
bring them to ceremony due to possible
problems with childcare. This will
increase attendance and creates the issue
of whether these children should also get
free admission.

Based on the pros and cons of both times of the year it appears that September would

be a better time to hold the ceremony. However, Mr. Taylor insisted that the

ceremony be held in June. (In an ironic turn, when the day of the ceremony arrived

Pat Taylor was out of the country and could not attend!). In order to avoid the

problems presented by both a summer date and a fall date, I recommend holding the

awards ceremony in the spring, near the end of the school year. In this way school is
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not over yet, utilizing the advantages of the September time frame. For determining
qualified students, grades at the end of the 3rd school quarter could be used.

After presenting these alternatives, and because Mr. Taylor would not change his
mind on some aspects of the ceremony, Alternative #2, the Small Symbolic Ceremony,
was chosen. At this point the Special Events Director and the Public Relations
Department took over the planning process for the awards ceremony. I continued
assisting the Membership Director with designing the membership cards and
certificates, and with communicating with officials of the schools boards and individual
schools. 1 also assisted with recruiting employee volunteers from the administrative
staff to work the awards tables throughout the day at the Aquarium. Employees were
asked to work a two-hour shift, and were excused from their regular job duties for this
project. The ceremony was held on June 26, 1996 and had no major problems, except
for the noted absence of Mr. Pat Taylor. Verbal feedback on that day from parents and
school officials was very positive. Tracking the success of the program in terms of
students’ use of their membership privileges seems to present a problem for the
Audubon Institute. Apparently, the technology is not yet in place at the Aquarium or

the Zoo to determine_who actually comes through the doors each day. Therefore, it

will be almost impossible to determine the frequency with which students use their
memberships. This is very unfortunate, as this type of information would not only help
determine the success of the program, but would also be a way of showing how

Audubon’s educational mission has an impact upon the local community.



71

Chapter 7
Analysis of Internship
In the five months spent at the Audubon Institute I was able to provide assistance
in several Development Department projects, giving me a well-rounded experience in
nonprofit development. The primary impact of my time upon the Audubon Institute
and the Development Department was to provide a resource for analyzing department
plans and events in order to assist in future decision making. During this time I found
three areas of organizational activity that need improvement. In order to accomplish
this improvement, however there will need to be a shift in attitude by the development
and the senior management staff. I found that in general at the Audubon Institute, and
especially in the Development Department, there is a definite reluctance to accept
change, even when the change would make department operations more efficient and
up-to-date. Following is a summary of the three major areas of concern along with
recommendations for improvement.
Record Keeping and Tracking
Results of Special Events
Record keeping within the Development Department, particularly with Special
Events, lacks the organization and depth necessary to effectively analyze the results of

events. Currently, the special events staff does an excellent job of planning the details
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of all fundraising events. However, no time is taken for keeping proper records or for
tracking these events once they have ended. For example, in my analysis of the
financial statistics for Zoo-to-Do and Twilight Adventure I was surprised to find the
records kept in a very haphazard fashion, and could not obtain any records outlining
the expenses related to each event. At this point in time gross revenue from these
events can be identified with relative ease, but related expenses, such as printing,
postage, and telephone are not specifically identified with each event. Expenses such
as these are accounted for in the overall department/special events’ budget.

Fortunately, many of these costs are donated by the vendors, but those that are not,
should be accounted for specifically. Also, there has been no attempt at calculating
overhead expenses related to each event, such as staff salaries, loss of ticket revenue
when closing a venue for a special event, utilities, maintenance, groundskeeping, etc.
Outgoing expenses as well as incoming revenues for each special event must be tracked
more carefully to determine the net effect upon the organization.

Most of the records related to the revenues of the above mentioned events are kept
manually, written in columnar notebooks. For example, as sponsor and patron checks
arrive they are logged in these notebooks with the sponsor name and the amount
received. Subtotals are calculated periodically in order to determine how much has
been received at a particular point in time. [ suggested to the Special Events Assistant
that a computer spreadsheet be used to record this information as it is received. In this
way it would be much easier to keep a daily tally of revenue, to sort the data by a

variety of criteria, and to prepare reports at the conclusion of the event. This is
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especially sensitive when sorting by donor category. Since the sponsors are recorded
chronologically, $50 donations and $5,000 donations are mixed together. Simple
requirements such as acknowledgments and prospect management turn into potential
disasters with this system. Also, comparative analyses with previous years would be
much easier.

The response to my recommendation was that they (the special events coordinators)
never knew who would be recording the information. This is a task that is usually
assigned to a volunteer, and the volunteer would not necessarily know how to use
spreadsheet software. My recommendation is that this task be assigned to an employee
or regular volunteer with spreadsheet experience. Training an employee in the
appropriate software will ultimately pay off in better records and thus, better resources
for decision making. The overall effect of improving record keeping for special events
is better tracking of all related revenues and expenses, providing better information for

planning future activities.

Prospect Research and Management

A careful look at the research function of the Development Department will help
the Vice-president in planning future needs for her department, and in turn will help the
department accomplish the goals and mission of the Institute. Currently, prospect
research is scattered around the Development Department. Some research is done by
the development associates themselves, some is given to the administrative assistant and

some to the campaign associate. This scattered approach is inefficient, and it is my
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belief that important information could be slipping through the cracks. This approach

also lacks the depth of focus that is provided when prospect research is handled by one
designated person or division. Therefore, I recommend a separate, full-time research

position in the Development Department.

Many organizations the size of the Audubon Institute have a separate research
function. This will provide more thorough and consistent research information for the
development associates. A separate researcher can dedicate more time and effort to
prospect discovery and management, freeing up time for the development associates to
cultivate potential donors. The Vice-president for Development, Laurie Conkerton,
sees the need for such a position within the department, however I believe that she does
not give it the priority it deserves. This is due to in part to the reluctance toward
change as discussed above, and in part to budget constraints. It will be difficult, but
necessary, for a staff accustomed to doing their own research to turn this responsibility
over to someone else. However, the difficulties of such an adjustment will pay off in
the long term with a better base of prospects.

An additional problem within the Development Department having a large impact
upon prospect research and management is the inefficient database and computer
system. In Chapter 4 | recommended upgrading the computer system so that the
research module of the current database system be used to its greatest potential.
Currently, there is a small network of very antiquated personal computers being used
by the department staff. The capacity of the system is very limited, thereby making the

use of Fundmaster, the database system, inefficient. This database system could be
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very useful for prospect research and management if the hardware technology were
available to use it to its fullest potential. Upgrading the system would also allow for
the department to take advantage of many on-line research services. At this time there
is one employee, the Computer Associate, who has responsibility for maintaining the
computer system of the department. This includes Fundmaster, the hardware, and any
other applications used such as word processing and spreadsheet software. This
employee does not have the experience or qualifications to manage a full system
upgrade. She also displays a rather defensive attitude when questioned about the
capabilities of the current system, and has a definite reluctance to accept change. |
believe much of this attitude stems from her lack of qualifications. In order to
accomplish a system upgrade that will the most beneficial to the department [
recommend one of two possibilities:

1. A Systems Manager, with the appropriate education and experience be hired to
oversee the database and hardware of the department. The current Computer
Associate would report to this manager as an assistant.

2. A consultant be retained to analyze the current system and prepare formal
recommendations for the upgrade. The consultant would manage this project
from the proposal stage through the implementation and staff training phase.

In addition, the current Computer Associate should receive in-depth training
and education in systems management.

Communication and Management Style
As my internship drew to a close it became clear to me that the Audubon Institute
is currently led by a visionary-style manager, the President and Chief Executive

Officer, Ron Forman. During my five months at Audubon I had heard Mr. Forman
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referred to as a “visionary” by both staff and guests. While these remarks were
intended to be complimentary, those speaking them probably did not realize that being
a visionary and trying to manage a company on a day-to-day basis can sometimes
conflict. Mr. Forman has been quite visionary in his goals for the Audubon Institute,
and he has been very adept at seeing his visions realized. His original vision of turning
the “animal ghetto” that used to be the Audubon Zoo into the prime facility that it is
today is certainly an example of his ability. However, the Audubon Institute has grown
with Ron Forman’s vision from infancy to a mature organization. He is operating all
aspects of the Institute, including those that are no longer in the “infancy” stage, from
the visionary’s point of view. By this I mean he is “making deals” and agreeing to
programs before carefully considering the operational consequences.

As intern I was directly involved in the planning of a Membership program which
illustrates the impact of this management style on a mature organization and the
communication problems that can occur as a result. This program, the
Taylor/Audubon Student Membership Program, was tied to a major donation of
$600,000, and provided me with valuable experience in coordinating an event while
trying to cultivate a major donor. My work on this program provided Audubon with
much needed assistance in completing a project on very short notice. For this
particular program, negotiations between Ron Forman and Pat Taylor of Taylor
Energy, Inc. had been in process for quite a while before a final contract was agreed
upon. There was no communication of the potential demands of the contract to the

Membership Director until the very last minute. Some of the headaches caused by the
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short deadline could have been avoided with better communication between the
President, the Chief Operating Officer, and the Membership department. There will
always be donors who make unreasonable demands, but I believe that before the
president agrees to anything, the operational department involved should be called in
during the initial negotiations. In this way the donor will have more to think about
before placing immovable demands upon the organization.

Also, advanced communication and involvement with the departments will provide
the President and Chief Operating Officer with a better picture of the work being done
by their employees to implement management’s plans. Without this improvement the
Institute will be left with a management staff that is ignorant of what the organization
does on a day-to-day basis. As a result, management could one day be making plans
and decisions that are not operationally consistent with the Institute’s mission of
education, conservation, research and recreation. The President should not completely
abandon his “vision” but he must learn to adjust his leadership style to that of a
manager in order for the organization to avoid the unhealthy effects of crisis
management. Perhaps more authority for day-to-day operations could be given to the
Chief Operating Officer, leaving the “visionary” in place to direct the future of the
organization.

In conclusion, my experience as an intern at the Audubon Institute was extremely
educational for me and valuable to the organization. The primary areas for concern
that I found at Audubon are record keeping and tracking of special events; prospect

research and computer technology; and management style and communication. Also,
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the reluctance to accept change that I found, especially in the Development
Department, is an attitude that can inhibit the growth and long-term effectiveness of an
organization. While the Audubon Institute has been a very successful organization to-
date, this attitude and the concerns discussed above need to be addressed if Audubon

wants to maintain it’s success into the next century.
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February 14, 1995

The Honorable William Jefferson
United States House of Representatives
428 Cannon House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515-1802

RE: Re-authorization and Appropriations for the Institute for
Museum Services

Dear Bill:

On behalf of the Audubon Institute and its nine facilities, as well as the American Zoo and
Aquarium Association (AZA), I urge you to oppose legislative efforts to eliminate funding for
the Institute for Museum Services.

The Institute for Museum Services (IMS) was established in 1976 to “encourage zoos,
aquariums, and other museums in their educational role.” To receive an IMS grant,
institutions must demonstrate their public role through service schools, families, and
communities, as well as prove they are capable of sound financial management. All grant
proposals undergo a peer-review process.

Since the inception of IMS, zoos and aquariums throughout the country have been recipients of
IMS General Operating Support (GOS) grants which are awarded to assist with the day-to-
day operations of the facility. As currently funded, IMS GOS grants can provide up to
$112,000 (over a two year period) towards a museum’s operating budget. GOS grants may be
used for many activities - exhibition, care of the collection, education, administration,
maintenance, equipment and supplies.

Although IMS financial support is only .006% of the total $1.1 billion operating budget of our
nations 8.000 museums, IMS grants provide national recognition - the government’s seal of
approval - that raises the level of museum quality nationwide and attracts non-federal dollars.
At a time when corporate and private funds are hard to secure, operating funds for essential
services for museums, zoos, and aquariums are the most difficult to raise. This has proven
true in the case of the Audubon Zoological Garden, but with the aid of eight IMS grants over
the last fifteen years, Audubon has built an outstanding Development Department that has in
turn secured over $25,548,000 for Audubon Zoo capital projects and endowment - an
astounding 1:40 yield from the private sector.

Also, with funds from IMS GOS, the zoo has created a computerized tracking systems for all
gifts and upgraded security throughout the zoo to better protect animals and serve the public.

In addition, IMS Conservation Project Support aids zoos and aquariums in meeting the basic
conservation needs of their living collections, and requires a 5% match by the applicant from
non-federal sources. Grantees often include institutional and in-kind contributions for their
match. Many zoos and aquariums have used IMS funding for

Congressman William Jefferson

February 14, 1996
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Page Two

implementing innovative conservation plans, improvement of collection environments and
research in conservation techniques are also undertaken with IMS support.

With the assistance of IMS CPS dollars, projects completed by the Audubon Zoological
Garden include the production of two much sought-after books: The Medical Management of
Orangutans (published in 1990), and The Medical Management of Elephants (published in
1994). Audubon staff conducted systematic studies and analyses of all available medical
records for captive organutans and elephants. This resulted in the publication of the two
medical manuals, each accompanied by a detailed medical event database and comprehensive
bibliography. Both manuals have been widely distributed and further fulfill Audubon’s goal to
enhance the care and conservation of endangered populations, not only America, but
worldwide.

It must also be noted that Institute for Museum Services grants are the only source of federal
support designed specifically for small zoos, aquariums, and museums. In comparison to other
federal programs, the $28 million that has been appropriated by Congress in the last two years
for the IMS has yielded great returns in terms of 1:17 match with non-federal dollars.

Bill, on behalf of the Audubon Institute - its nine facilities, 598 employees, 94,554 members,
and the over 3.5 million visitors that visit our facilities annually, 1 urge you again to oppose

any action that will eliminate or severely cut the Institute for Museum Services’ funding.

Sincerely,

L. Ronald Forman
President and CEO

LRF/mlc
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Mr. L. Ronald Forman
President and
Chief{ Executive Officer
The Audubon [nsttute
Post Office Box 4327
New COrieans, Louisiana 70178

Dear Ron:

Thank vou for contacting me about funding for the Institute for
Museum Services in the FY 1996 Department of the [aterior
appropriations bill. I appreciate hearing from you.

You will be pleased to know that FY 1996 funding for the IMS in
the amount of 321 million has been approved by both the Senate and the
House.

The current climate in Congress is one of budget cutting and
deficit reduction. [n the House, especiaily, there are many proposals to
reorganize agencies in addition to cutting therr funding. There are some
programs proposed for cuts or reorganization that serve worthwhile
purposes. The mission of the IMS, for example, is an important one for
Louisiana. Although many programs, [ expect, will be reduced or
eliminated as we work toward a balanced budget, [ am hopeful that those
programs that have done a good job and offer manv benefits will survive.

Thank vou again for vour ietier  On this and other issues. | hope

vou will continue to stay in touch with me

Sincerely,

JOHN BREAUX
.nited States Senator

15041 589-2511

Cumimer Lonmbamn
(1181 4878448



OMB NO. 31 300, Bxyares 897

199571996 IMS General Operating Support

O
(5]

Applicarion Form /
Frace Sheet
1. Applicant Museum
Aguarium of rhe Americas
2. Museum's Mailing Address
P,0. -Bax 4327
3. Ciy . 4. State 5. Zipcode
New Qrleans, L _a 70178
6. Museum Director
L, Ronald Torman - President, CEOQ
7. Business Telephone of Museum Director
304/ 8k}~ S119
8. Name of sponsoring institution/parent organization, if applicable (e.g.. municipality, stale, or university)
Aucdupon Instituce
9. Goveming contol of museum S
Selec: one of the following: 1. Federal 3. Municipal 5. Privale Noaprofit
2. State 4. County 6. Ower
10. Museum's discipline 01
Select one of the following:
01. Aquarium 05. Generai® 09. Nature Center
02. Arboretum/ 06. Histonc House/Site 10. Planetarium
Botanical Garden 07. Historv 11. Science/Technology
03. Ant 08. Nawral Hiswry/ 12 Zog
04. Children's/Youth Anthropology 13. Specializedt
{specify discipline)
11. Is the museum college or university controlled? YesD ) No @
12. Museum's esumated attendance for the calendar year prior (0 application. Lylaad (.8
13. Towl number of hours the museum was open (o the public for the calendar year prior 10 applicauon. 4.3
14. Year the museum was {irst open and exhibiung to the general public. 1990
15. Number of full-ume paid museum staff. 147 16. Number of part-time paid museum swaff. 96
17. Number of full-ume unpaid museum staff. = 18. Number of pan-ume unpaid museum staff. 37

19. Museum's non-Federal operating income for the most recendy completed

fiscal year [copy figure from bottom of Form A (pagc 3)] § 26,857,754 00
20. Museum's non-Federal operaing income for the second most recendy completed
fiscal year [copy figure {rom boitom of Form B (page S or page 7)) $ :4,378,'57 o0
21. Grant amount requested $ 112,500 00
L
* A museum Mlﬂ—c;ﬂlcc;(;x:;»rc:ﬂljng two or more disciplines (e g, art and t‘:‘l}>r1.‘i or & parent organizauon applymng for twn

more mmuseums of different dizeiplines



Application Form 1995/1996 IMS General Operating Support

—4
Financial Information Checklist
Check the appropriate boxes below to let the reviewers know which financial statements or forms (if

any) you have included with your application. If you are submitting audited financial statements,
check box A. or B. to indicate whether or not that information is required by IMS.

Required Optional
Audited Financial Statements AN or B)©

a 8

Form C (Valuing Non-Cash Contributions)— Required in FY 1996 applications

Form D (Request for Waiver of Separate Audit Requirement)

a a

Request for Deferral of Audit Requirement

D

Request {or Extension to Submit Audit

U

(None of the above)

9N

ey e
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[_‘ Orm A Front
Aost recently completed fiscal year

ievenue

arned Income
\dmissions
Yembership
“nrollment fees/Education Progams
‘useum store (gross) store is leased
“pod Service (gross)incl. catering
“ublicalions, reprodudiion rights, royalities
Spedal evenls
spedal exhibilion fees
nvestment income
nterest and Dividends
denlal incl. evening rentals
Auxiliary Activities

Specfy_

Miscellaneous/Other

Tolal earned income

Canlributed Income

Federal Granls (induding IMS)
Individual contributions
Foundalion granis

Corporale grants

State support

Local support dedicated tax
Parent Organization supporl
Oither non-Federal supporl

millage

Tota) contributed income
Total Earmed and Contributed Income
Total Viliee of Non Cash contnbulions
Subtetal

Total Federal grants

Fotal Non.Federal Operating Income

month/day _1/1

Name of Applicant_Aquarium cof the Amerlicas

Operaling
Restricted Non-restricted

$7,206,062
- 633,303

- 42,902

- 2,286,851

= 12034452
- 989,052

ST P I %

- 18.907.281

190,856 5.167.155

- 190,856 24,074,436

770,962
. 24,845,398
178,500 _ -

12,356

24,845,398

_to month/day, 12/11

199 4

Endowment
Reslicted Non-restricied

See Notes

Capital
Restricled  Non

See Notes

Read instructions in Part 3 before proceeding et

Tolal
restricled

1

1,034,452
989,052

6,710,697

18,710,281

_178,500

12,356

48,000

5,119,155

5,358,011
24,265,292

raoddng Suinaiad) (niauac) S 066

w104 uopoddy

\O
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Form A Bac

Name of Applicani___Aquarium of the Americas

Most recently completed liscal year  month/day 1/ 1 to onth/day, 12/31 199 4

Expenses

Salaties and Wages
Benelits
RentMortgage
Maintenance.  Utilities

Janitorial
Buildings/Grounds
Exhibitions
Collections/Exhibition
Liability

Insurance:

Museum store

Food service

Contractual
Spedity _Legal & Accounting
_Emergency HMedical Services

Professional Development
Travel
Printing and Publication
Telephone/Communication
Postage
“undraising/development
‘Aarketing , membershlp, sales
supplies
quipment
Nther Intecrest expense
Grant ‘expenses
Other (see Notes)
‘ublotal expenses
xcess (deficiency) of revenue
ransfers

und balance, beginning of year
1ind balance, end of year

Operalting Endowment Capital Total
Restricted Non-reslricted Restricted Non-restricted Restricled  MNon-restricled
- $3,818,913 o o B - $3,818,913
EnC 1,082,841 - - 1,082,841
- 159,677 159,677
- 639,934 - - ~ 639,934
- __ 60,037 _ 60,037
—_— . 415669 A 415,669
- 652,922 o - _ 652,922
- 208,997 o - o 208,997
- 616,025 B _ 616,025
- 67,059 67,059
= 11,765 - o 11,765
e 44,700 o 44,700
P, P, | 757 1 . 16,736
s 83,454 o 83,450
P 10,436 s 10,4306
- 1,062,130 - 1,037,130
= 32,761 32,16)
- 6,631 6,631
- 4,156,435 - 4,156,435
190,856 = ~ e an 190,856
- 3,966,169 3,966,169
150,856 17,118,290 . , 17,309,146
- 7,727,108 B 7.727,108

~ (4,000,000)

(4,000,000)

- 27,917,692 . 27,917,692
- $31,644,800 $31,644,800

wio . vornayddy

Loddng Sunnaadey (piauaty SIWL 96611566




0
s

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORM A-:

1. Endowment Fund: While the Aquarium of the Americas is the beneficiary of
several endowment funds, the Aquarium does not own or
manage these funds. Such funds are managed by a related
foundation.

2. Cepital Fund: While certain capital funds are maintained in restricted

accounts, the Aquarium does not maintain separate
accounting funds.

The Aquarium uses an enterprise concept wherein all
transactions and balances are accounted for in a single fund
group.

Capital funds spent and capital funds added are presented in
the Aquarium's audited financial statements on the statement
of cash flows in the "Investing” section.

Capital funds available to be spent are presented on the
balance sheet in the restricted assents section.
3. Addencum to presentation of expenses — FORM A BACK:
Cash Flows not included above:
Principal paid on outstanding bonds (31,475,000)

Reduction in payable to related organization (34,800,000)
Payments for projects’ design, construction and purchase of equipment (%$8,590,000)

4. Other Expenses — breakdown:

Amortization of debt costs ' $ 164,407
Depreciation expense 1,957,197
Administrative 47,101
Project writedowns 1 464

$ 3,966,169



A T e

._4 - =
Form B rion
Second mosl recently completed liscal year

Revenue

Earned Incoine

Admissions

Membership

Enrollment (ees/Education Progams

Museum slore (gross) store is leased

Food Senvice (Qross) incl. carering

Publications, reprodudiion rights, royalities

Speaqal events

Special extubition fees

Investiment income

Interest and Dividends

Remal tncl. evening rentals

Auxiliary Activilies
Specity

Miscellaneous/Other

Total earned income

Cantributed Income

Federal Grants (including IMS)

Individual contiibutions

Foundahon grants

Corporale granls

Stale support

Local support dedicated tax millage
Parent Qrganization suppont

(nher non-Federal support

ol contnbuted income

Jotal Earmed and Contributed Income
Fota! Vadoe of Non Cash contributions
Subtotal

Total Federal grants

Total Non-Federal Operating Income

b s

Name of Applicant Aquarium of che Americas

month/day 171 to month/day, 12/31 199 93

Read instructions in Part 3 belore proceeding

Operaling Endowment Capilal Total

Restricted Non-reslricted Restricted  Non-restricied Reslricted  Non-restricled
= $8.216.642 N T = $8,216,642
- 184,596 s 784,596

- 41,972 41,972

= 1,863,115 1,863,115
- . = 10,347 B 10,347
1,025,563 o - - 1,025,563
- 948,861 948,861

- 262,322 - 262,322

13,153,418

13,153,418

90,450 - - -
- 161,422 - 167,472
- 5,057,267 o 5,057,267
90,450 _5.224,739 _ -~ - 5,315,189
90,450 18,378,157 o o 18,468,607
90,450 18,378,157
90,450 -
0

S ————

js0ddng Sunpiad() 1012uan) SN 9661 /566

w04 uopddy
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FO 'l B Back

Name ol Applicant_Aquarium of the Americas i

Second most recenlly compleled liscal year

Expenses

Salaries and Wages
Benelits
Rent/Morlgage
Mainlenance: Utililies
Janitorial
Buildings/Grounds
Exhibitions
Coltections/Exhibition
Liability
Museum store
Food service
Contractual
Spealy_Legal & Accounting
Emergency Medical Services

Insurance’

Protessional Developmenl

Travel

Printing and Publication

Telephone/Communicalion

Poslage

Fundraising/development

Markeling ,» membership, sales

Supplies

Equipment

Other _Interest expense
Granct expenses o
Other (See Nores)

Subtotal expenses

Excess (deficiency) of revenue

Transters

Fund balance, beginning of year
Fund balance, end of year

month/day 1/1 1o monihiday, 12/31 19993

Operaling Endowment Capital Total
Restlricted Non-reslricied Restricled  Non-reslricted Resiricted  Non-restiicted
—= 3$1.965,4)2 = $3.963.412
= . 670,120 e 670,120
- 150,850 - 150, 850
= 244,922 - 844,922
- 49,015 - 49,015
- 262,186 ) - B 262,186
=~ . 1.,467.580 1,467,580
= T 221,750 221,750
- 590,463 - _ *— 590,463
- ___ 66,415 . 66,415
- 8,694 — - __ 8,694
= 3y.ss7 - 34557
- 23,227 - - B 23,227
- 90,895 e o on 90,895
- 2,497 B 2,497
- 1,156,522 o 1,156,522
- __70,562 . . o 70,562
- 3,370,147 o _ 3,370,147
90,458 = . R . 90,450
= . 5,893,007 » 5,895,669
90,450 19,941,480 o 20,031,930.
= ().563.320) o o o (1,563,323)
= (_900,000) _ - (__900,000)
30,381,015 30,381,015
- 27,917,692 27,917,692

e e e i st o

1oonddy 9

Wi .y 40!
o !

1oddng uipiad() [p13ua0) ST 966115661
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORM B:

1. Endowment Fund: While the Aquarium is the beneficiary of several endowment
funds, the Aquarium does not own or manage these funds.
Such funds are managed by a reiated foundation.

2. Capital Fund: While certain capital funds are maintained in restricted

accounts, the Aquarium does not maintain separate
accounting funds.

The Aquarium uses an enterprise concept wherein all
transactions are accounted for in a single fund group.

Capital funds spent and capital funds added are presented in
the Aquarium's audited financial statements on the statement
of cash flows in the "investing” section.

Capital funds available to be spent are presented on the
balance sheet in the restricted assets section.
3. Addendum to presentation of expenses — FORM B BACK:
Cash flows not included above: -
Principal paid on outstanding bonds - ($1,815,000)
Payments for projects’ design, construction, and purchese of equipment ($3,831,952)

4. Other expenses — breakdown:

Amortization of debt costs $ 164,791
Depreciation expense 1,801,939
Administrative ’ 428,939
Other-establish endowment 3,750,000
Project writedoems 750,000

$6,895,669
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199511996 IMS General Operating Support Application Form 9

Financial Statement Form C
Valuing Non-Cash Contributions

Name of applicant Aquarium of the Americas

ltems included on thus form shouid be supported in narrative section (X. Support of the application. Read insirucnons on
pages 3.7-3.9 and 4,14 before proceeding.

[ Contributed Services

Kind of Service (list by specific title in parentheses, Means of Valuing Value
provide number of individuals coniributing that service)

Curatorial/Collections (research, care of abjects, registration, exhibits)

Volynteers/Docents = 8,242 hoursx $.10.00 /hour B3 .42
() —  hoursxS—_— _ /hour
() hours x $— /hour
Educational/Interpretive(information services, docents, teachers, etc.)
Volunteers/Docents () 49,542 hoursx $ 10.00 /hour 490,542
() hoursx$__ /hour
() hours xS /hour
Administrative/Clencal/Maintenance (membership, office, routine maintenance, etc.)
e ___ hoursx$ /hour
) hours x $ __/hour
) __ hoursx$_ ____ /hour

¢

Professional (legal, accounting, fundraising, managsment. data processing, etc.)
(Do not include the vaiue of normal board service)

[ - hours®mS- . ./hour
ﬁ_J_l. _— hoursx$______ /hour
£ . hoursx$S________ ‘’hour e
Total Contributed Services * $577,962
LContribute«;i Materials
Major Items or Type of Materials (identify clearly)  Means of Valuing Value
(Do not include the value of objects donated to the collection)
Contribucted Public Serwvice 3 -
Announcements Air Time S 68,000
Contribuced Advercising Al Time S100.000
Contributed Catering Per Servin S 25,000
S
S

Total Contributed Materials $193,000
rConrributed Rental Allowances

Type of Facility or Equipment (list by type} Means of Valuing Value
Total Contributed Rental Allowances $
Fotal value non-cosh contributions [services, matenals, and rental allowances) $ 770,982 .

S Umier Uy amount ander “Total Vidue of Son Cadi Contribitions™ on D incacial Stotement Form A,
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199511996 IMS General Operating Suppori Application Form 1/

Statement of Purpose/Mission Statement
Read insinucnons on pages 2.6 and 4./ before proceeding.

._ (;vim'te-rhgng which
ment,must.be approved |

Whar is the museum's statement of purpose/mission statement?

The Aquarium of the Americas is operated by the Audubon Institute, Inc., a not-for-profit corporation
responsible for the management of a family of affiliated and mutually supportive facilities dedicated to
nature including: Audubon Park, Audubon Zoological Garden, Woldenberg Riverfront Park, Entergy
DMAXe Theatre, Freeport-McMoRan Audubon Species Survival Center, Audubon Center for Research of
Endangered Species, Louisiana Nature Center, and the Audubon Wilderness Park. These facilities share
the following mission:

= A Purpose =
Celebrating life through nature

= A Vision =
Creating a world-class family of museums and parks dedicated to nature

* A Mission #
Exhibiting the diversity of wildlife

Preserving native Louisiana habitat
Educating our diverse audience about fhe natural world
Fostering a balanced approach to conservation with a focus on wildlife
Enhancing the care and survival of wildlife through research
Providing opportunities for recreation in natural settings
Operating a financially self-sufficient collection of facilities

Weaving entertainment value throughout the visitor experience

e Aquarium of the American received necreditation by the Association of Zoos and Aquarinms in |

L B

e e o e e
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L2 soplication Form 199511990 IMS General Operaiing Support

History

Provide & brief historical perspective of the museum as it relates tv its current operations.

September 1990 — "AQUARIUM OF THE AMERICAS OPENS TO RECORD BREAKING CROWDS!”

September 1995 — "OVER 7 MILLION INDIVIDUALS HAVE ENJOYED THE WONDERS OF THE DEEP....”

The timeline for the Aquariim of the Americas finds its foundation in the successful renaissance of its sister
facility — Audubon Zoological Garden. A new facility in 1930, the Aquarium of the Americas was the result of years of
hard work by the Audubon Institute, Inc., a not-for-profit corporation. Formerly Friends of the Zoo, Inc, this group was
instrumental in the renovation of the Audubon Zoo, known not only for a turn-around in animal care, natural habitat
exhibits, and innovative educational programs, but for the move from total dependency on local government funds to
wtal self-sufficiency. The organization had the vision to see the value of a first-class zoo to the city (specifically to the
city's education base) and to tourism (a major New Orleans’ industry). Not content to rest on past accomplishments, the
management of the Audubon Institute, in partial fulfillment of its goal to establish and manage a family of museums
dedicated to the natural sciences, began (in 1985) the process of planning, seeking funding for, and building the
Aquarium of the Americas

The $50 million projected cost of the Aquarium of the Americas and the surrounding Woldenberg Riverfront
Park was broken down into $33 million for the building, $7 million for the Park, and $10 million for an endowment.
One of the first steps in the Aquarium's capital campaign came in 1986 when over 70% of the voters of New Orleans
cast a "yes” vote (an astounding feat in a city that rarely votes for new taxes!) for a millage to service $25 million in
bonds. (Approximately $5 million is collected annually from the tax millage.) Additional! endorsement rolled in from the
business community, which predicted that an aquarium's presence would boost hotel occupancy rates and tourist
expenditures, enhancing rather than detracting from revenues for existing businesses; and most importantly, the project
would spur commercial development in the downtown district. By opening day, more than $19 million had been raised
Tom the private sector.

A consortium of local architects, the Bienville Group, was formed for the specific purpose of designing the
Aquarium, with original exhibitry design by Bios, Inc., of Seattle. During the months of construction and fund raising,
Jonn Hewdtt (Sr. V.P. for Eusbandry) came on board in 1987 to act as an advisor throughout the design process,
werking in collaboradion with the exnibitry designers © avoid problems, to generate collection lists, and ‘¢ assembie a
staf of curators w test the elaborate Sltration systems and tanks as the completion date neared. A veteran of the
Steinhardt Aquarium, Hewitt also began to collect the approximately 15,000 necessary enimals from specialized
breeders and farmers, 88 well as aguariums across the country. Collection acquisition trips also took place. Hewitt's
goal was to have the Aquarium fully stocked when it openec, so as not to disappoint the first-day visitors.

The 2 rivm of the Americas opened Laocr Day weekerd, 1890, with e citywide celetration, international
media coverage, and an opening weekend crowd of 38,860 which broke all records for aquariums everywhere. Its five
vears of operation have successfully provided the area with a much-needed venue for marine conservation, offering
informal science education and research as well as providing a family destination for the city's tourist market. In
rezlining its goal o be an educational facility, the Aquarium continues not only tc serve as a majer resource for loce!
school systems, but to educate the public-at-large as well. Cpen enrollment programs, many of which did not exast until
the winter of 1992, exploded in 1993 and continue to grow in number, providing the opportunity for thousands of
individuals o participate in activities. Schooner Adventure; Birds, Biking, and Beyous; Incredibie Invertebrates;

Oh, Manctee; Seajood Cooking Course, and Endangered Species Course are but a few of the programs availaole to
all ages (estimated annual impact: 5,000 individuals). Additionally, the Aquarium exhibitry has not remained static,

but reflects an ever evolving effort to educate the public of the Aquarium's conservation mission. New interactive
aphics and exhubits have been placed throughout the facility, with changing mini-exhibits reflecting on-going research
Torts. The Education and Husbandry departments (working in conjunction with the Audubon Institute's Design &
Lubitry department) produced an outstanding new exhibit — SHAREKS! — featuring more than 100 sharks and rays,
ding a dozen or more species never before displayed at the Aquarium of the Americas. The exhibit is enhanced by
shows, innovative hands-on exhibits, and other educational programs designed to give the public a better
appreciation of these notorious sea creatures.

Building on its success in achieving its original goals, the Aquarium of tho Americas broke ground for Phase [
in Spring of 1994, The expansion increased the overall suze of the facility from 110,000 square feet to over 170,000
feet. The Entergy IMAXe Theatre premiered in October 1995, und o Chunging Exhubits Gallery is set Lo open

1296, providing an excellent compiement w the visilor's overall Aquarium experience. The Living Sea, a co-
' with MacGillivray Freeman Films, 1 the current feature. With an audience potentind of over 500,000 for

sar, the new theater will gigni shed eapability for seld-

ficantly strengthen the Auds

n lnstitute's esll

the expunsio 1g the Changing
wnces und daversifies the cducutional progrims and the recrentionua! valoe the
noinstitute nnd the Aquienum of the Amenicns have w niTer to the public

i nverall uperation

gh earned income. More importa
Laadlery, substantially
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Application Narrative

1. Audience

1. Who is the museum's audience? 2. What is the museum's schedule for public visitation and
other activities? What are the levels of public participation in the services the museum provides?

Being a port city, New Orleans benefits from a great cultural diversity among its residents, as well as its
“sitors, who come from around the world ‘o enjoy the unique architecture, cuisine, music, and numerous festival
wactions the city has to offer. Because the metro population of 1.2 million is heavily outweighed by an annual tourist
isitation of 9 million individuals, and because of the Aquarium's prime location in downtown New Orleans, visitors
-om outside the metropolitan area compnse the mujority of Aguarium attendance. Of the 1.1 million Aquarium
asitors in 1985, B0% were from outside a 100-mile radiuvs. However, those 200,000 who were local visitors (within the
.00-mile radius) comprise close to 20% of the metro area population Visitors are mostly adults aged 2549,
(pproximately split between male and female. Since only 16% of the tourists visiting New Orleans are travelling as
art of a family, adult attendance is two to three times that of children. However, local visitors are much more likely
o make the Aquarium a family outing, bringing children

The Aquarium is in easy walldng distance of 19,000 hotel rooms in the Central Business District and the
dstoric French Quarter. Convenient parking facilities and public transportation link it to the entire metropolitan area
nd the interstate highway system.

From Labor Day to Memorial Day, the facility is open 9:30 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., Sunday through Thursday; and
:30 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. on Friday and Saturday. Higher tourist visitation and longer days in the summer months
ccount for 9:30 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. hours, Sunday through Friday; with hours on Saturday from 9:30 am. t0 9:00 p.m.
he Aquarium is open 363 days each year, closing only on Christmas Day and Mardi Gras. Current admission fees are
10.50 for adulis; $8.00 for senior citizens; and $5.00 for children. Showtimes for Entergy IMAX Theatre are hourly
om 10:00 am. to 8:00 p.m daily. IMAYX admission is $6.50 for adults; $4.50 for children; $5.50 for senior citizens,
‘ombingtion Aquarium/IMATX rates are available. Additions] museum servicee and activities planned to reach our
sembers, a5 well as other family and civic groups, require a separate admission fee.

The first four months of operation saw spectacular results, achieving an attendance of over 830,00C visitors —
suzlling the attendasice projectea for the entire first year and breelking all previous U.S. aquarium attendance records.
iy 1593, headlines touted¢ "FIVE MILLIONTH VISITOR ENTERS AQUARIUM OF THE AMERICAS — one month
2fore the facility's third anniversary and three years before forecasters predicted” All-time attendance from opening day
» December 31, 1995, totaled 7,482,066. Projected attendance for 1996 is 1,150,000.

The Aquarium is accessible to people with disabilities — both visitors and sta. In fact, the philosophy of
:cessibility was an integral part of the design planning even before the first drawing was completed. The Commitzee
r Special Populations met with project designers sixteen hours per month and held the first official "walk-through”
hen the building was but a skeleton. The facility is in total compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act
\DA), and was featured in the American Association of Museums' publication, The Accessibie Museum. In addition, a
raille visitor's gwde, audio tapes, end recorders are available at no additionel charge, and wheelchairs are available
rrent. To ensure that special audiences can experience the IMAX a rear view closedcaption system for the hearing
apaired is aveilable upon request, and the last row of seating is removable 1o allow wheelchair access.

As construction neared completion in the summer of 1990, the wave of "aquarium fever™ spread throughout the
More than 28,000 families became Friends of the Aquarium, with 7,200 of those joining as Charter Members.
aere gre approximately 20 members<only events held at the Aquarium throughout the year. These events provide a
ecial behind-the-scenes, personal contact with the husbandry staff, and an opportunity for members to reinforce their
swnership” in the Aquarium. Member-exclusive educational offerings including children's weekend classes such as
{eyful Penguins or Amazning Adeptations; off-site trips or movie nights for family groups; and adult programs including
uba dive tmips. Open enrollment education programs give both members and non-members & chance to participate.
xamples of activities include: Recycladle Arts & Crafts, Aquerium Photography, and Breakfast with Fishes. Group
ograms targeted to specific community audiences such ag Boy/Girl Scouts offer a "patch program”™ that incorporates
ultiple activities geared townrd the naturnl sciences and culminates in a sleepover — Sharks in the Dark

Specinl admission rates make the Aquanum’s vaduable educationn! experience available to financinlly

24

4 -

sndvantaged inner-aity school groups, During 1995 78 618 students requested the speaial rate. Within the walls of
¢ ducational programmung reaches a total of approxdmately 300,000 individuai visitors yearly. Dai

World of Wa

vities include erght Whitney

'r gtage productions; four Gulf of Mexico dive presentations:

g8 uccompnr ationil pres

v ed iona; shark feedings; and "Gallery Chats”™ with Hushandry
Fducntion stafT members. Times {or these events are scheduled to rench peak visitation from students duri
t visitntion on weekends and holidnys  In addition, the Aquarium’s

s outstnnding volunteer

» NTIAWOTr vkl
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1. Audience (continued)

Additionally, the Education Department sponsors orientation workshops at no charge for area teachers. Grade-
appropriate activities for the classroom as well as for the Aquarium vigit are offered to ensure a positive learning
expenence. In its efforts to enhance interest and achievement in science within the city, the education staff has a
swong track record for developing programs that immerse children in stimulating natural environments that invite
scientific inquiry and discovery. In August 1993, the Howard Hughes Medical Institute awarded funding to the
Audubon Institute for the design and implementation of an innovative after-school science program for fifth graders
from inner<ity schools. This program, FUN-SCIENCE!, takes place at both the Aquarium and the Audubon Zoo, and
serves approximately 75 students each year.

The Aquarium of the Americas' outreach vehicle, the AquaVan, travels to schools and public day
camps/recreation centers in a seven-parish area, bringing the Aquarium to students who would not have the opportunity
to visit the facility. Staffed by a specially trained marine educator and an assistant instructor or college intern, the
AquaVan program is geared toward early childhood education (Grades pre-K through 6) and focuses on Chapter I
schools serving financially disadvantaged, at-risk students. The AquaVan visits these schools four days of the week,
then visits suburban and private schools on the remaining day. (1995 outreach. total: 8,000+ individuals) On weekends,
the AquaVan reaches tens of thousands of families by participating in regional public events with an environmental or
educationa! theme, e.g., Back to the Beach, the Martin Luther King, Jr. Birthday Parade; Earth Day; Celebrate the Gulf,
and the Louisiana Swamp Festival at the Audubon Zoo. While the AquaVan usually serves schools within one and one
half hours' driving distance of the city, it also travels throughout southern Louisiana for three- to four-day periods.

Each year, the Aquarium Marketing/Special Events staff sponsors events designed to draw new audiences to the
nverfront and the Aquarium venue. These are staged in Woldenberg Riverfront Park and/or the Aquarium's Entry
rlaza and are open to the public without charge. Usually, these include children's activities and educational
presentations about marine life and conservation. In 1995, the event calendar included presenting the Zulu Festival, an
African-American event tied to the city's Mardi Gras activities; a Fourth of July fireworks display; a Christmas holiday
cromotion focusing on children and increesing awareness of the attached Entergy IMAX Theatre; and sponsorship of the
Children’s Village for the city-wide French Quarter Festival. For the Aquarium's 5th Birthday Celebration many
acuvities were planned for locel families, including free activities for children in the entrance plaza and Woldenberg
fuverfront Park and discounted admission prices to the Aquarium

Woridng closely with the scheduling needs of all other departments, the Marketing/Sales Department actively
sells the facility to the hospitality industry as a tourist destination and convention event location. Passes are provided
to concierges, travel agents, tour group operators, and other people who "influence” tourist choices. The Sales staff is
responsible for organizing private events staged within the facilities, many of which are categorized as “parties” by the
host organization; however, these events are carefully arranged to assure that visitors see exactly what the Aquarium
has to offer. This is done by staging all events to flow through the various exhibits of the facility. Within the past
year, 112 of these events were beld, attracting approximately 50,000 individuals. Through activities specifically related
to the tour and travel business (and with the advice of a tour and travel expert), the Aquarium is targeting in 1996
three under-represented audiences for aquariums in general: African-American tourists, gay/lesbian travellers, and
senior citizens. (The Institute has its own "in-house” catering department that services these events, providing an
additional source of revenue for its facilities.)

The Aquarium of the Americas serves as a focal point and catalyst for those individuals and groupe supporting
conservation and environmental issues, particularly those addressing the loss of wetlands through coastal erosion and
the resultant loss of wildlife, food sources, and related industries. This is evident in the research partnerships
undertaken by the Husbandry staff as well as in the activities of the Volunteer Department.

The Aquarium's attendance is appropriate to its audience and its activities because it provides something of
interest to every population segment, from the casual visitor to the most informed marine specialist. Attempts in
Zesigrung exhibits have been successful and experiences diverse enough to capture all population segments, with
graphics, interactives, and a wide diversity of exhibitry. (Atlendance numbers listed below include general admission
ticket sales totals and after-hour events sponsored by Membership or sold by the Sales Department.)

1984 17 332,009 340,398 209,322
Jan. « Mar Apr. - Jung July - Sept. Oct. - Dec.
228061  292.58¢ 306911 214,629 2. 154,43
Jan - Mar. Apr. - June July - Sept. Oct. - Dxec. Total for 54 & "95

dor FY 96 appiicanty)
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II. Collections

1. What are the museum's collections? 2. What is the significance of the collections (o the
museum's communities and constituents?

The Agquarium of the Americas highlights the aquatic treasures of the Western Hemisphere through re-creations
North and South American saltweter and freshwater habitats. These exhibit environments provide the visitor an
ithentic, up—<lose experience with the animals. Fifty-four aquatic displays showcase the Aquarium's diverse collection
fresnwater fish, marine fish and invertebrates, birds, reptiles, terrestrial and aquatic plants, and amphibians. The
dimal inventory includes 459 species: 121 freshwater fish; 192 marine fish; 97 invertebrates; 9 reptiles; 17 amphibians;
d 24 birds. There are a total of 3,977 specimens: 2,100 freshwater fish; 1,134 marine figsh; 500 invertebrates; 25
ptiles; 150 emphibians; and 68 birds. Four reptile species are listed as endangered or threatened: the Kemp's ridley
2 turtle, loggerhead turtle, green turtle, and hawksbill turtle. At any one time, approximately 5% of the collection is
ed for education tactiles, with a total of 20% being used in shows, presentations, and narrations. Approximately 99%
all animals are on display; with 1% off display for breeding or for health purposes.

The Husbandry Department Resource Library, with 300 books, 22 video tapes, and 27 artifacts, is upgraded and
aintained by the Husbandry staff. The library is used by volunteers and staff from the Aquarium's sister facilities.

Securing the collection to be exhibited was 8 monumental task which took years of planning and preparation.

i early as 1989, a 16,000 sq. ft. warehpuse suitable for use as a quarantine and "pre-opening” holding facility was
1sed, with seruor husbandry staff designing, fabricating, and installing more than 100 holding vessels ranging in size
v forty gallons to 50,000 gallons. Six separate life support systems were developed, complete with particulate filters,
‘Vdry biological filters, protein skimmers, supplemental gerators, and heating and chilling units. "This Side Up,” &
ft. Boston Whaler and a high-tech 1,000 gallon fish transport unit, were instrumental in the collecting process. Pre.
2ning acquisition trips included expeditions to Florida, Texas, and Delaware, and hundreds of shorter trips to Venice,
codrie, and other locations on the Louisiana coast. Expeditions of this type are critical to the operation of a major
uarjum as over 85% of the figh on display in the Aquarium of the Americag, (and virtually 100% of the larger fish,
irks and rays) came from collection trips.

In building the Aquarium of the Americas' collection, the ste sought to assemble educational displays that
vld create & greater public awareness of, and appreciztion for, our ragile living resources while demonstrating the
portance and the need for inteiligen: management of these same resources, both now and in the future. Maintaining
: collection is a continual process requiring trading with other aquariums and working with commercial breeders, as
{1 &s gequisition ips. The new Changing Ezhibits Gallery, opening in March 1996, will require collection trips not
ty for the first exhibit, but also for the future. .

Captive breeding programs are also a key to the supply of exhibition animals. To date,-the husbandry teem has
rcesafully bred seahorses, catsharks, clown fish, African penguins, freshwater stingrays, and dart poison frogs. In
Allment of its conservation mission, the Husbandry Department constantly maintains a network of aquatic
:losures and life-support systems to sustain the reproduction cycies of an array of animals, from dart poison frogs to
all snarks. The development of an off-site warehouse has allowed significant expansion of the breeding programs and
: provided quarantine and holding space for larger animalg as well. As the Aquarium's population of large exhibit
ks mature, the warehouse will allow a long-term breeding plan for these sharks to be implemented. The breeding
grams will also expand as new species are raised in preparation for display in the Changing Exhibits Gallery in
rch. Additionally, the warehouse will continue to provide support for research projects undertaken by the
sbandry staff,

Woldenberg Riverfront Park, the "created” green gpace surrounding the Aqusrium of the Americas, is an
mplary urban park providing a much needed recreational spot for the immediate neighborhood, and the city as a
sle. In the past, the area served as an active port and was lined with derelict concrete wharves and the concrete

tions that had supported warehouses and ghed structures, Therefore, the design strategy was to create a park
. lightweight soil) on wp of the foundations of the past. Now, densely planted groves of native and introduced trees,
vell as shrubs, outline a large, semi-elliptical lawn. With a twenty-foot-wide brick and blue-stone promenade lining
water's edge, o performance pavilion, and a riverboat landing as added amenities, the Park affords vast vistas for
ving the maritime activity of the Mississippi River or just relaxing.

Upholding a city tradition of art for public enjoyment, Woldenberg Riverfront Park and the Aquarium's entry
‘3 contain several outstanding sculptures by local artists, many of whom have international reputations in the art
ld. "Ucean Song.” o stainless steel kinetic work by John Scott, and Ida Kohlmeyer's "Aquatic Colonnade™ — 20
dly painted abstract metal pieces sitting atop concrete columns — are but two of the four major pieces placed there.

Aol
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II. Collections (continued)

An additional piece by Keith Sonnier, funded in part by the Arts Council of New Orleans' One Percent for Art program,
is an electrifying neon marker at the streetcar stop located at one of the Park's entrances. The Aquarium's interior is
the venue for a collection of two dozen paintings, prints, drawings, pottery pieces, and bas-relief sculptures that portray
Lowsiana's cultural heritage or interpretations of aquatic life. At the time of construction, the Aquarium's budget of
$400,000 for art constituted the largest public art venture ever undertaken in the state of Louisiana.

g o .
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0. Exhibitions
1. What is the museum's exhibition philosophy? 2. What are the museum's exhibition? 3. How are
the exhivitions developed and evaluated? 4. What are the museum's interpretation techniques?

The Aquarium of the Americas ig, first and foremost, an educational facility. By presenting its visitors with a
2w of aquatic life that many have never seen in its natural setting, the Aquarium of the Americas hopes to make the
blic aware of the beauty and complexity of the underwater world and create an understanding that will result in an
titude of increased respect for this delicate ecosystern. The exhibit path guides Aquarium visitors through five
itinct groupings on two floor levels: 1) the Freeport-McMoRan Caribbean Reef, 2) the Burrus Amazon Rainforest,
the Living In Water Gallery, 4) the LL&F Mississippi River Delta, and 5) the Gulf of Mexico exhibit.

The adventure begins in the Freeport-McMbRan Caribbean Reef, an exhibit that features an acrylic funnel,
ven feet below the water's surface, which allows visitors to walk through the 132,000-gallon aquatic habitat and be
rrounded by schools of rays, jack fish, angelfigh, sea turtles, sturgeon fish and eels. Smaller exhibits in this area
owcase live Caribbean corals, seahorses, and jawfish in enclosures of varying sizes and shapes. The Burrus Amazon
dnforest is a two-tiered exhibit lushly planted with exotic foliage, including flowering orchids which are replaced
1en blooming is over so that flowering specimens are always on exhibit. In the aquatic enclosures, visitors view rare
shwater stingrays as well as colorful dart-poison frogs. Free-flying and perched rainforest birds add dashes of color
d authentic sound to the visitor experience. Exiting the Rainforest exhibit, the Aquarium journey stops off for & visit
a colony of black-footed penguins. Their naturalistic habitat is made up of nest boxes recessed into rock work, a
2ach,” and 4,000 gallons of saltwater.

The second-floor Living In Water Gallery has no geographic theme, but explores the unique adaptive traits that
ve evolved in aquatic creatures. Short video presentations and educational graphics investigate streamlining of form,
at conservation; respiration; vision; and uses of mechanisms for generating light, sound, and defense. In the summer
1995, a new exhibit of Pacific coral featuring soft and stony corals and other invertebrates (mushroom polyps,

-gance coral, hammer coral, and giant clams) was added to this area.

The tour continues to wind its way through the facility, stepping briefly for a video presentation on preserving
: disappearing wetiands. This serves as is 2 natural introduction to the LL&E Missisgippi River Delia exhibit where
are white (leucistic) alligator, prehustoric paddlefish, and longnose gar fish are among the Louisiana native species
piayed. Artifacts of life along the Mississippi inciude an artificiel pier and a Cajun "fshing camp” (cabin) with
derwater displays of endangered lake sturgeon and more. The exhibit is heavily planted and is accented by a large
/ window overicoking the magnificent Mississippi River, which flows a few yards outside the Aquarium's door.

At the Aquarium of the Americas, exhibition components redefine the urban experience by creating a unique
~mony of place and purpose between natural and man-made environments. Thie is made apparent in the Gulf of
:xico exhibit, where ominous aqusatic species prow! the shadows of a one-quarter-scale oil rig, lustrating the colorful
1 complex ecosystem of & man-made reef. Large sand tiger sharks, tarpons, a 12-foot sawfish, groupers, redfish, end
ee species of sea turtles, along with the schedule of educational presentations, make this one of our most popular
ubits. In addition to explaining the interaction between nature and the technology of the Gulf's offghore petroleum
ustry, graphics within the area further inform the visitor of the seafood industry that prospers in the Gulf's waters.

Within the past five years, changes have been incorporated into Aquarium exhibits and additions have been
de to educational offerings in an effort to provide the very best in exciting scientific adventuree for the visitor, to
lress the conservation mission, or to present results of research undertaken by the Aquarium's Husbandry staff.

example, Jewels of the Amazon, & new display in the Burrus Tropical Rainforest, showcases lesser known but
:inating species such as dart poison frogs, walking toads, bumblebee dart frog, and an intriguing bird-eating spider.
3 species of brightly-colored dart poison frogs, discovered in Costa Rica by Ian Hiler, the Aquarium's Senior Curator
‘resh Water Exhibitry, are high points of the exhibit.

The Aquarium asdded to the visitor experience with the opening of SHAREKSI — a senes of new and modified
ibits designed to introduce the public to the diverse and widely misunderstood world of sharks. There are
roximately 30 "shark stops” located throughout the facility. Educational graphics, artifacts, and interactive
ibitry focusing an shark conservation, the plight of the species. and shark myths are also in place. A five foct-long
chabdle model of a great white shark hangs adjacent to an untouchcble life-sized (28') model of & whale ghark, (Staff
rvation notes that SHARKSI graphics have extremely high readership and visitors show increased interaction with
2rs in their group when viewing this area.) A 15,000 gallon habitat displaying tropical sharks provides yet another
ue for o greatly expanded schedule of dive presentations.
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1. Exhibitions (continued)

Located just a few steps away from Tropical Sharks, the Whitney World of Water stage presents eight 15- to 20-
minute shows daily, using entertaining formats to educate over 125,000 visitors each year. Covering the times when
Aquarium sttendance is heaviest, the stage offers a dramatic setting for a variety of interpretive presentations which
focus on global environmental concerns.

Historically, aquarium exhibitry designs have been driven by the architecture, or often designed as “art
museums” with tanks "hanging” on the wall — an artifact to see, not touch. The Design and Exhibitry staff, as well as
out-of-house evalustors have been constantly (since opening day) evaluating the visitor gnd the staff Aquarium
experience. The original exhibit graphics and interpretation panels were designed by BIOS, Inc., of Seattle, workdng
with 2 seasoned writer for OCEANS magazine and delivering the tone of the "friendly naturalist™ to appeal to both
adults and children But the results of exit surveys indicated that the public tired of reading complex explanations and
grew weary midway through the Aquarium visiting experience. The Degign and Exhibitry staff, with survey results in
hand, addressed responses such as: “I've seen it once! Why should I come back?", and "It (the ambience) was
cold.. sterile...will it ever change?”, as well as "It was great...] want more!” And "more” is what they are getting — only
better each time they visit.

Cwently, the architectural ambience is being warmed through new lighting, the traffic flow is changing,
seating is shifting, music is becoming “friendlier”, and more interaction with staff and volunteers is taldng place so that
the visitor will have peaks and valleys in every aspect of the Aquarium experience — sights, sounds, gnd learning.
Continuing to explore exactly what draws people into an exhibit, and how they learn once they are there, the staff made
dramatic changes in the original design concept. The Shark Touch Pool is a prime example. It was at this point in the
journey through the Aquarium that the public literally fell asleep! In order to wake them up again, bright lights,
bubble machines, and cartoon-like fish were added to announce the area. Interactive graphics were aimed at the child,
and the area was made ADA-friendly with more people-to-people interaction. Additionally, lighting and music added to
a more theetrical spece — the public reactdon has been sverwhelming. Visitors are now wide-awake and reading
graphics again; interacting with the volunteers more; sharing more with their children; and, in the end, becoming more
aware of the conservation message that is so much a part of the Audubon Institute's and the Aquarium of the Americas'
snared mission. )

To interpret the collection and exhibits, the Aquarium corps of 371 outstanding volunteer Naturalists are
appointed to various duties throughout the facility. Sharing the common purpose of "celebrating life through nature,”
Neturalists staff the Touchpool, AquaCarts, or bio-fact stations or assist the Education Department in delivering a
varied schedule of programs. It is the Naturalists' goal to not only present knowledge of how to identify a particular
fish, but to share an anecdote in such a way that visitors will take the information home, remember it, pass it on te
others, and act as responsible stewards of the world around them As mentioned previously, a Braille visitor's gude,
audio tapes, and recorders, as well as Spanish lenguage visitor guides are available to assure that the Aquarium's
diverse sudience is fully served Translations toc other foreign languages are currently underway.

On the horizon is the opening of an 11,000 sq. ft. Changing Exhibits Gallery, located in Phase I of the
Aquarium of the Americas. The entrance is positioned between the Living in Water Gallery and the LIL&FE Mississippi
River Delta exhibit so that the gallery and its exhibitry secome part of the total Aquarium journey, This flexible space
will allow the Audubon Institute to address emerging environmental and conservation issues by featuring & continually

rotating schedule of new exhibitions from around the country, as well as in-house presentations. The first exhibit
upc"ung March 1996) will be Mating Games — The Reproductive Pentathlon. Although the original exhibition was
d by the Monterey Bay Aquarium, the Aquarium of the Americas' interpretation will include changes in title,

¢s, and exhibit elements to enhance the appeal for its family visitors while also maintuining an appeal to tourisis.
These changes are the result of front-end evaluation conducted by Jefl Heywood of People, Places & Design Research.

s e ey 5
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IV. Management and Care
A. Collections

1. What are the museum’s policies and practices for the responsible management of collections? 2.
How are the collections used? 3. What are the museurn's practices jor the care and conservation of
collecrions? 4. What is the extent, purpose and use of research by siaff, visitors and scholars?

The Agquarium's acquisition policies are in accordance with the provisions of the Association of Zoos and
‘uariurns' Code of Professional Ethics. Our acquisitions and de-acquisitions are determined by the Audubon
titute/Aquarium of the Americas' Mission Statement and the husbandry needs of the facility,. We document all
‘essions ancd de-accessions to our collections, make regular animal inventories of aquatic exhibits, maintain detailed
‘ords of mortalities and pathology results, keep detailed feeding records for individually recognizable animals, and
2p extensive water quality records for all aquatic exhibits. Records for the husbandry collection are kept in fireproof
’inets in the Husbandry office, with a water quality records on file in the laboratory.

Collections are used to achieve four objectives: education, conservation, research, and recreation. As stated,
oroxmately 99% of all animals are on display; 1% may be held off display for breeding or for health purposes.

The Education Department uses approximately 5% of the collection for educational "hands-on" presentations,

d a total of 20% of the collection is used in shows, presentations, and narrations to educate as we entertain For
imple, there are currently 12 nurse gherk pups in use for the Touchpool. Volunteer Naruralists staff this educational
1ue where the visitors (young and old) delight in "petting” a shark This is a perfect opportunity for the Naturaiist to
rst a few more bubbles on the shark myth and to encourage visitors to be on the lookout for the many different

wrks displayed throughout the facility, Sea cucumber, urchins, and star fish, as well as horseshoe and hermit crabs

: used for the AquaCart stationed in the Living in Water Gallery. As a result of this exchange, visitors soon learn

t how invertebrates "make a living.” Future educational use of the collection will include the installation of two
I-down stations within the Caribbean and Mississippi exhibits to tie bio-facts such as mermaid's purses or preserved
Terfish (now available in the Touchpool) more closely to their "point of origin.”

The Husbandry Department staff (26 full-time employees) administer the care and conservation of the animal
lection under the direction of the Senior Vice-President/Director of Aquarium Husbandry. A veterinarian (20 hours
- week) makes rounds, consults with squarists and curatorial staff, and responds to emergency calls. The husbandry
ff is responsible for all aspects of animal care, exhibit maintenance, animal acquisition, and record-keeping.
sbandry department personnel monitor animal heaith 365 deys a year and are present whenever the Aquarium is
m for reguiarly scheduled visiHing hours or for after-hour events scheduled by the education, membership, or sales
»artments.

New animals are quarantined and examined, and lab screening tests appropriate for the-species are utilized
s collection's avian species’ records are catalogued and permensantly maintained through utilization of the
ernational Species Inventory System (ISIS). A well equipped lab and trained water quality technicians allow for
ansive tests w be performed on a daily basis and provide prompt corrective response if water chemistry parameters

other than normal.

As with all land-locked aquariums, or those not located on pristine saltwater shorelines, the Aquariam of the
wericas knows that water is the most crucial ingredient in the complex physical and mechanical workings of the
dity. The task of producing the right water is undertaken by the husbandry staff in order to overcome the
ullarities of the New Orleans water supply (drawn mostly from the Mississippi River after it has run thousands of
es southward, picking up debris, wastes, and pollutants). Additionally, the city's Water Board adds numerous
micals which drastically alter the water's composition and pH. The result is an alkaline pH, large quantities of
Jrine, ammonia, manganese, and aluminum in the normal tap water.

Three times a year, stafl synthetically re<reates the primordial soup of natural seawater. Two 100,000 gallon
‘age vaults lay beneath the Aquarium and hold saltwater for all cold and warm water creatures. This mix is later
iified as needed for brackish low-salt environments, as well as high salinity conditions. Making water for freshwater
.. 8 simpler process, involves filtering, ozonating, and treating the water with Amquel. The husbandry stafl prepares
ew batch of resh water esch week in another 30,000 gallon underground vault equipped with a similar pumping and
ribution system. To simulate the Central American habitats of the dart poison frogs on display, rainwater is
ected and doctored with peat. The 500-gallon AquaVan is also a heavy user of prepared water, although 1t now has
own recycling system.

In 1998, 8 new exhibit of Peeific coral was added to the Aquarium visitor experience. The display features soft

stony corals and other invertebrates — mushroom polyps, elegance coral, hammer coral and giant zlams — and 1s

of the most challenging dispiays to maintain because of the careful attention to temperature, water currents, and
wting requured. The exhibit loses anywhere from 50 to 80 gaollons of water o week just Lo LVDpOI'lI’l"T‘: therefore, the
up and the exhibit must be topped off with fresh or sterile water to balance it out and keep the sn
vel
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IV. Management and Care (continued)

Conservation objectives are met through captive breeding of selected species. In 1992, (under permits from state
angd federal agencies), Aquarium stafl assumed the administration and coordination of the Louigiana Sea Turtle Salvage
and Stranding Netwark from the Louisiana Universities Marine Consortium. The Aquarium serves as a conduit for
strending information, and the staff has rehabilitated and released back into the ocean eight specimens of three species
of sea turtles. An additional two turtles are currently-undergoing rehabilitation. This past summer, the curator
responsible for the project spent one week at Rancho Nuevo in Mexdco observing and assisting in kemp's Ridley sea
turtle conservation efforts undertaken there. Results of all sea turtle research will be incorporated into the visitor
experience when a new exhibit (currently in the planning stage) opens featuring juvenile sea turtles, interactive
graphics with vital statistics for each turtle, interactive video monitors showcasing behind-the-scenes rescuers and
researchers at work, a real TED (Turtle Excluder Device), and a small stage for educational presentations. Graphics
will further present both sides of the controversial sea turtle conservation issue. A call-to-action station, staffed by
Naturalists, will provide literature so that the Aquarium visitor can find ways to become more actively involved in this
project.

The Aquarium of the Americas promotes research that: 1) supports the mission of the Aquarium; 2) addresses
basic problems in the management and propagation of wild animals in captivity; 3) encourages collaboration between
institutions; and 4) facilitates educational opportunities through the asesociation of students, visiting scientists and
Aquarium staff.

The off-site warehouse maintained by the Aquarium provides space for captive breeding, research, and
development on new exhibit species, while offering opportunities for visiting scientists. Breeding success is evident in
the shark collection where Arahian bamboo sharks were born this past Fall in the only U.S. breeding program for this
species. Additionsally, a colony of spotted motoro rays keepes multiplying! The Aquarium of the Americas is one of only
two U.S. aquariums successfully breeding this freshwater species, and the only aquarium currently successfully
breeding Henlei stingrays.

Research projects have included video monitoring of red snapper for observation on post-tagging behavior with
the Louisians State University Department of Zoology, and tag retention studies of red snepper with the Naticnal
Marine Fisheries Service. The Husbandry staff's input into e long-term population dynamics assessment of the
praviously undisturbed waters of Crooked Island, Banemas, (in collaboration with the Virginia Insttute of Marine
Science) with hopes that final results wil produce a sound, conservation-based resource management policy for the
Bahamian government. Colleges, universities, and federal agencies use the Aquarium as a teaching lab for animal
behavior studies, and fish identification classes. The Aquanum recently made a proposal to Walker Cay resort in the
Bahamas for a cooperative long-term shark tagging study.

For the past four years, the Husbandry Department has joined with the University of Wisconsin at Stevens
Point to work with four to six student interns for three to four weeks per year, The interns receive college credit and
each one has been individually funded The Aquarium receives many inguiries for internships and, if funding can be
secured, hopes to expand this worthwhile program in the coming years. Ideally, the program would fund up to eight
students for an eight to ten week internship each year, and would focus on serving students majoring in e biological
discipline who want to gain hands-on experience in the specialized and expanding Seld of aquarium husbandry.
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V. Education
1. What is the museum's education philosophy? 2. What are the museum's educational programs?
3. How are educational programs developed and evalucted?

Education is an intrinsic part of the Audubon Institute's mission, and through educational programs at the
Aquarium of the Americas and its sister facilities, the Audubon Zoological Gurden and the Louisiana Nature Center,
the Institute is one of the most visible agencies for environmental education and conservation awareness in the area —
the largest classroom in town! Education programs at the Aquarium of the Americas reach thousands of individuals
each year in an attempt to instill a sense of wonder and curiosity about underwater environments and inhabitants, so
that parzicipants will want to continue learning more on their owr. The philosophy is to: 1) combine pedagogical,
cognitive and emotive techniques; 2) deliver messages through innovative, thematic, story-oriented processes; 3)
incorporate scientific process, participation, relevance, sensory input, theater, emotion, humor and fun; 4) focus
attention, widen perception, augment retention; and 5) provide inspiration and motivation to elicit concern and action
The Education mission is to disseminate scientific information in ways that result in enhanced knowledge,
understanding, curiosity and involvement, with a view towards informed stewardship and conservation of our natural
world. Programs target three distinct audiences: the general visiting public, Aquarium membership, and school
students and their teachers, enhancing informal science programs in area schools.

The Education Department (10 full-time and five part-time employees) is dedicated to informing visitors about
the "world of water” through a variety of entertaining, yet educationally sound, programs. In 1995, public programs
were expanded from 17 daily presentations to a maximum of 40 per dey! As previously stated, the Whitney World of
Water stage presents eight shows a day, using non-traditional and "show-biz" formats to educate. Shows include live
animal presentations, a magic show about the wetlands, a quiz show about animal survival, a "dating game" about
sharks, end puppets discussing the rainforests.

Stationed throughout the facility, AquaCerts — mobile touching stations — allow the visitor to actually feel and
examine unusual aguatic animals, These totally ADA accessible units allow the Education staff or Nefuralists to bring
the education message to locations where interpretation is needed, or wherever an animal needs a "voice.” The Living
In Water AqucCeart is on display with a variety of salt water invertebrates including Bahama ses stars, pencil urching,
and horseshoe and herrmit crabs. A second cart in the LL&E Mississippi River Delta exhibit is covered in cajun-style
wood shingling and contains a juvenile American alligator or turtles common to the Louisiana wetlands. An additional
side unit will feature pull-out aquatic enclosures holding other non-touchable wetlands animals such as crawtish, mud
puppies, and fish. Each unit contains life support mechanisms to keep a variety of animals throughout their time of
display. Summer 1995 saw pew "growth” in the Amazon Rainfarest with the installation of a new touch station — &
replica of a kapok tree. Not only does this provide a locale for perched macaws and animal demonstrations, it also
renders extra exhibit space (within a 60-gallon aquarium) for showcasing the latest additions to the Amazon
Rainforest's animal population. Education staff or Neturalists are available to give visitors an opporturty to learn
first-hand about boa constrictors, iguanas or the Henlei freshwater stingrays recently born at the facility.

These educationally entertaining or "edutaining” displays specifically target the casual visitor (those who come
to the Aquarjum for a fun outing and learn about animals along the way) and are available to over one million visitors
annually. By integrating small animals into dynamic presentations, the Aquarium is able to send the strong
conservation message that the health of the world's ecosystems, filled with wondrous but delicate life forms, depends
upon us. Ultimately, the Aquarium hepes to further the cause of good stewardship and conservation of our aquatic
ratural resources by providing the public with the educational background needed to make informed choices.

Seven days a week, the Husbandry Dive staff and the Educatior Department staff team up to makxe four
20-minute public shows daily in the 400,000 gallon Gulf of Mexico Exhibit Thig presentation has an “in-water”
diver/presenter wilh two-way comununication to a "dry side” education presenter and Aquarium visitors and focuses on
de-bunldng popularly held myths about sharks and shark attacks. Using state-of-the-art multi-media equipment,
including a remote sequencing device that controls narrator and diver audio/visual components, presentations in the
Gulf of Mexico Exhibit begin with a dramatic bubble curtain, theater lighting, and music. A two-minute videc explores
shark misconceptions and the fear individuais have of these animals. At the conflict/pivot point of the presentation,
divers bust the "bubble”/myths and provide correct information as well as answer visitor questions.

Husbandry Dive staff and volunteer divers also make up to five informal presentations per day in the 130,000
gullon Freeport-McMoRan Caribbean Reef exhibit, using a similar two-way communication with visitors and focusing on
the adaptations of the ammals as well as the intricate interdependence of animals in the reef. Husbandry stafl,
including senior stafl, are scheduwled for 15-20 minute informul "Geallery Chats" to visitors three times a day, seven days
a week. These informal narrations about the exhibits occur throughout the facility, providing intercsting anecdotes
about the exhibit animals through stafl in

racts with the audience. Feeding time for the penguins presents vet

1t qudio cquipmes rovide cuplive care informanon and the

lar interaction takes place during feeding Lime at the Gulf exhibit using
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V. Education (continued)

/olunteer Department staff members,

Member-exclusive programs offer the opportunity for involvement in a wide esssortmment of fun-filled educational
ctivities. Weekend clesses such as Playful Penguins or Amezing Adaptations target the younger generation while
ther opportunities, behind-the-scenes tours and movie nights, exist {or the entire family. Off-site trips to Bayou
‘auvage Wildlife Refuge or Last Island are alse available. Open enrcllment programs provide the opportunity for the
ublic at large o participate in many activities — Family Fish Printing, Home Aquarium Course, Myths of the Sec,
‘iver Rendezvous, and Sea Shells by the Sea Shore are but a few of the programs available to individuals of all ages.
stimated annual impact: 5,000 individuals.

Full day or half day teacher workshops broaden understanding of the natural sciences for Louisiana teachers,

s well s for the Aquarium's Nefuralists. Seminars such as Project WILD, WILD Louisiana, For SEA, Living in Water

ad Life ot the Top (focusing on the Aquarium's shark exhibit) provide information, curricula, and activities to support

nd enhance classroom presentations and the Naturalists' message to the visiting public. These workshops reach an
stimated 1,000 teachers per year and are available to our 371 volunteers. To aid teachers in using the Aquarium as

a educational resource, orientation programs are offered to instructors prior to visiting the facility with their students.
wer 75,000 inner-city school students visit the Aquarium on an annual basis and greatly benefit from the numerous
ariculum enhancing opportunities.

Working in collaberation with educators throughout the city, Audubon Institute staff (Education Department
wrators from all our public facilities) was instrumental in the preparation of the application to the National Science
cundation to improve mathematical and scientific literacy among New Orleans students through the Urban Systemic
utiative funding. As a result of this effort, the New Orleans Public Schools system received $15 million (over a five-
:ar period) to address the areas of student achievement, teaching practices, school and district culture, policy and
yvernance, and partnerships. The Aquarium, Zoo, and Nature Center Education Department staffs will continue to
uticipate in the program through New Orleans Informal Scence Education (NOISE), a by-product of the grant
ogram that joins together museums and other facilities in the area that provide informal sciences resources to the
mmunity. This partnership, made up of the Aquarium the Audubon Zoo, Louisiana Nature Center, City Park
stanical Garden, New Orleans Children's Museurn, Bayou Sauvage Wildlife Refuge, and the U.S. Park Service,
rrently offers teacher-in-service seminars to provide spiral curriculum plans supporting grade level activities. The
5t cadre of 25 teachers met et the Audubon Zoo with NOISE gtaff in Fall “85 to learn of the valusble resources (staf,
yraries, exhibitry, live animal presentations, etc.) available to them and their students. This program will definitely
ach elementary students, and it is the hope of staff members that a program targeting high school level students can
put into action shortly, as this age level is the hardest to reach because of the student's rotating schedules and the
‘partmentalization of the curriculum. NOISE's goal is to greatly enrich the standard science curriculum currently in
ace in the New Orleans classroom. 44 teachers will tour all NOISE facilities in the Spring and Summer months.

As previously stated, the AquaVan is & mobile life support vehicle that transports live aquatic animals to public
100l and not-for-profit summer camps. It targets pre-kKindergarten through sixth grade children in the eight parish
2a surrounding the Aquariura. Students or campers participate in role playing, discussions, games, and arts and
1fts that teach about marine life during 30 minute classroom presentations or 40 minute assembly programs. Further
Iflling the Aquarium's outreach mission, the AquaVan also makes appearances at community and conservation
.ented festivals such as EarthFest, Save the Lake, Celebrate the Gulf, and Jeff Fest. Live animals of various species of
hes, invertebrates, birds, and reptiles are available as learning tools, with the assistance of staff and Naturalists to
dress the audiences' questions. This outreach program will be underwritten by Texaco USA in 1996 — a sponsorship
1t will allow the Agquarium to visit up to 160 under-served schools in the region

The Entergy IMAX Theatre substantially enhances and diversifies the educationel opportunities for the
varium vigitor. The DVMAX technology allows the visitor o be fully immersed in the natural habitat of species in a
y that can never be duplicated within the confines of an aquarium building. By offering such a synaesthelic
>erience to not only our local audience, but to a plethera of tourists as well, the ever<hanging venue and the
lection of IMAX films available allow the Aquarium of the Americas to provide educational as well as recreational
ivities as never before.

Using the latest in IMAX technology, the current presentation, The Living Sea, was co-produced by the
dubon Institute. Forty-two minutes in length, the film is designed to beautifully combine the awesome power and
sortance of the ocean with our human efforts to understand it. The theater seats 354 with elevated, "front-row”
wing. The entire last row has seate that can be removed at a moment's notice for wheelchair accessible spaces, and

seats offer a rear view closedcaption system for the hearing impaired Currently, The Living Sea is shown daily,

ry-hour ¢cn-the-hour, from 10:00 a.m. to 8 p.m; and admission is comparable with local movio theater prices. It

uld be noted that the Audubon Institute has also co-produced a second film — Jnto the Deep, due to premiere in
rek 95 This new film will have a 3D format.
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V1. Physical Facilities/Safety and Security

1. How does the museum use its physical resources in providing museum services to the general
public and specialized audiences? 2. What practices and schedules does the museum follow to
ensure the proper care and maintenance of its physical plant? 3. How does the museum ensure the
scfety of its staff, visitors, facilities and collections? 4. How secure is the museum?

The Aquarium of the Americas and Woldenberg Riverfront Park occupy a total of 16 acres on the Mississippi
riverfront. The five-block linear site is bounded by the Mississippi River to the East and a 10-ft. high concrete flood
wull and railroad right-of-way to the West. The facility includes: 65,720 sq. ft. for Exhibit/ Education; 70,160 sq.ft. for
Service/Support; 9,686 sq. ft. for Office/Administration; 5,882 sq. ft. for retail; 6,664 sq. ft. for cafe and dining area; and
11,112 sg. f&. for the recently completed Entergy IMAX Theatre, for a total of 169,214 square feet.

The Aquarium's exhibits are arranged along a natural, flowing circulation path, with lighting focused to
enhance the unique ambience of each exhibit. There are deliberate views to the outside world either for orientation
purposes or for meaningful incorporation into the exhibit space (e.g. the Mississippi overlook window in the Mississippi
River Delta). Seating is available, including bleachers in the Gulf of Mexico Exhihit, to allow visitors to enjoy dive
presentations or simply appreciate the aguatic ambience. The Aquarium and Woldenberg Riverfront Park are both
fully accessible to physically challenged persons due in part to pre—construction involvement of the Committee for
Special Populations.

Opportunities to view and learn about the water filtration/life support systems which sustain the aquatic life are
available via large windows into the "back-of-house”. Also within view is the service area of the 400,000-gallon Gulf of
Mexico Exhibit, providing a look into the daily routine of diving and husbandry staff. The multi-purpose classroom has
a separate entrance from the main visitor entrance, as well as direct accessibility to exhibit spaces. Other support
spaces include the Food Prep Room used for preparing daily diets for the figh, and the Laboratory for water quelity and
animal health testing. Both areas are available for visitation with prior arrangements or through educational and
‘professional training seminars offered by the Husbandry and/or Education departments.

A large conference room, complete with its window into the shark-filled Gulf of Mexico Exhibit, highlights the
administrative area. The conference room is equipped with audio/visus! equipment and is used in-house for Audubon
Commission and Audubon Institute board meetings, Cepital Campaign prospect luncheons, and staf meetings. It is
also available for rent for business meetings and social gatherings. Administrative offices are separate from, but are in
ciose proximity to, visitor spaces for easy accessibility in times of need or emergency.

To ensure the proper care and maintenance of the facility, the Aquarium staff began to formulate an operations
master plan during the final phases of construction. Professional and sldilled personnel members were hired to assist in
overseeing the completion of construction and, fueled with the techunical knowledge of the facility's distinctive
architectnral, mechanical, electrical, and structural systems, were retained and given the charge of heading the
menagement, operations, and maintenance functions of the physical plant. Of these individuals, there are two trained
architects (one is the Sr. V.P. for Operations and Construction) and one special projects coordinator who rotate the daily
responsibility of acting as Operations Manager. In order to assure that the gacility run smoothly, Aquarium policy calls
for an Operations Manager (with the authority to render decisions as necessary) be on-duty during all hours the
building is open to the public. The Operations Department, reporting to the Sr. V.P. for Construction and Operations,
has a full staff consisting of one in-house architect, one special projects coordinator, nine operating engineers, six
electricians, seven maintenance persons, 20 housekeepers, four horticulturists, four groundskeepers, 20 security guards
and four administrative assistants.

Engineers are present in the building 24 hours a day, constantly making rounds on mechanical and life support
equipment, and performing preventive maintenance work on a regularly scheduled basis. They carefully document all
exasting conditions and all adjustments made to equipment in order to maintain the appropriate conditions for life
support; heating, ventilating and air conditioning (HVAC); and plumbing systems. A log is kept for recording purposes
and for communicating information to the different shifts. Engineers monitor and adjust mechanical systems either
manually or electronically through a computer whose pneumatic controls are run to each piece of equipment. A weekly
test is performed on the emergency generator which will supply power to most life support systems and all equipment
necessary to maintain safety. Both engineers and electricians monitor the building's fire alarm system by way of a
single control panel. Equipment to be maintained is located "back of house,” allowing work Lo be performed with the
least amount of disruption to the visiting audience.

Electricians are on duty approximately 14 hours a day and on-call the remaining 10 hours per day. The six-
person stafl, whose supervisor is also an automation specialist, monitors and maintains electrical equipment and also
upgrades the facuity electronically where feasible and practical. They have installed audio/visual systems in exhibits
{or educational purposes, security systems where needed to provide a "24-hour watch”, telephone and computer systems

wew office spaces, and n public-address svstem throughout the entire facility,
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V1. Physical Facilities/Safety and Security (continued)

The Maintenance Department, a seven-person team of skilled carpenters, masons, painters and Jaborers,
aintaing and repairs the physical building exterior, fenestration, hardware, interior partitions, flooring, furniture,
terior brick paving, and Woldenberg Riverfront Park amenities. They are responsible for projects such as office
novations, the construction of brick walkways and giftshop kKosks, as well ag exhibit "furniture” construction -
henever feasible, these types of projects are done in-house — designed, built, and evaluated by staff planners and
thitects. Recently, a survey of individuals leaving the Gulf of Mexico Exhibit concluded that more seating was
eded for a longer stay at the exhibit — a set of bleachers (maximum seating utilizing minimal space) was designed by
> Sr. VP/Director of Construction and Operations (an architect with 19 years of experience) and built by the
untenance Department.

Housekeeping tasks are performed during an 18-bour day (6 a.m. to midnight) by the Facility Services
-partment. The Horticultural Department and Environmental Services are charged with the upkeep of the
uwarium's Entry Plaza and Woldenberg Riverfront Park. They also maintain the plantings in the Aquarium'’s
aazon and Mississippi River exhibits — many of which are endangered, acquired through the U.S. Dept. of the
-erior/Figh and Wildlife Service and held or grown in the Conservatory on Audubon Park grounds. The staff
edules planting times so that Aquarium exhibits and Woldenberg Park are always shown to full advantage.
aenever possible, all work to be done in public spaces is completed before or after operational hours. All schedules for
untenance and repair are reviewed and updated regularly by the Operations department, with additional needs being
:ommodated through written work orders from other departments (Husbandry and Exhibitry).

The Security staff maintaing a 24-hour presence on the Aquarium site with 8 "base station” manned at all
1es. Building checks are constant and include inspections of fire and safety equipment. Journals are kept and
wrts are made to appropriate persons in order to keep the facility problem-free. All potential problems, alarms, and
;sible breaches of security are reported immediately to & Security supervisor and the Operations Manager on-call, and
: eliminated as quickly as possible. The Security supervisor, Operations Mansager, and all department supervisors are
»plied with pagers for quick response when they are off-site or off-duty. Security and other personnel are equipped
h two-way radios for ease of communication and with golf carts to make rounds throughout the 12-acre park site.
hough closed to all traffic at night, Woldenberg Riverfront Park is patrolled the full 24 hours per day. Strategically
ced lighting illuminates all enry and exit points of the Aquarium building, as well as all exterior access areas.
.ephones are located throughout the building and park fer the convenience and safety of visitors and stas. Security
orts to parking areas are available to staff by request after dark. Security for normel operation and for special
mts in the Agquarium or Park is often supplemented by New Orleans Police Department officers. In areas where cash
1andled or held, an electronic security system is in service. :

Interior spaces are fitted with smoke and fire alarms, and where required, heat detectors. The New Orleans
e and Police departments make annual visits to re-familiarize themselves with the building layout and advise on
ety and security measures. Currently, the entire fire alarm system is being upgraded to include a smoke detector in
‘v enclosed space; and an identification system for exd! steirs, exit access, and fire department connections was
>lemented as follow-up to an annual visit.

The Aquarium staff is trained in emergency evacuation procedures and directs and/or asgists visitors in exiting
building when an alarm sounds, and while engineers and electricians investigate the cause of the alarm. Staff also
ists visiters with re-entry after the elarm is cleared. All alarms are acknowledged and responded to as if they are
. A recent alarm, thankfully false, caused an emergency evacuation — upon re-entry, visitors complimented and
nked the staff for the quick response, the care, and the professionalism with which they were treated.

Written procedures (attached) are in effect for fire alarms, bomb threats, hurricane preparedness, (loods, and
2r extreme weather conditions. These procedures are reviewed periodically and tested practically when possible.

Prior to the beginning of each hurricane season, preparedness procedures are reviewed and the emergency
ipment supply is inventoried and filled as needed. Over the past five years seasonal hurricane threats have
vided the staff with several practical teets, After each practical test or experience of an emergency situation, a
Jw-up critique meeting is held with department heads and pertinent personnel. In this way, procedures are
stantly being improved.

A "First Responder” program has been implemented for the general first-aid needs of visitors and employees.
rently, nine staff members are trained in basic first-aid techniques and certified in CPR. They are on a rotating
:dule to cover all general public visiting hours as well as after-hour special events. Emergency Medical Technicians
employed for the incrensed visitor attendance on weekends or for special events. Future plans are for all Security
onnel to be truined, which will allow basic first-aud to be available on a 24-hour basis.

Husbandry security is in place for the only venomous animals in the collection — venomous fighes. The venoms
shes differ significantly from venoms of their terrestriol counterparts in that they are inherently heat-labile. Thus,
venoms and o nl therapeutic intervention are usually unnecessary. Treatment for injury by o venomous
CONs imumersing the ndfested nrenan very

t waler for npproximately 30 m
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VIL Staff

1. What are the qualifications, responsibilities and professional activities of the museum’s
permanent professional staff? 2. What opportunities does the museum provide for staff development
and to what extent has the rmuseum’s staff participated? 3. What personnel policies and practices
does the museum follow? 4. How does the museum select, recruit, trecin and use supplementary

steff?

Major administrative functions are centralized within the Audubon Institute, Inc, Brief overviews of their
nualifications and responsibilities are attached in Supplemental Information. Individuals directly responsible for the
cm_u_v operations of the Aquarium of the Americas are as follows:

Exec, V.P/COQ:. B.S. Economics, Tulane; 20 years experience; AZA; American Museum Assoc.; Oversees Planning,
Conscrucnon, Ope_rauons Husbandry Resean‘_h., Demgn and Exhxmtry and Visitor and Volu.nteer Services.

VP, 8 5 @ 15 Aqua e ericag: B. Architecture, Univ. of Southwestern Louisians;
Assoc Degree Am}utectmnl Engmeermg Technology, Delgado Community College. 19 yrs. experience in local
architectural/construction industry; guest lecturerfindustry conferences, including ADA conferences. Responsible for
Construction, Maintenance, Security, Horticulture, Grounds, and Purchasing for Aquarium and Entergy IMAX Theatre.
Sr. V.P /Director of Husbandre: B.S. Zoology, San Diego State Univ.; Post-Graduate studies: marine biclogy/zoology/
ichthyology; Over 20 yrs. experience as aquarium curator and consultent; formerly with the Steinhart Aquarium; AZA,
Am. Academy of Underwater Sciences. Numerous publications cover his study of eharks and his work with public
agquariums. Directs all aspects of operations of the husbandry-related elements.

V.P/Design & Exhibitry: B.A Communications, Loyola Univ.; 17 yrs. experience in exhibitry design. Responsible for
all Photography, Audio Visuals, Graphics and Fabrication at aJ Audubon Institute facilities.
MM&@M B.A. Zoology, Univ. Hawaii. Formerly Aquarist-Aguarium
Seientist/Marine Mammal Coordinator and Acting Curator of Live Exhibits for Waildld Aquarium; AZA, Am
"Elasmobranch Society. Responsible for overseeing maintenance of all saltwater exhibits and directing activities of
twater and dive staff.
Sr. Curator/Preshwater Bxhibitry/Life Support Svstems; B.S/Biology, Calif. St. Univ.; During 12 yr. career, designed
and oversaw building and renovation of a.qx.a‘:iﬂ exhibits and life support systems. Respounsible for freshwater fish,
reptiles, emphibiens, inverteprates, and aquatic and terrestrial plants.
Curntor of Collecting Operntions; B.S. Biology, Southwest Missouri St. Univ.; M.S,, Fisheries, Oregon St. Univ.; Am.
Academy of Underwater Sciences sanctioned diver. Formerly Sr. Aquarist-Hatfield Marine Science Center Public
Aquarium  Responsible for acquisition. field operations, necropsies and disease diagnosis. Also certified scube diver.
Curator of Birdgs Michigan St. Univ. & Tulane Univ.; AZA; 12 yre. experiencs as zookeeper - Audubon Zoological
Garden before coming tn Aquarium of the Americas. Formerly Sr. Aviculturist,
Operations aod Architectural Coordinator; B. Architecture, Telane Univ.; Am. Institute of Architects, Vieux Carre
Commission, Advisory Committee of Special Popuiations/New Orleans Museum of Art. Manages the design of
modifications to and maintenance of Aquarium exhibits, mechanical systems, giftshop and support spaces. Also
administers the contracting and design of Phase II of the Aquarium.
Volunteer Coordinator: B.A_ Political Science, Westminster College; Nat. Assoc. of Interpreters, So. Marine Educators
Asso<., Project Management Institute. Previous experience in international marketing and corporate start-ups.
Fesponsible for recruiting, training and retaining volunteers. Active as a zone coordinator for the State of Louisiana
Beach Sweep Program and & site-director for the Center for Marine Conservation's Marine Debris Monitoring Program.
(Crief resumes attached in Supplemental information)

The Audubon Institute's personnel policies and procedures are delivered to ell emplovees at the time of hire.
Thus employee handbook weas developed by an employee committee and validated by Human Resources with gdvice from
legal stafl to ensure compliance with federal and state guidelines. As a responsibility of the VP/Human Resources, the
handbook is updated as needed based upon industry trends and changes in statutes. Every new emplovee participates
in an eight-hour orientation supervised by the Director of Training. Additional customized training is offered to support
the specialized needs of varnous departments, and ranges from IMAX to butterflies to enhance new exhibit or facility
openungs. For Visitor Services and Concessions staff, emphasis is placed on customer relations, problem solving, and
improved performance. Improved performance is encouraged through performance appraisals and a merit pay plan
baged upon performance ratings. The performance evaluation process was developed by an employee committee
c')mpnsed of a diverse group of stafl from line level employees to managers and supervisors and validated by Human
tesources. In 1995 over 150 employees, from all Audubon Institute facilities, attended 10 management sermungrs
centered on improving performance, increasing revenue, and undersianding management theory and practical
appleation. Through the courtesy of Host Marmott Corporation, the company that runs the gt shop at the Aquarium,

Aquanum stafl mem e been invited to a TQM seminar
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VIL Staff (continued)

n-house training programs, managed by the Sr. VP/Husbandry and Curatorial staff, keep staff informed of current
'e"ds in animal management. External programs such as coordination of the Stranded Sea Turtle Network and

¢ tion trips provide educational comparisons of captive versus natural environment habitat. Professional and
<ientific pericdicals are available in the Aquarium’s library. Guest lectures, scheduled throughout 1995 benefitted
taff and volunteers with such topics as the Alaskan Tongas National Rainforest, Environmental Choices, and Coral
‘opulations in the Flower Garden Marine Sanctuary. Discounts were given to those employees interested in joining

riends of the Aquarium or Friends of the Zoo members for canoe excursions to Bayou Sauvage Wildlife Refuge and
arrier island conservation awareness trips.

All staff members are offered the opportunity to pursue college degrees and up to one year of leave is available
or this purpose (this prevents a valued employee from losing accrued benefits). Currently there are 35 individuals
hroughout all Audubon Institute facilities) attending local colleges. Management and Senior Staff are encouraged to
resent papers at conferences of the American Zoos and, Aquariums Association, American Elasmobranch Soc:ety,
unerican Management Association, American Society for Training and Development, American Association of
fuseums, Meeting Planners International, Bird Preservation Trust, and other appropriate organizations, national and
aternational. The current Aquarium Volunteer Department Coordinator and Assistant Coordinator participated in the
Iniversity of Colorado's Volunteer Mansgement Program, as has every past coordinator.

Supplemental staff, the corps of voluateer Naturalists, are recruited through referrals from seasoned volunteers
articipation in volunteer fairs, and through public advertising. Individuals, who express a genuine committment to
e goals of the program and who are willing to back up these goals with a measurable commitment, begin eight weeks
{ training that covers everything from the history of the Audubon Institute to fish physiology — from interpretation o
sh identification. Upon graduating, a Naturaiist is continually provided educational updates at weekly pre-shift
:eetings and bi-monthly gatherings where guest speakers cover aquatic related topics. All Naturalists are invited to
stend educational programs offered hy any associated Audubon Institute facility. Upon completion of six months active
rvice as a Naturalist interacting with the public, individuals are eligible to work with the Husbandry and Education
epartments. In 1995, Neturalists contributed 58,284 hours to the operation of the Agquarium. (It should be noted that
e commitment of the Naruralists extends beyond the actual walls of the Aquarium where over 100 volunteers have
:en active participants with Aquarium staff in such programs as Louisiana's Adopt-a-Beach Program, the Sea Turtle
randing and Salvage Network, as well as veluniteering edditionsl hours to the New Orleans Children's Adclescent
ospital and assisting the Marketing Department m‘.n Aquerium promotionsal activities.) After the conciusion of &
wccessful 1994 pilot program for Junior Volunteers, the first "official™ program was conducted in-1996 graduazing 20
om the program. Apprentice Naturalists interpret exhibits by assisting adult Naturalists in demonstrations and
esentations throughout the facility. After proving themselves capable, teen-age volunteers often substitute for aduit
lunteers when one is absent or predisposed with VIP tours.

The Husbandry staff recruits volunteer exhibit divers from the Naturalist corps after applicants have met will
ed criteria for attendance and longevity in that program. Volunteer exhibit dive staff candidates take written
ams to test their knowledge of marine life, Aquarium procedures, and safe SCUBA practices. They are required to
88 & basic water slkdills test as well as an in-water SCUBA skills test, and show proof of the required number of open
iter dives, all in accordance with American Academy of Underwater Scientists standards. Almost one helf of our 556

lunteer divers have been active since before the Aquarium opened in 1990. Volunteer exhibit divers make daily
ssentations to our visitors in the Caribbean Reef exhibit, assist paid staff with in-water exhibit maintenance on a
7ularly scheduled basis, and provide valusble assistance on research expeditions. The Volunteer Coordinator for the
juarium is himself a Volunteer Diver, setting a great example for commitment.

The Husbandry Department also recruits and trains in a less formal manner volunteer Neturalists to assist i
-ing for the live animel collection. Animaj care volunteers are also recruited from the Naturalists corps with
ection criteria based on attendance and longevity. These volunteers are given 8-12 hours of training by husbandry
Jf and are "apprenticed” for a period of time to an aquarist for hands-on training. Animal care volunteer assist paid

A with routine exhibit maintenance, preparation and delivery of diets to the animal collection, and on special projects
the need arises.

oo oo
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VII. Governance and Management/Financial Management

1. What is the museum's governing authority? 2. What is the museum's management structure? 3.
What is the museum's financial condition? 4. What are the museum's procedures for budgetary
development and control? (Note: Attach your one page organizational chart as page 34)

The Aquariom of the Americas is owned by the City of New Orleans and the Audubon Commission. Under
contract to the Audubon Commission, the not-for-profit organization, Audubon Institute, Inc., operates the Aquarium
and its eight sister facilities.

The Audubon Commission (AC), a 24-member board appointed to six-year terms by the Mayor of New Orleans, is
the highest governing body for all nine facilities. Members representing a broad cross-section of the community, meet
quarterly and have decision-making authority over all capital projects in excess of $5,000. In 1988, the City Council
zuthorized the Audubon Commission to enter into a five-year contract with the Audubon Institute, Inc. to manage the
Audubon Park and Audubon Zoological Garden on a day-to-day basis and to develop additional family-oriented science
focused facilities. This contract has been extended for one year, every year, keeping a five-year contract current. Since
the time of the agreement, the Audubon Institute, Inc., has developed seven facilities including the Aquarium of the
Americas. Additionally, the Louisiana Nature Center came under this management umbrella in September 1894.

The 32-member Board of the Audubon Institute, Inc. is elected by membership organizations, Friends of the Zoo,
and Friends of the Aquarium, and the Louisiana Nature Center members, to serve four-year terms, (T'wo consecutive
terms for a total of eight years are allowed) Required to meet at least six times a year, the Board, representing a
diverse cross-section of the community, averages ten meetings annually.

The Audubon Institute board functions with an Executive Committee and is responsible for the hiring of the
President/CEQ. Yearly joint board and senior staff retreats have a dual purpose: to evaluate and update a five-year
plan; and to provide time for general "brainstorming” for more creative and efficient ways to accomplish the
organization's goals. Both the AC and the Al boards are responsible for setting policy for the organization, and
supervising the President/CEQ in his duty to carry out said policy; monitoring operations and financial positions; and
actively participating in fund raising efforts. Board members are involved in long-range planning and fund raising as
adwvisors, and participate as active members of the Audubon 2000 Campaign

The President/CEO of the Audubon Institute, Inc., works under a five-year contract and reports directly to the
Institute board. He supervises 2l staff through two Executive Vice Presidents: Executive VP/COO and Executive
VP/CAQ. Senior staff is made up of four Sr. VPs for Operations and Planning/Audubon Park and Audubon Zoological
Garder; Construction and Operations/ Aquarium of the Americas and Woldenberg Riverfront Park; Aquarium
Husbandry; and Audubon Cenier for Research of Endangered Species; and nine VPs for Zog Husbandry, Design and
Exhibitry, Visitor and Volunteer Services, Environmental Policy, Finance, Development, Human Resources, Marketing,
and Educational Programming. This group meets biweekly, scheduling additional meetings as needed Senior staff, all
department heads, and key personnel meet with the executive staff monthly. These meetings, are designed to be
educational as well as informational; are planned by staff committees with agenda input from the CEQ's office; and
include a detailed presentation by a particular department highlighting current activities, future plans, and work with
other departments. Retreats are held semi-annually, off-site, for executive and senior staff.

Al the Agquarium of the Amexicas, the Sr. VP/Construction and Operations 18 responsible for construction;
maintenance; security; grounds; horticulture; and purchasing for Phase I and Phase I, including the newly-opened
Entergy IMAX Theatre and the soon-to-open Changing Exhibits Gallery. The IMAX Director, a professional with eight
vears of theater management to his credit, supervises three projectionists and reports to the Sr, V.P./Construction and
Dyperations. The Sr. VP/Aquarium Husbandry is responsibie for the care of the Aquarium of the Americas' collections
and the supervision of the Curatorial Staff and Aquarists, as well as the research they undertake. The VP/Design and
Sxfubitry has been instrumental not only in directing the visual impact of the Aquarium's graphics from conceplion,
but for the on-going exhibitry philosophy and, in coordination with the Husbandry and Education Departments, the
educational umpact of the exhibits and programs upon the visiting public. This management structure provides the
apportunity for the Sr. VP/Husbandry to perform at the highest level, doing what he does best (directing the care and
consarvation of the animal collection) without the burden of day-to-day operational procedures that are best handled by
the Sr. VP/Construction and Operations and overseen by the Executive VP/CQO.

The VP/Finance, a CPA with extensive experience as a financial manager with a larger not-for-profit
orgarazation, reports to the Executive VP/CAQ and superviscs a staff of 11. He was hired based in part on the
iendation of the external nuditors and because of his proven track record in budgeting, financial reportin

end results from current and expected operations. Finance meetings are heid as needed o handle

ent level of

Lg. The oversight 16 evilunled s appropriate since agourate,

and ue 20N UL an appropriate manner




116

1995/1996 IMS General Operating Support Application Form 29

VII. Governance and Management/Financial Management (continued)

The Aquarium's finances are subjected to annual audit by a national public accounting firm. The auditing firm
wves its opunion as to the fairnese of financial statement presentation and prepares a management letter which includes
sints relative to improving internal controls. These reports are presented to the Finance Committee of the Board. The
uditors also work with the VP/Finance to plan for implementation of any changes in accounting principles.

The Aquarium uses a budgeting process which begins in August of the preceding year and culminates with the
loption of the budget by the Audubon Institute, Inc., Board of Directors in November or December of the preceding
:ar. All operating, financing, and capital activities are included in the process. The process is managed by the
stitute’s VP/Finance who establishes an agenda and attends all meetings. Initial meetings are held with executive
anagement — the President, COO, and CAO. Current trends and planned changes in operations are folded into
wumptions for the upcoming year. The agenda, a listing of major assumptions, and budget worksheets are distributed
-all VPs and key department managers. Worksheets include historical budget and actual information and are
epared at the account level for each functional department. Each department receives a listing of its authorized
wrsonnel complement with salary by position. Departments draft their budgets and submit these to the VP/Finance.
ne VP/Finance reviews each budget and meets with each responsible VP, Changes are made based on these meetings.
draft of the budget, by functional department, is prepared in the same format as monthly finances are reported. The
P/Finance meets again with executive management, and further revisions are suggested and investigated The budget
revised to its final format and presented to the Finance Committee of the Board, who are briefed on major
sumptions and are offered opportunities to ask questions. Once adopted by the Finance Committee, the Budget is
esented to the entire Board of Directors for approval. Upon adopticn, the budget is put into the financial accounting
stem and distributed to responsible managers for use in continued planning of departmental operations.

Financial oversight responsibilities rest with the Board of Directors/Audubon Institute. Financial results
mpared to budget are presented to the Board at each meeting. Deviations from budget are discussed. Executive
anagement carefully monitors results and adjusts spending patterns as necessary to ensure that results remain in
ergll balance. A daily report is prepared by the Finance Department which summarizes visitation counts end
venue for the preceding day, month to date, and yeer to date, with each period compared to the comparable day from
& preceaing vear. This report is used to monitor overal! results since visitation is the key indicator.

The Agquanum has a track record of solic eernings during the iast few years. Earnings Srom operating and
~urring non-operating items for the years ending December 31, 1994, and December 31, 1983, (adjusted to exclude
:ility depreciation and other non-recurring capital cash flows), were approximately $2.6 million and $2.5 million
spectively. The 1995 results are expected to approximate those recorded in 1994. The facility has maintained an
mings to debt service coverage ratio on it8 revenue bonds of approximately 2.5 to 1, when the requirement was 1.75.
e 1993 and 1994 financial statements reflect 1998 recognition and 1984 peyment of an endowment obligation to the
wdubon Institute, Inc. These funds are invested by a separate foundation and benefit the Aquarium through
dowment income which is budgeted at $240,000 for 1996. These statements also reflect a non-operating revenue item
titled "Dock Board Settlement”. This item, combined with the item entitled "Project Write down", reflects
nagement's decision to accept the Dock Board's settlement offer and discontinue development of an insectarium
yject on the New Orleans riverfront. The funde from settlement were used to pay the endowment obligation

The Aquarium's positive cash flow is dedicated first to recouping the operating deficits at the Audubon
slogical Garden and the Freeport-McMoRan Audubon Species Survival Center. The 1994 financial statements reflect
4,000,000 transfer of fund balance to the Zoo and Survival Center to cover operating deficits. Overal], the Aquarium
sne of several facilities which operate collectively as a single financial entity. The collective financial condition on
cember 21, 1894, including unrestricied investments of $700,000 held by the fund raising organization, indicated a
Tent ratic of approxxmately 1.0 to 1.0.

The Aquerium's financial condition is expected to improve in 1996 with the recent completion of the Entergy
AX Theater and the soon-to-open Changing Exhibits Gallery. The cash flow statement for 1994 reflects an
estment in projects of approximately $8.6 million. This amount relates primarily to construction of Phase II of the
uanium of the Amgericas, which was completed in late 1995 at a total project cost of $25,000,000. Budgeted revenues
L1996 reflect un expectation that earnings will improve pursuant to operation of the IMAX Theatre and a renewed
arest in the Aquarium stemming from the opening of the new gallery.

rating
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IX. Support

1. What is the community's non-cash support of museum operations? 2. How does the museum
ccquire non-Federal financial support?

The public/private partnership that successfully revitalized the Audubon Park and Zoological Garden in the
1970s and 1980s was the fund-raising model for building the Aquarium of the Americas. As previously stated, $25
wmillion in bonds were issued on the 1986 voter-approved tax millage in support of the Aquarium. The bond issue
wicluded line items for maintenance, marketing and a portion of start-up costs, insuring that all operational expenses
would be covered during the critical first three years. A key element of the millage campaign was Audubon Institute's
promise to raise $15 million from the private sector to complete construction funding. By Opening Day 1990, over $19

millien in private funds had been committed.

Headed by a committee of 26 business and civic leaders, the Aquarium Capxt.al Campeign was launched in May
‘87 with 8 weekend meeting of top executives of the major oil companies (petroleum is the most visible industry in the
state). U.S. Senators and Representatives from Louigiana turned out en masse to voice their support of the project.
Recognizing the Aquarium as a vehicle for economic growth and environmental education, eight major oil companies
agreed that oil and water DO mix, and pledged over $4.5 million in gifts ranging from $250,000 to $625,000. Over the
next two years, the committee hosted presentations, conducted site tours, and solicited additional local corporations and
private foundations. By April '89, $15 million had been raised — more tharn a year ahead of the original schedule.
Among the gifts was a $5 million commitment from the local Woldenberg Foundation to name the Aquarium's
surrounding park — Woldenberg Riverfront Park; the gift allocated $2 million to park construction and $3 million to
park endowment. The remaining $10 million in capital funds came from only 42 gifts. Fund raising costs for the
Aquarium's capital campaign were five percent.

Community enthusiasm for the Aquarium was harnessed through the Pave the Way campaign. Promoting a
sense of ownership and community pride, Pave the Wey enabled all levels of the community to write their names in the
Aquarium's history by purchasing personalized bricks in the Aquarium's entry plaza Priced at $60 for individuals and
$100 for businesses or organizations, the bricks were a tremendous success: nearly 30,000 were sold in two and a half
vears, with inscriptions ranging from entire family trees to marriege proposals to patriotic messages from newly
naturalized citizens as well as names of children grandchildren, pets, and businesses. Gross revenues totalled $1.47
miliion, neariy doubling the original fund-raising goal of $750,000. A scphisticated promotional stretegy spurred the
cam;v.‘.g’n's success. New Orleans' daily newspaper, the Times-Picoyune, sponsored over $100,000 in print advertising

anc local McDonald's restaurants, K&EB Drugstores, and Hibernia Natonal Bank branches displayed counter cards with
—der forms. Direct mail, public service announcements, and print ads in other pubhcatxons rounded ou! promotional
efforts.

The entire community was encouraged to support the Aquarium through membership. Kicked off in February
1990, the initial membership drive used a 600,000 piece direct mail drop and three large newspaper ads targeting
general and charter members, whose patron-level support offered additional benefits such as 2 unique hand-crafied pin
and special social activities. First year membership numbers far exceeded expectations, with 7,200 Charter
memberships (the originel projection had been 2,500 and 28,000 general memberships. Many general members were
visitors from around the U.S. and the world taking advantage of the "Express Member Entrance” benefit, avoiding the
long waits that occurred throughout the first year of operations.

The Audubon Institute Development Department, & centralized department responsible for raising funds for all
Institute facilities, manages Aquarium fund raising and membership. A staff of 14, reporting to the Vice President for
Development, is segmented into functional areas including membership, leadership and planned gifts, special gifts and
events, annual fund, and conservation and environmental funding. Specific Aquarium gouls are set for membership, for
annual programs, and for capital projects within the Development Department’s overall goals.

Currently, Development's primary focus is the Audubon 2000 campaign, a five-year comprehensive effort to
raise $124 million ($95 million in capital and $29 million in endowment) for all Audubon Institute facilities, Launched
in August 1993, the campaign strives to fulfill the Institute's vasion of creating a family of world<lass museums and
parks dedicated to nature. To date, over $118.5 million has been raised from public and private sources. Personal
solicitations by volunteers and stafl have raised $38,466,699; other funds have come from a 1992 bond issue on the
Aquarium millage, the State of Louisiana, City of New Orieans, the Dock Board, and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service {(an
appropriation restricted to construction of a new research facility). Aquarium projects represent $235 million of Audubon
2000's wtal goal and have produced the campaign's two top naming opportunities: the Freeport-McMoRan Wing, with a
55 million commitment from the local mineral concern, and the Entergy IMAX Theatre, a $2.5 million gift
Audubon 2000 includes a significant tndowment goal becouse the Audubon Institute recognizes the importance
ving a sustainable source of operuting funds. A new supporting organization, the Audubon Institute Foundahion,

5 first meeting last year to set policy for managing ar |d disbursing endowed funds. This group's mission is
¢ 320 1
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IX. Support (continued)

nstrumental in building the endowment, the Institute has created a pooled income fund and runs a bequesi awareness
rogram, The Development Department will hire a full-time, professionally trained Director of Leadership and Planned
rifts in late 1996, The RosaMary Foundation's Guif Coast Education Endowment supports gulf-coast conservation-
riented programs at the Aquanium; the Aquarium also benefits from an Audubon Institute Education Programs
ndowment established by a local bank.
After several years of stabilization, Aquanum membership revenue, households, and attendance increased

ramatically in 1895 in response 0 a more aggressive mexbership marketing strategy. Aquarium membership, which

primarily a New Orleens metropolitan area program, faces several challenges: locals represent only 20% of all
quarium visitors, many locals visit only once a year or less because they feel they will not experience anything new,
nd the local population overall is decreasing. To overcome these challenges, the Audubon Institute Quarterly, (Copy
‘tached) the colorful member magazine, was revamped as 8 major marketing tool. While the magazine promotes all
cilities, the mejority of covers and stories in 1995 featured the Aquarium's exciting new exhibits, unique education
~ograms and incredible IMAX presentations. The quarterly newsletter, Audubon Institute Members, also focused on
:tting mermbers to the Aquarium through puszles, calendars, and quizzes. The inangural May is Membership Month
Tered incentives such as coupons, recognition stickers, and prizes to members who visited the Aquarium or other
udubon Institute facilifies. Over 3,000 individuals attended two member appreciation theme nights that were planned
1 cooperation with the Aquarium's education department.

The most effective strategic change was implementation of a multi-facility membership package. In the past,
jquanum memberships had been sold separately from Audubon Zoo memberships. Now, members can join one, two or
| three Audubon Institute public facilities — one card is issued for all three facilities, and renewals are sent for the
ickage rather than for each facility. Current members raved about this change, and over 60% of all new members
ught the three-facility membership. The new package, promoted through direct mail drops and renewal notices,
ovides an opportunity to discuss Aquarium projects, reinforcing the perception that there is always something new to
: and do. These changes produced a 25.02% increase in membership revenue (from $633,343 to $791,825), 2 14.01%
rease in membership attendance (from 57,414 to 65,459), and a 11.85% increase in the number of Aquarium
>mberships (from 15,429 to 17,257).

Generel admission at the Aguarium accounte for 29% of total revenue, therefore the Marketing Department is
ively working to assure an increased attendance trend at the Aquarium while aggressively targeting tourisis as wel
locals to meet projected attendance at the Entergy IMAX Theatre and the Changing Exhibits Gallery. By cross-
ling the Aquarium and IMAX experience, Marketing hopes to encourage repeat visitation. Additiona! cross-selling of
> Aquarium and its sister facilities, Audubon Zoo and the Louisiana Nature Center, will also boost attendance
ures. Targeting children aged 6 to 14 was successful this past summer with the inaugurston of the GLUB CLUB!

r a $5.00 membership fee, each child received a membership card, collector POGS, an Aquarium fun fact sheet, a
nce to win one of 20 family sleepovers in the Aquarium, and a half-price coupon for a return visit. This program
2 be repested in the summer of 1996,

Marketing will continue with or will develop new promotional partners in the medie or tourist industry, as well
continue to identify new community events that create positive cornmunity exposure and high viaibility for the
uarium while bringing visitors to the riverfront area. Marketing will work with the Membership Department tc
ure appropriate communication to Friends of the Aquarium for all upcoming programs and events; the Development
»artment to ensure donors receive appropriate public recoguition; snd the Education Department to ensure exposure
‘egional education decision makers particularly around the launching of new flms and exhibits. Additionally,
pitality industry leaders will be targeted through developing strong relationships with conmerges, participation in

French Quarter Festival, appreciation days for cabbies, encouraging seles of pre-purchased tickets, and active
slvement in the Greater New Orleans Tourist and Convention Commission and the New Orleans Tourism Merketing
poranion.

The Aquarium's mairi source of non-cash support is its volunteer Naturalists. Trained to answer questions
ut every exhibit and species represented in the facility, these dedicated volunteers are on the exhibit [loor seven
5 a week from opening untli ciosing; they contributed 68,284 hours of service in 1995 alone. In addition, Naturalists
rpret Aguarium exhibits Lo guests at afler-hours functions. They maximize the capabilities of the Education and
bandry Departments, often continuing the work of paid stafli without Naturalists, these departments would reduce
liminate many of their public programs. Over and above their work at the Aquarium, Naturalists assist the local
tic TV station with its fund-raising telethon, provide an annual holiday celebration for the New Orleans Children's
iescent Hospital, and participate in Beach Sweep and the Sea Turtle Stranding and Rehabilitation project.

Oczcasionally, the Aguanium solicits in-kind services of vetarinarians, as well ns computer equipment and
vare,

» A g 2
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X. Long-Range Plan

1. What is the museum's long-range plan? 2. How does the museum develop, implement and

update the long-renge plan?

To facilitate its mission and that of the Audubon Institute, long-range plans for the Aquarium of the Americas’
Operations include supporting the activities of the Husbandry, Education, and Design and Exhibitry Departments

the maintenance and proper care of the overall facility, as well as expanding Woldenberg Riverfrent Park.
The Audubon Institute's over-all desire to cultivate awareness and appreciation of life and to help conserve and
enrich our natural and man-made world is supported by the master plan for the Aquarium of the Americas. As i
evidenced by the attendance record, the Aquarium continues to realize its purpose of providing the community and
visitors with a world-class marine facility dedicated to the conservation of aquatic life through educationsl end
recreationa! programs offered on a daily basis. While all existing live exhibit displays are continually evaluated and
upgraded by the husbandry staff, new exhibits are elways in the making. The Husbandry, Education, and Design and
Exhibitry Departments continually join forces to create new exhibitry and interactive programs for the enjoyment of our
audience. Senior Administrative and Operations staff join with members of this team on regularly scheduled walk-
throughs with every aspect of the visitor experience reviewed. This results in a "to-do” list for changes that include
evervthing from minor repair to major exhibitry re-interpretation Additional in-house review, visitor exit surveys (both
formal and informal), evaluation from a teacher advisory group, and formative evaluation from outside consultants are
all taken under consideration a5 necessary.

With the successful public response of Phase I of the Aquarium of the Americas, the Audubon Institute broke
ground on Phase II in Spring 1994. Plans for the expansion were focused not only on offering a more in-depth
educational experience for its visitors through interaction and entertainment, but also on serving the community by
providing increased economic impact, The expansion has substantially increased the overall size from 110,000 sq. f&. to
approximately 170,000 sq. ft., and is providing important enhancements to both the exhibitions and programming
currently offered. Expanded guest services and administrative facilities are also included. With a cost of $25 million
for the Entergy IMAX Theatre and the Changing Exhibits Gallery, the construction phase generated approximately 600
new jobs; permanent impact is 1,400 primery and secondary jobs. Both of these new amenities have the capability of
adapting to various educational/conservationa: themes as appropriate to address the needs of our ever-changing world
environment.

With the cpening date sat and exhibity installaton underway, the 11,000-square-feet Changing Exhibits
Gallery anxiously awaits its audience. Under the direction of Design and Exhibitry, Husbandry, and Education
Departments, the multi-sensory presentations will carry the Aquarium’s mission to the citizens of the Greater New
Orieans area and beyond The "edutainment” venue will focus on live aquatic life and present conservation information
which compliments IMAX themes. For the first few years, the gallery will showcase traveling exhibitions (6,000 sq. ft.
or larger) that present aquatic-based themes. In the future, the Aquarium will spotlight themes of either aquatic and/or
biological phenomena. State-of-the-art electrical/lighting and climate control systems are in piace allowing for
flexdbility, and exhibit walls and "furniture” are designec and built to specificaiion W meet the requirements of the
myriad selection of traveling exnibits available. The facility will meet the ADA guidelines for adequate access to
exhibits and interactive components. Changing exhibits will require husbandry collection trips not only surrcunding
the opening of the facility, but also throughout the life of the gallery.

The premiere exhibition, Mating Games — The Reproductive Pentathlon, is on lease from the Monterey Bay
Aquarium in California. The exhibit features varied and amazing ways in which aguatic animals reproduce.
[nterpretive demonstrations for schooi-age children will complement every exhibit. The second exhibition will be
{ly Beguties — spotlighting aquatic animals that use marine toxins to capture prey or defend themselves in the coral
Although this exhibit originated at the Monterey Bay Aquarium, the Aquarium of the Americas has a licensing
ment from Monterey to use only the ttle and editorial research, therefore, it will be our first self-produced exhibit.
11 1298, the Aquarium will debut an &,000 sq. fi. presentation focusing on the importance of the wetlands as related to
the seafood industry; the protection wetlands provide for many animals; and conservation issues that influence our -
lives. Encouraging collaborations among sister institutions and national organizations to create innovative travelling
exhibitions, the Changing Exhibits Gallery will ensure that members and frequent visitors can always expect new and
fuscinating encounters at the Aquarium of the Americas

A new mini-exhibit, to be located near the Gulf of Mexico Fxhibit, is planned for a May 1996 debut. Displaying
five spacies of adult and juvenile jelly figh, the exhibit will have an interactive "laboratory" (staffed by Ecducation
teers) which will encourage visitors to learn more about the “disgusting looking bags of mucus.” A sea turtle
it, expected to open in 1997, wall hughlight the plight of these endangered and threatened species and the
num's efforts n sea turtle conservation. Live components of this exhibit will be hatchlings (cbtained from coptive
ing programs and eventually released) and turtle artifacts such as painted shells, tortoise shell combs, ete. — all
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X. Long-Range Plan (continued)

w attractions to satisfy local repeat visitors and attract new or occasional visitors; call attention to activities, events,
d programs which sustain a strong community and tourist public relations value; and supplement existing exhibits
d collections with new educational opportunities and information on current conservation issues. The decision-
wking process for choosing exhibition topics is based on themes end exhibitry that fulfill the overall Audubon Instirute
pose — Lo celebrate life through nature

The Aquarium Education Department eagerly awaits the opportunity to expand upon the one-to-one learning
pariences it provides for the public. Within the overall expanded facility, the staff anticipates activities that would be
1red w the very young visitor and expand upon tactile exploration for the child. Within the successful collaboration
NOISE, the Education staf is planning for the expansion of the curricuium package that would tie all NOISE
Uities together. A “travel packet” would require that participating students visit all NOISE facilities withir a set
riod of time (one schoc! vear). Another educational progrem meriting attention for the future is the expansion from
to 16 summer-interns from the New Orleans Math and Science School. This program has met with great success in
: past two years and is undertaken in collaboration with Husbandry. Additionally, the Education stafl would
lcome the opportunity to expand upon the number of student teachers as well as the number of local colleges
resented in the current collaboration with these institutions.

The Aquarium has an annual paid advertising budget of $800,000 which will be used, as previously discussed, to
elop campaig

= otn

to efectively meet the goals of the Marketing Departzment. In 1995 the department's Lwo major
vertlsing campaigns achieved a 63% - 79% reach within the local market. To reinforce the impact of the Entergy

AX Theare and the Changing Exhibits Gallery, plans for 1896 include stabilizing Aquarium attendance, increasing
endance by 2% over the previous year, meeting projected attendance at both the Aquarium and the Entergy IMAX
eatre, launching four new exhibits and/or films to locals and tourists, and increasing frequency of local attendance. In
iition to the use of paid advertising, the marketing team plans to organize additional events and promotions

oughout the coming year. Several strategies have been developed to help achieve the goals listed above. Plans have
:n made to increase the budget for the tourist market by directing much of the advertising dollars in that direction.
arranging media partnerships for various programs the advertising dollars can be leveraged to obtain approximately
% more in coverage than is actuslly purchared. Increased public relations and promotional partnerships for topdrive
rkete and air-ravel source markets is also plenned to accomplish the projected increase in attendance. Emphasi

. be place on commumneating that fun, unique, and involving activities at the Aquarium will make the most of
rists' trips to New Orieans.

Simultaneous with the opening of the Changing Exhibits Gallery, the Entergy IMAX Theatre will launch /nw
Deep, 2 3D film experience. The Mearketing Department will have in place for these two new venues an integrated
Iti-media advertising, public relations, promotional event campaign tergeting locals (Aquarium members,
ividuals, students/teachers, {family groups and seniors); the hospitality and tourism industry influencers; education
ders; and the media. The campaign will emphasic fun and excizement for all ages; dispelling the "been there dcone
L7 attitude of locals, as well as informing the tourist that the Aquarium of the Americas merits a vasit because of the
que combination of aquarium, IMAX theater, and changing exhibits. We will continue to build on the renewed
rest — proving that there is always something new at the Aquarium — and in turn, guarantee projected attendance.
ally, the success of the marketing plans will be evaluated by ongoing research to determine if goals are bewng met
¢ if the Agquarium of the Americas has met audience needs. .

Ongoing re-evaluation and updating of a master plan by staff and governing boards makes progress a certainty.
long-range plans are evaluated with the mission statement as & guide — s our ability to conmibute to
wronmental education, pursue conservation of endangered epecies, conduct research, contribute w the growth of the
ununity, and increase attendance enhanced by the plan? Only designs and decisions that meet these criteria are
thy of pursut.

J. How will GOS funds, if cwarded this year, be used to further the museum's purpose?

The Aquarium of the Americas'sister facility, Audubon Zoological Garden, has received two Conservation
port Grants and (since 1982) eight GOS Grants that have greatly increased the productivity of the stafl. The last
nt was received in 1995, If funds are awarded to the Aquarium of the Americas in the 1996 IMS GOS cycle, they

be dedicoted to the new Changing Exhibits Gallery and dispersed to the Husbandry, Design and Exhibitry, and
cotion departments for their respective needs in the planning and production of new exhibits. The funds will cover
coste for Husbandry stafl accomodations and fuel for Aquarium vehicles (a 22 ft. Boston Whaler and a high-tech
10 gallan fish transport unit) for collection trips, as well as the development of cultures, raising of food sources, and
rch Lo care for new exhi animus. (i.e. sen snakes) Funds will be used to hire a full-ime Exhibit Designer
¢ outside consultants on o project-to-project basis. Also, DMS funds will allow for the purchase of necded
i {for the new aquatic enclosuree within the Changing Exhibits Gallery; a theater lighting system

¢ ta the exssting lighting &

vatem, and n Maclntogh video/ed rom production system for creating

ve educntional components needed for each and every new changing exjubit,
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Grant Processing
[nformation Sheet
A. Eligibility Requircments

Al IMS General Operating Support applicants must unswer the following questions.

!. s the muscum organized as a public or pnvate nonprofit institution that exists

on a permanent basis for essentially educational or aesthetic purposes? Yes [ No ()
2. Loes the museum care {or, and own or use tangible objects, whether
animate or inanimate? Yes@ NOD
3. Are these objects exhibiled to the public on a regular basis through
facilities the museum owns or operates? - ;
P Yes @ NOD

4. Is the museum open and exhibiting to the public at least 120 days

a year? Viex @ NOD

. Has the museum been open and providing museum services to the general
public for two (ull years prior to the grant application deadline? Yes (4 No )

W

6. Does the museum have at least one full-time paid or unpaid staf{ member
or the equivalent, whose primary duty is the care, acquisition or exhibition
to the public of objects owned or used by the museum? Yes @ No D

B. Prior IMS Grants

Has your museum ever received an IMS

General Operating Supoornt grant? Yes(4 No [} "
Conservaton Project Support grant? Yes( 4 No ] !
Special Project Support* grant? Yesi_) No [X] !
Museum Assessment Program (I, I1 or [I1) grant? Yes O No a [
Conservation Assessment Program grant? Yes () No &)

C. Costs Requiring IMS Approval

{f you wish 10 use GOS funds for public information services, publications or major equipment
purchases (sec page 1.5 for more derails), those items and their cosis must be iisted below. We will
review the list and contact you if necessary. If you do not hear from us. you may assume that your

fis! hus heen upproved.

ltem Estimated cost

Theater Lighting System 2 1%,000 \
ST i

Mac Inrosh video/cd rom production system $ 11,000 co 12,000 :

(v

5
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Assurances

All grant recipients must comply with the staiutes outlined helow.
All applicants must provide a signed certification (page 40) before a grant can he made.

The Applicant HEREBY AGREES that it will comply with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964
(42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.); Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794): the Age
Oiscaimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Secuon 6101 et seq.); and where applicable, Section 106 of
the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 as amended (16 U.S.C. 470); Executive Order
11593, and the Archeological and Histonic Preservation Act of 1966 (16 U.S.C. 469a-1 et seq.); Title
[X of the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. 1681-1683); and all regulations of the [nstitute
of Museum Services issued pursuant to these statutes. FURTHERMORE, the applicant HEREBY
CERTIFIES that it meets all requirements regarding Federal debt status and Federal debarment and
suspension and that it will provide a drug-free workplace in compliance with the Drug-Free Work-
place Act of 1983.

This assurance shall obligate the Appiicant for the period duning which the Federal financial
assistance is extended.

This assurance is given in connection with any and all financial assistance from the Institute of
Museum Services after the date this form is signed. This includes payments after such date for
financial assistance approved before such date. The Applicant recognizes and agrees that any such ¢
assistance will be extended in reliance on the representations and agreements made in this assurance,
and that the United States shall aave the right to seek jucicial enforcement of this assurance. This
assurance is binding on the Applicant, its successors, transferees, and assignees, and on the Author-
izing Official whose signature appears below.

Assurances Explanation

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 provides that no persons in the United States shail, on the
grounds of race, color, or national origin, be excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits
of, or otherwise be subjected 10 discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal
financial assistance. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 provides for nondiscrimination :
on the basis of handicap in Federally-ussisted programs. Section 6101 of the Age Discrimination H
Act of 1975 provides for nondiscrimination in Federally-assisted programs on the basis of age.
Suvject 10 ceriain exceptions, Title [X of the Education Amendments of 1972 prohibits the exclusior
of persons on the basts of sex from any educution program or activity receiving Federal financial
assistance,

e e ——

S

Federul Debt Status

The applicani certifies to the best of hiy or her knowledge and belief that he or she is not delinquent
in the repayment of any Federal dein




3t \plication Form [O9SHT990 IMS General Operaning Suppaort

vprension

ertifies (o the best of his or her knowlege and vedief thet he or she! (w) iy not pres-

wnded, proposed for debarment. dectared ineligible, or volurarily excluded

coarimeni or agency; (B hay nol within u thréee-veur
[ of or had a el judgment rendered against him or

vvsveon of fraud or a criminal offense in conne wilh oblaining, attempting 10 ¢ in,

or performiny u public { Federal, state, or locul) iransaction or contract under a public transaction.

vinlation of Federal or state annirusi statuies: or commixsion of embezzlement, theft, forgery, brib-

ery, Jaisification or destruction '1," records, making false statements, or receiving siolen property; (¢}

is Aol p

senily indicted for or otherwise criminally or civiily cacryed by a governmenial entity
(Federal, siate, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (b) of this
certificatton; and (d) has not within a three-year period preceding this application had one or more
public transactions (Federal, state, or local) terminuted for cause or default.

Waorkplace Act of 1988

(u) The grantee certifies that, as a condition of the yrant, he or she will not engage in the unlaw/ul

manufuciure, distribution, dispensing. possession, or use of a controlled subsiance in conducting ary
«Clivity with the grant.

(h) If convicied of a criminal drug offense resulting from a violation occurring during the conducr of

any grani activity, he or she will report the conviction. in writing, within ten calendar davs of the

conviction, 1o the grant officer or other designee, urnicss the Federal agency designaies a central
oint for the receipt of such notices. When notice is made to such a central point, it shall include the

identification numben s) of each affecied grant.

For further information on the certifications, contact [MS a: | 100 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW,
Washington, DC 20506. '

ute ndiregila
=
7 RSk ::‘\5;

% a!l- v

Signatureiof*Authorzi cial,
S ST ISTErR ARTTS A e jl”'\

Name and Title of‘Authorizing Official

et i e R g i
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Audubon Institute
PROSPECT RESEARCH REQUEST

Date:

Prepared by:

Specific Prospect:

Name:

Address (if available):

~hone:

Type of Information Requested:

Needed by:

Find Potential Prospects:

Type of Giving (capital, operating, program, etc.):

Gift Range: $ to §
Type of Donor(s): Corporate
Foundation Other, specify:

Individual

General Geographic Location:

Other info. to assist in search:

Needed by:




ICONFIDENTIAH

Audubon Institute
FOUNDATION CONTACT SHEET

Date: Prepared by:

Is this contact a: Potential Prospect Active Prospect

Foundation Name:

Contact Name/Title: Corp. Affiliation?:
Address:

Phone: FAX:

General Description/Mission.:

What is the focus of the Giving Program?

Giving Limitations: general operating ——— capital program
Geographic Limitations:

Application procedures:

Has this Foundation given to Al before? Yes No

If yes, when, how much, and for what purpose?

Giving Capacity: Average past gifts: $

Other organizations it supports:

Have we received an Annual Report? Yes No

Board of Trustees:

Have Board members been cross referenced with Al files? Yes No

If yes, what are the connections?

Are there any Al Friends, Staff, etc., that can assist with solicitation?
If so, list:

Other Information: attach to this form, include contact notes with dates & times, recommend
best approach, follow up notes, status of solicitation.....Is further research required.



[ CONFIDENTIAY

Audubon Institute
CORPORATE CONTACT SHEET

Date: Prepared by:

Is this contact a: Potential Prospect Prospect

Corporation Name:

Contact Name/Title:
Address:
Phone: FAX:

General Description of Corp.:

Does this Corporation have a Giving Program: Yes No

If yes, what is the focus of the program?

Proposal Requirements: ______letter _full written proposal —call

Information needed for proposal:

Has this Corp. given to Al before? Yes No

If yes, when, how much, and for what purpose?

Giving Capacity: Average past gifts:
Previous year giving total:
Annual Net Income:
Other info:

Have we received an Annual Report? Yes No

L RN ]

Board of Directors:

Have Board members been cross referenced with Al files? Yes No

If yes, what are the connections?

Are there any Al Friends, Staff, etc., that can assist with solicitation?
If so, list:

Other Information: attach to this form, include contact notes with dates & times, recommend
best approach, follow up notes, status of solicitation.....Is further research required.
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[ CONFIDENTIAL]

Audubon Institute
INDIVIDUAL CONTACT SHEET

Date: Prepared by:

Is this contact a: Potential Prospect Active Prospect

Name:

Home Address:

Home Phone:

Corp. Affiliation/Position.:

Work Address:

Work Phone: Work FAX:
Spouse Yes _____No

If yes, Name:

Children:______Yes No

If yes, list names & ages:

Has this Individual given to Al before? Yes No

If yes, when, how much, and for what purpose?

Other Al association-— member—__volunteer—_ Board (past or present)

ZTD other, explain

Giving history with other organizations (who & amount):

Other Affiliations (clubs, boards, foundations, etc.):

Giving Capacity: Average past gifts: $
Any other gift or financial info:

Other Information: attach to this form, include contact notes with dates & times,
recommend best approach, follow up notes, status of solicitation.....Is further research
required.
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Development Departmant

RESEARCH CHECKLIST
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AUDUBON INSTITUTE
Z00-TO-DO FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Report Date: May-86
CATEGORY | 1985 1986 | 1987 1989 | 1990 | 1991 1992 | 1993 1994 1995 | TOTAL
Special Sponsorship ‘ 100,000 100,000 225,000
Patrons: $10,000 3o,ooo| 30,000 | 40,000 60,000, 60,000 56,650 50,000 47,000 46,000 469,650
$3000| 30,000| 21,000/ 33,000 _ 51,000] 60,000 45000| 36000  33000| 39,000 36,000 426,000 |
$1,500| 49,500 48,000 42,000 60,000 57,000 55500| 45400 46500| 555500 45,000 556,900
[ | $1,000( 20,000/ 19,000 15,000 17,000/ 19,000 17,000 10,000 14,000 21,000 16,000 190,000
[ { $500| 48,000 49,500 41,250 | 45500 40500| 20000 22235 38,750| 33,500| 38,500 424,360
ot \ $350| 60,025 32,275 32,900 30,800, 38,150 35350|  15050| 14,000,  16,100( 22,050  16625| 313,325
Ticket Sales: | Regulari 244,300 293750 257,875| 282,500 280,395 265795| 229,950| 181,470 190,620 197,775 168,075 2,592,505
A | Staff 2150 1275 3775 6125 6,350 8,275 7,500 9870 11,040 11480 12,870 80,690
| NoungFrend | | ] - L | 1s770] 13770,
Donations: ‘ Cash Donations  N/A N/A 1,300 1,075 1,060 470  NA 3,170 1,255 599 1,655 10,584
' | Oddball ) ) - | 4450 9590 19,005 33,045 |
' - Misc, ‘ 1,500 | 1,200 2,700
o i _ RaMe WA | NA | 52992| 54000| 42842| 35300| 38300 27.267| 17.841 6047|  %72| 332411
Atctio ‘ S _ L [ 3287 329027
TOTAL - ) r} 453,975| 494,800 510,062| 612,625| 582,397 | 681,690| 4B9,300| 406,062| 423556| 565021 584,345 | 5,703,867
|
% Increase(Decrease) from l |
__previous year - 9%|  3%|  20%|  5%| 012%|  -18%| -17%| 4%l  33%| 3% —
Regular Ticket Price 100 125 125 125] 13§ 135 135 ~135] 135] 135 135
|staff Ticket Price 50 25| 25| 25| 25| 25 — 25| 30| 3o 3] 80
|Young Friend Ticket Price | 85
Aftendance:(ticket sales) _ Regular 2,443 2,350 2,063 2,260 2,077 1,969 1,703 1344 1412 1,465 1,245 20,331
- st 43 51 151 245 254 31| 300 329 368| 382 429 2,883
Young Friend [ 162 162 |
TOTAL - 2,486 2,401 2214 2505 2331 2300 _ 2003] 1673 1,780 | 1,847 1,836 23,376 |

Significant Variances:
‘85 to '86:
‘86 to '87:
'87 to '88:
'88 to '89:
‘89 to '90:
'90 to '91:
‘91 to '92:
'92 to '93:
‘93 to '94:
'94 to ‘95:

introduction of the Auction generated an additional 5.63% in total revenue.

See graphs for General Trends.

File:123rdwischool\ztdtrnd

Gain of 3 $10,000 level patrons; increase in Regular ticket price; loss of 79 $350 level patrons; loss of 3 $3,000 leve! patrons.
Introduction of the Raffle generating 10% of total revenues; loss of 12% In Regular ticket sales; loss of 17 $500 level patrons.
Gain of a Special Sponsorship of $25,000; increase in all levels of patron support except the $350 level; gain of 5% in Regular and Staff ticket sales.
Loss of a Special Sponsorship; 8% increase in Regular ticket prices.
50% gain in $10,000 level patrons generating 3% of total revenue; loss of 10 $500 level patrons; 5.21% loss in Regular ticket sales.
Gain in Raffle proceeds of 11.33%,; 13.49% loss in Regular ticket sales; losses in all patron levels, except the $10,000 level which remained constant.
Losses in all patron levels, except the $500 level; 21.08% loss in Regular ticket sales; increase in Staff ticket sales revenue due to price increase.

Recovery of 33 $500 level patrons; gain of additional revenue in the Oddball category.
Gain of a Special Sponsorship of $100,000; small upward movement in Regular ticket sales.
15% loss in Regular ticket sales; Addition of Young Friend ticket sales which may have pulled some sales from the higher priced Regular ticket category;

Cel



Audubon Institute

Zoo-to-Do Gross Revenue 1985 - 1995

700
675
650
625 |- 20%

600 |- TN5%  0.12% 3%

s -
575 |- - 1 3%
550 |-
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500 g: - - -16%

; ;
‘ @ Gross Revenue

Attendance

475

Gross Revenue
Thousands

450 |- ®
4%/
425 | A47%

300 1 = —+ 4 ‘
1985 1986 1887 1988 1889 1990 1981 1992 1993 1994 1985
Year

General Trends:

There has been a slight upward trend in total revenue over the 10 years, 1985 - 1995. However, from 1988
through 1993 there was a sharp decline year to year. Recovery over 1994 and 1995 has brought the revenue
level back to a 29% increase over 1985.

File:123rd4w\school\ztdtrnd
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Audubon Institute
|ZTD Revenue by Major Category: 1985-1995

(41.7%)

(3.9%)
(0.6%)

(5.8%)

" (0.8%)

(47.1%)

File:123r4w\school\ztdtrnd
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| | Audubon Institute

Zoo-to-Do Total Attendance 1985 - 19385

2500 &
2400 | ® / |

2300 ]

2100 +- ) = Attendance ;

2000 Q

Atftendance

1900
1800

1700

i.

= | .

1600 — ! —_ !
1985 1986 1987 1988 1989 1890 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995
Year

General Trends:

Since its inception Zoo-to-Do's attendance (# of tickets sold) has made a generally steady decline. The
figures peaked in 1988 with attendance of 2505. In 1992 the numbers began to move upward again, but
seem to have leveled off in 1995, The reason total revenues have had a generally upward trend while
attendance has dropped off is the additional revenue from sponsors, patrons, events (Raffle and Auction), and
a slight increase in ticket prices

File:123rdw\school\ztdtrnd
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General Trends:
Comparing patron levels of 1985 with 1995 there is very litle variance. However, during the 10
years in between the level of patron giving has fluctuated from a peak in 1990 of $272,000 to a
low of $184 000 in 1992. For the 10 years analyzed the mix of patron giving has been close to
equally divided among the 6 patronlevels.

- Audubon Institute
iZTD Patron Sponsorships 1985 - 1995
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Audubon Institute
Revenue from Patron Sponsorship by Category: 1985-1995

(17.9%)

(19.7%)

(23.4%)

(13.2%)

(17.8%)

(8.0%)
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AUDUBON INSTITUTE
KIDS ZOO-TO-DO FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Report Date: May-95
CATEGORY 1989 1990 | 1991 | 1992 | 1993 | 1994 | 1995 | TOTAL |
i i \ ‘ ' ! |
Patrons: | Fertility Institute A | 5,190 ’ 10,000| R . 15,190
! $1,000 J | | 2000 2,000
| | $500 [ | 1500, 3500 1,000| 500/ 6,500
\ g B $250 | ) i ] 2,812, 2,025 2000 6,837
'* & $100 ] - 3,400 6,468 8,178 9,525| 27,571
Ticket Sales: | Non-member - 2916 1,695| 2790 1530 2610 1395 12,936f
| Member, 11,490 18,970 22,068 20,041 13,756 14,906 | 14,448 115,679
Donations: | ~ Misc. ] ] - | 905| 905
TOTAL 111,490 21,886 28,953 27,731 40,066 28,719 ﬂ,??:’l“77187,618‘
} — ‘ : , S LD =2 £
|% Increase(Decrease) from ‘ ’|
|__previous year | L 90% 2%, 4% _44% -28%| 0188%
Non-Member Ticket Price ] [ 12] ~15] 15] 150 15 15
IMember Ticket Price ) . 10| 10| 12 12 12 12| 12|
Attendance: Non-Members ] 243 113 186, 102 174 93 911|
I Members 1,149 1,897 1,839 1,670 1,146 1,242 1204 10,148
TOTAL - B 1,149 2,140 1,962 1856 1248 1416,  1297| 11,059

Significant Variances:
'92 to '93: 31% decrease in Members' ticket sales.
'93 to '94: Loss of 5 $500 leve! patrons.
'94 to '95: 47% decrease in Non-Member ticket sales.

See graphs for General Trends.

File:\123r4w\school\kidsztd
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Audubon Institute |
|Kids Zoo-to-Do Gross Revenue 1983 - 1995 é

\ 50 —— - — |

44%

35 =

32% 28% 0.188%
30 _AS 3
ks B "

| & Gross Revenue g

Thousands
L
|
Attendance

25

Gross Revenue

20

\
! 15

‘ 5 Lo —4 i —
1989 1990 1991 1992 1993 1994 1995
Year

General Trends:
There has been a generally upward trend over the past 7 years. Total revenue peaked in 1993, decreased in
1994, and leveled off in 1895. Overall 150% increase from 1989 to 1995.

File:\123r4w\school\kidsztd
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|
Kids ZTD Revenue by Major Category: 1989-1995

Audubon Institute

File:\123r4w\school\kidsztd
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P 'Aﬁaufbon Instituté

|Kids Zoo-to-Do Total Attendance 1889 - 1995
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1 | Attendance i
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General Trends:

There has been a very slight upward trend in attendance (# of tickets sold) over the past 7 years. A sharprise
in 1990 was offset by light to sharp declines over next 3 years. The last 2 years have seen a leveling off, with a
13% overall increase between 1989 and 1995.

File:\123r4w\school\kidsztd
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Audubbﬁ Institute j

|Kids ZTD Patron Sponsorships 1889 - 1995

28 - — - —

26 406%

20 |- / l
18 ‘
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Total Revenue from Patron Sponsorships
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0 ] - ! Rt = .
1989 1990 1891 1892 1993 1984 1995
Year

General Trends:

There has been a steady overall increase in patrons of 145% from 1992 to 1995 (no patrons in
1989-1991). The level peaked in 1993, dropped 55% and leveled off in 1995. Over the 7 years of
Kids ZTD most patron revenue came from the $100 level, 47.5% (see Pie Chart).

File:\123r4w\school\kids ztd
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| Audubon Institute
iKids ZTD Revenue from Patron Sponsorship by Category. 1989-1995

(3.4%)

(11.8%) B Fertility Institute

3 $1,000
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THE AUDUBON INSTITUTE

145

PO. Bcy 4327 * New Orleans, LA 70178 » 504-861-2537

May 29, 1996

TO: Laurie Conkerton
Shelley Devlin

FROM: Margaret Davidson

RE: Twilight Adventure Sponsor Projections 1996

Attached is the analysis of revenues and expenses for Twilight
Adventure from 1993 =~ 1995. Using these figures and the plans to
add school group tours to the 1996 sponsorship benefits, I have
calculated that Twilight Adventure will need additional sponsors in
order to maintain the 1995 net income level. If we provide the bus
transportation for the school groups Twilight Adventure will need
an additional $6,770 in sponsorship revenue. Without providing the

bus transportation an additional $3,780 in sponsorship revenue will
be needed.

I have also included a detailed worksheet, sorted by giving

level, on the 1995 sponsers. In crder to improve tracking of and
reference to sponsors I reccmmend maintazining a similar worksheet
for 19%6 and forward. This could also ke dcne for cother events,
such as Zoo-To-Do. Easier and more efficient reference to data

from past events will greatly enhance decisions made in planning
future events.

In conjunction with the Twilight Adventure revenue/cost study
I also prepared worksheets which analvze the 1%%5 school group tour
attendance at the Nature Center. I have included 3 different
anaiyses:

1. By type of school
2. By month
3. By parish/state

I hope this information will be helpful in projecting future
attendance, and in gquiding the plans for group tours that are
sponsored by Twilight Acdventure donors.

[

“CELEBRATING LIFE THROUGH NATURE"




|

Revenues:
*Sponsors (1995 only)
*Donations
Ticket Sales & Misc.
Auction
o 7 Retail
TOTAL REVENUE

|[Expenses:
INet Income:

[
{

(Cost per $ raised |

The Audubon Institute
Twilight Adventure
Revenues & Expenses 1993 - 1995

1993

153,350
8,538
391

162,279 |

24,093

| $138,186

$0.15

1994

145,450

449

16,686

$0.1

1

11,769 |

| $140,982

157,668 | .

|
i

|

* Income from Sponsors and Donations is included with Ticket Sales income for 1993

and 1994.

% % 1
| Change | 1995 | Change
60,850
7,425
515% | 34,944 -34.14%
37.84% 6,156 -47.69%
14.83% | 0| -100.00%
-2.84% 109,375 -30.63%
-30.74%,  10,515| -36.98%
_ 2.02%| $98,860| -29.88%]
-28.72%|  $0.10| -9.16%

4!



Twilight Adventure

Nestle

'Stewart Enterpnses (Roy Perrin)

Sponsors S ————— _
‘ Benefactor | Sponsor [ Pelican Wings Wild Wings Other
1985 - $500 - $999 | $1,000-$1,999 | $2,000 - $4,999 $5,000 - $9,999 | $10,000 & up Donations TOTAL
Nicholson, Tom N 1 A ' 500
Bories, Mrs. AlanV. B - 500 1 b : 500 |
Folgers Coffee(Robt. White) s0| ] N i = T \ 500 |
Frischhertz, James J. - B ‘ 500 | | 500 |
Gardner, Rick N 500 B - B 500 |
IMintz, Mitchell & Christie 500 - - I - 500 |
Kerr-Mcgee Corp.(Matt Watson) 500 S S 500 |
Laitrim Corp. (JM Lapeyre, Jr.) 500 - s ==l 3 - - 500
[Liberty Bank (Alden McDonald) 500 | B 500 |
Marrero Land_@pfovement Assoc. 500 . Dati T = ;5@}
(Buckner Barkley, Jr.) 500 ‘ B - o 500 |
Methodist Health System (Fred Young) 500 - ] | - ] 500 |
Phillips, Mr. & Mrs. Nathaniel P., Jr. 500 ] B | . 500
Schafer, Kernion & Pamela 500 - | 1 ) | 500 |
Simmons, Mr. & Mrs. Richard | 500} . . . - _500]
{Textron Marine (John Kelly) 500 - - 500 \
[Tidewater (Wim. C. O'Malley) ~ 500| o - 500
Wastﬂ Mgmt of LA (Steve Villavago) 500 500 |
[Orleans Materials (John & ﬁéﬁsey Jr) N 500 a | 500
Jefferson Cox Cable (Steve Sawyer) 500 | , - - - - | 500]
Villere, Mr. & Mrs. St. Denis | ] D - ] . 50|
Sloss, Mr. Lynes ~ s00! I s i [ 500
Randolph, Taylor ’ 500 | ) B | ‘ 500 |
Pascal Grp/Gootee @nstg@grl (Cullota) SOQI R | B 500
Bollinger Shipyards (Donald Bollinger) 500 B e e N e - 500
Air Products & Chemicals (Patricia Mullen) 500 | 1 - - - - ’S(f{
IFenner French Fnd. (Dr. &Mrs.R. French) | ~ 500]| B ! ’ 500 !
KPMG Peat Marwick (Deke Carbo) . 80| | N B . 500i
Moffatt, Donald - B @l R | S| S | 500 |
_— 00| | i . L 500 |
Boh Bros Construction (Robt Boh) | | - | - | 1,250
Entergy (Gary Sibert) [ | i - - B 1500
Eskew Filson Architects I . 1,000 |
Lockheed Martin (Thomas Branigan) l - ] - - . 1500
IMcDermott Interna'ti (Don Washington) | . B ) . 1,000
\Crescent Bank & Trust (Solomons) | I . . - ‘ 1,000
|South Central Bell (Ekon King) | - ) | ) 1,600
‘ | 1,000
I

|Sanford Mr. & Mrs. Mahlon




Twilight Adventure
Sponsors

|

‘ 1995
Tullis, Mr. & Mrerh

Arthur Anderson (Toby Sumnerous)

Pellerin, Curtis

Winn Dixie (RJ Brocato)

Khachaturian, Jon

Fowler, Clive

Chevron Companies 5 (Julia Fremin)
Exxon Co., (Roger Koerner)

FNBC (Lynn B. Wipperling)

International Shipholding (Ferguson)
\LL&E (Elizabeth G. Hoag)

Wink, Inc.

Shell Offshore (Bllly R. Vehnekamp)
Mobil Oil (Don Michaels)

Cortney Co. (Hans Jonassen}

Lapeyre, Mr. & Mrs. J. M., Jr.

Lewis, Mr. & Mrs, HarveyJ

Rapler Kathryn E.

Seago Investments (Michael Seago)
Steeg, Mr. & Mrs. Moise, Jr.

Barnes, Dr. & Mrs. George
Burkenroad Foundation (Bobby Bories)

Erik Johnson Family Foundation
Adler, Coleman
Culver, Mrs. John M.

Taylor, Mrs. Pat

Hever | Foundation
First Amer. Trtle Ins., Co. (John Casbon)

Norman, Mrs. P. R.

Duncan, Kitty & Brooke

J. Aron Charitable Fndtn (Peter Aron)

'Usdln Steven & Melanie
\Coan Patrick & Susan

|Charles Keller

ITOTALS

|Total Sponsors
Total Donations
Grand Total

| Benefactor Sponsor i Pelican Wings | Wild Wings Other l |
© $500-$999 | $1,000-$1,999 | $2,000-$4,999 | $5,000-$9,999 | $10,000 & up Donations | TOTAL
100 I : 1,000
o 1000' el B 1000
- - 1,000 - - 1000
. 150 - - 1,500 |
I 1,000 e . - 1,000
] 2000 _ - . 2,000
. 2000 N 2,000
o 2000 SRS . 2000
| 4,000 4,000
I . 2500 B - - - 2500
I 2,000 | B 2,000
B - 2500 | - 250
- 5,000 5,000
I ) I 1500 i 7500
- 100 100
- ) B 100 100
o - i 10 100
B R | ~ 25| 25
I S = .. 10| 100,
1 B - 100 100
il S I 100 100
R A ¢ 1,000 1,000
R __ 2500 2,500
] S [ | 200 200
I i B K 100 100
SN ) =l 250 250
T 250 250
I N S o | ) 2850 250
1 50 50
I { - %0 = %
] o I 1,000 | 1,000 |
) B \ 100 100
B _ ‘ 50| 50
- | R o ; 1000/ 1,000
$15,000 | $16350 $17,000 $12,500 | $0 $7.425 $68275
| ‘_ A | e | $68,275
7,425
‘ | T 68,275

[



The Audubon Institute
Twilight Adventure
Revenues & Expenses 1993 - 1995
Projection for 1996 **

% | % | Projected % Increase in
1993 1994 Change . 1995 Change 1996 Change Sponsors
to keep Net
| , _ | | ! | Income Same
Revenues: 86,770
*Sponsors (1995 only) 60,850 60,850 0.00% 60,850
*Donations 7,425 7,425 0.00% 7,425
Ticket Sales & Misc| 153,350, 145,450 -5.15% | 34,944 -29.03% 34,944 0.00% 34,944
Auction 8,538 11,769 37.84% 6,156 -47.69%| 6,156 0.00% 6,156
Retail 391 449 14.83% 0 —10(_).0(_)%1'_7 0  0.00% 0
TOTAL REVENUE 162,279 157,668  -2.84% 109,375 -30.63%| 109,375| 0.00% 116,145
‘ |
iExpenses: 24,093 16,686 -30.74% 10,515| -36.98% 10,515 0.00% 10,515
Outreach Programs| 2,400/ 100.00% 2,400
‘ **Class Sponsorspip§:‘ - ‘ _ 1 ) ig?gji)o.go% ) 4,370
! TOTAL EXPENSES 24,093 16,686 10,515 1 17,285 64.38% 17,285
INet Income: | $138,186 $140,982]  2.02%| $98,860 -29.88%| $92,090] | $98,860
= - A3 | —— ik i
l lCost per $ raised $0.15 $0.11| -28.72% $0.10‘ - -9.16% $0.16} 64.38%‘ $0.15

* Income from Sponsors is included with Ticket Sales income for 1993 & 1994,
** Includes expenses for bus transportation for public school class sponsorships.

4!



Revenues:
*Sponsors (1995 only)
‘ *Donahons
Ticket Sales & Misc.

Auction?
Retail

| TOTAL REVENUE
Expenses:

Outreach Programs
! **Class Sponsorships

. TOTAL EXPENSES

r
Net Income:

Cost per § raised

1993

153,350
8,538
391
162,279

24,093

24,093 |

The Audubon Institute

Twilight Adventure
Revenues & Expenses 1993 - 1995

%

Projection for 1996 **

$138 186| $140, 982

$0.15

1994 | Change | 1995
| |
| |
.~ 60,850
7,425
145450  -5.15% 34,944
11,769 37.84% 6,156
449 1483% 0
157,668 -2.84% 109,375
16,686 -30.74%, 10,515
16,686 10,515
_ 2.02%  $98,860
$0.11| -28.72%  $0.10

%
Change

-29.03%
-47.69%
-100.00%

-30.63%|

-36.98%

-29.88%|

9.16%

* Income from Sponsors is included with Ticket Sales income for 1993 & 1994,
** Excludes expenses for bus transportation for pubtic school class sponsorships.

.

Projected %
1996 Change
J
60,850 0.00% |
7,425 0.00%
34,944 0.00%
6,156 0.00%
0 B 0.00‘1/0}
109,375 0.00% |
10,515 0.00%
2,400 100.00%
1,380/ 100.00%
| 14,295  35.95%
$95,080 l
$0.13) 35.95%

Increase in |

Sponsors

to keep Net
Income Same

$3,780
60,850
7,425
34,944
6,156
0

1 13,155‘

10 515|
2,400
_1,380)

14,295
$98,860

0C1



Estimate of Costs of Additional Perks with 1996 Sponsorships:
With bus transportation

' Outreach | Class Costof | Costof #sold | Total
B  Program | Sponsor |1 Outreach, 1 Class | Estimate | Cost |
Emeritus 1 80.00 30 2,400.00
Honor Roll 1 190.00 14| 2,660.00
Principal's Honor Roll | 2| 190.00 7 1,330.00
Headmaster's List | 4  190.00 2| 380.00
Phi Beta Kappa ] 8| | 190.00 _9‘ 0.00|
Total 1 15 | 53 6770.00

Wi/out bus transportation

' Outreach | Class \ Costof | Costof | #sold Total
' Program | Sponsor 1 Outreach| 1Class | Estimate =~ Cost |
Emeritus 1| | 80.00 | 30 2,400.00|
Honor Roll : 1] 60.00 14 840.00
Principal's Honor Roll‘ | i 60.00 7 420.00
Headmaster's List 4 60.00 2 120.00
Phi Beta Kappa N 8 60.00 | 0‘ ~ 0.00
Total 1] 15| 53 3,780
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Attendance

Thousands

10

[Louiﬁsiana;r\ﬁlatur;(fent;

‘ School Group Tours 1995

S

Public Private Summer Camp Unidentified
Type of School

Daycare

‘ E% Attendance

A



e
AUDUBON INSTITUTE
Louisiana Nature Center
School Group Tours
Attendance by School Type
1996
1996 | School LA Parish
Week of | School Type Attendance |  Grade | or State Subtotals
___16-Jan jOak Preschool ) | | 15 Pre-K B
| 16-Jan Westbank Headstart N | &8 Pre-K B
06-Feb IHappy Start 1 17 Pre-K-K - !
| 13-Feb |Connie Green B | 10, Pre-K
27-Feb |[Chata Ima B 46 | Pre-Kl ’
| 27-Feb [Buchanan 56 5|
 06-Mar |Dove Park B 15 34
06-Mar [Bay Middle 60 4!
| 13-Mar Leinkauf 44 5| 2l
 20-Mar Filiman T 62 6/ 1
_20-Mar IMablewood Middle 35 8] |
__27-Mar |Bay Senior High 33 912 1
_17-Apr Sandhill Elementary 1 45 34 )
17-Apr |Connie Green 1 10| Pre-KJL \
| 24-Apr [Noliwood 66 6] B ”‘
| 01-May |Semmes 90 6| o
| 01-May Bowling Green 25 4
_ 01-May [Chata Ima 48 K
| 15-May Bates 47 8| o
| 12-Jun J.Bennet Johnston i 38 1-8 - -
~ 18-Jun Harry Reed - D5 812 B
26-Jun [Childrens Salvation - 35 L
10-Jul [CEEP - 2 51
_10-Jul \Winning Circle T B —__ 35 K&
| 17-Jul [Chi Eta Phi Society o 25 | 2-8 o o
~17-Jul |Best of Friends - | - 30 1-6 -
09-Oct |Connie Green | 10] Pre-K
16-Oct (Chef Homeschoolers | | 44 412
30-Oct (Cedarlake | 30 910
_06-Nov |Freeport-Haley | N 40 6
06-Nov Millerwall | | 50 ) 3
13-Nov |West Elementary - | 50, 56
~_13-Nov |Schoeffner ‘ 65 B -
~ 20-Nov [Cedarlake - 30 4 -
~ 27-Nov |Bonnie Ecole 28] | -
~27-Nov |Law Headstart 55 Pre-d
04-Dec Connie Green B 10 Pre-K
| 04-Dec Cedarlake - 444 3
27-Nov |Kingsly House 27| Pre-K|Orleans
TOTAL - UNIDENTIFIED TYPE s s L 1,479
05-Jun |Camp Care-A-Lot Camp [ 55 6-8
~03-Jul |Cub Scout Pack A ~ |Camp 22 25
10-dul Wedgewood Elementary \Camp B 43 Pro-Ks o
~10-Jul |Cub Scout Pack 393 Camp 38 1-5
| 17-Jul[Children’s College iCamp 1 2 K
_24-Jul |Majestic Oak Academy Camp - 20] 6-11
24-Jul (Crossgates Athletics Club Camp 44 | K-8
31-Jul |[Cedarwood Summer Camp ~|Camp 66 K2
07-Aug 'AldersghaLe“Methodvst _ |Camp IS 55| pid -
| 05-Jun [St. Clement of Rome Camp | 50 |Jefferson
05-Jun |Archb;shop Blenk [Camp | 57 Jefferson
05-Jun (Our Lady of Divine Providence |Camp 50 |Jefferson
12-Jun [Faith Academy Camp ) 25| Pre-K-2 Jefferson
12-Jun St Lawrence the Martyr __|Camp 50 | |Jefferson
12-Jun |St. Ann Camp ) 50 o |Jefferson
~12-Jun St Benilde Camp 50 _ |Jefferson
19-Jun (Harahan Summer Camp |Camp T 50| K-5 Jefferson
19-Jun |Bayou Savage Camp ~ |Camp 60 4-6 Jefferson
19-Jun St. Benilde Camp 50 |Jefferson l
26 -Jun ISt Ann Camp 50 o Jefferson
~ 26-Jun St. Benilde o Camp - 50, |Jefferson
~ 26-Jun Williams Blvd. Summer Camp Camp 2| 16 Jefferson
26-Jun St. Lawrence the Martyr (Camp | 50 \Jefferson =
733 -Jul [LA Cooperative Extension Service  (Camp - 43 4-6 Jefferson
03-Jul 'St Clement of Rome ‘Camp 50 Jefferson
03-Jul !Our Lady of Divine Providence Camp 50 Jefferson




AUDUBON INSTITUTE
Louisiana Nature Center
School Group Tours
Attendance by School Type

,_x
AT

1996
1996 | LA Parish
Week of | School Attendance |  Grade or State | Subtotals
~10-Jul |[Nunez Kiddy College 15| 2-5 Jefferson
17-Jul [Naval Support ) 70| 1-7 Jefferson
‘I7-Ju| ‘Klddl_e College Learning Center 44 | Pre-K-4 Jefferson
17-Jul 'St_ Matthew the Apostle 75 7-12 Jefferson
~17-Jul |St. Matthew the Apostle 75 3-6Jefferson
~17-Jul |Kidsport 110 ) K-8Jefferson
o 73v1-:lu4I Metairie YMCA i 44 - 6-7 Jefferson
12-Jun |Stennis Space Camp ] 40 B 3-5Mi ippi
| 12-Jun |Jackson State University 42 9-12Mississippl
| 79-Jun [Stennis Space Camp 40 3-5Mississippi
| 26-Jun [NASA B 40 Mississippi
| 24-Jul [Stennis Child Development Center  Camp | 38 | 1-6Mississippl
~ 05-dun lResurrectlon of Our Lord Church Camp — 5_0_1 Orleans
~ 0s- Jun |St. Raphael Camp | 50 Orleans
05-Jun [St. Margaret [Camp S0 Orleans
05-Jun 'St. Rita {Camp 50 Orleans
| 05-Jun St. Andrew Camp 50 [Orleans
12-Jun [Southern University Camp 35 Teens Orleans
12-Jun |St. Rita Camp 50 {Orleans
12-Jun |Jesuit Summer Camp ~_camp 66 | Pre-K-6Orleans
12-Jun |Lake Castie North Camp | 55 P_re—K-SOrleans
12-Jun [St. Dominic Day Camp Camp 45 ~ 1-20rleans
~ 12-Jun TLake Castle Girls Camp Camp 72 Bre-K-KOrleans
~12-Jun |Southern University Camp B 33 6-8Orieans
12- Jun*Resurrecnqu of Our Lord Church Camp. | 50/ Orleans
18-Jun |Resurrection of Our Lord Church ~ [Camp S0 Orleans
~18-Jun St. Andrew Camp - 50| Orleans
19-Jun |St. Pius Camp 50 | ~ |Orleans
~ 19-Jun St. Margaret - Camp 50 Orleans
19-Jun Zoo Camp - Camp 25 6 Orleans
- 19 Jun 'St Dominic Day Camp Camp 45 1-30rleans
19-Jun St. Rita Camp 50 B |Orleans
~18-Jun Southern University Camp __ 35 TeensOrleans
19-Jun Southern University ~ Camp 35] 3-50rleans
" *‘IﬁQﬁJ»y‘n (Xavier University |Camp 4-6_ 6-7Orleans |
26-Jun |LNC Summer Camp Camp 25 [Orieans
| 26-Jun |St. Clavier - Camp ) . 66 3-4 Orleans
26-Jun [Zoo Camp 'Camp ] 25 6 |Orleans
~03-Jul |St. Pius [Camp 50] Orleans
03-Jul [Frankiin Ave. Baptist Church Camp 40| 1-80rleans
 03-Jul |Kuji Center [Camp 33 ~ 6-90rleans
~03-Jul IFroggies Child Care [Camp 17] 2-6Orleans
~03-Jul Joe Brown Cuttural Camp Camp 55 1-80rleans .
~ 03-Julist Margawt Camp 50 |Orleans
'03-Jul |Red Dragon Karate Camp 22| 1-710rleans
03-Jul St. Andrew Camp - 50| Orieans
10-Juf |St. Rita il Camp 55| |Orleans
~10-Jul Jesutt Summer Camp |Camp 66| K-7iOrleans
_10-Jul [Christian Center Summer Camp ICamp 15| 1-7|Orleans
10-Jul |Danneel ‘Camp GG-TK -5 |Orieans
10-Jul ISt Dominic Day Camp - Camp | 44 __ 1-Z0rleans
N ~10-Jul Jena Camp - Camp 30, K-1/Orleans
~10-Jul [First United Methodist Church Camp Camp 25| K-5O0rleans .
17-Jul |St. Dominic Day Camp Camp 44| 1-20rleans
 24-Jul Family Advocacy |Camp 44 5-90rieans
~ 24-Jul Ganus |Camp. 40 | Pre-K-30rleans
24-Jul F—]r_st Thessaloninas Baptist Church  [Camp ) 1 e8] K-9Orleans
24-Jul |LNC Summer Camp [Camp 40 K- Orleans
_ 24-Jul [Family Advocacy |Camp 44 ~__1-4Orleans
24l Booth Kids Club R Camp = 17 __ Pre-K-8GCrleans
24-Jul |Gentilly Baptist |Camp 33| Pre-K~4 Orleans
24-Jul |Riverbend Pre-School Icamp 40|  Pre-K-4Orleans
~ 31-JulIN.O. Marine Institute B Camp 40 S-12Orleans
07-Aug [First Baptist ~_[Camp | 20 Orieans
07-Aug |LNC Summer Camp. Camp < 45] 'K-6 Orleans
19-Jun St. Mark Camp 50 ~|st. Bernard




AUDUBON INSTITUTE
Louisiana Nature Center
School Group Tours
Attendance by School Type

1996
1986 School LA Parish
Week of | School Type ﬁAtggnd-nce | Grade or State | Subtotals
~ 26-Jun iSt. Mark ICamp | 50 'St Bernard
~31-dul [Early Education Center Camp | 25| 1-68t. Bernard
10-Jul [Toddierhouse Summer Camp Camp | 55| Pre-K-58t. Charles
~ 05-Jun |Our Lady of Lourdes Camp | 50| |St. Tammany
- 26-Jun |Our Lady of Lourdes _|Camp | 50 St Tammany
07- Aug Slidell Kindercare ) 'Camp | 22| K-7/St. Tammany
[TOTAL - SUMMER CAMPS [ i ] [ 4351
08-Jan Wee Wisdom Day Care 23 Pre-K
23-Jan Wee Wisdom Day Care 18] Pre-K ]
| 05-Jun M. Fanguy Day Care Day Care 12] K6 B
_24-Jul |B&B Daycare Day Care 26| Pre-K-1 N
16-Oct Joan's Day Care Day Care 17] Pre-K
|~ 30-Oct |Wee Wisdom Day Care [ 39| Pre-K
~ 06-Nov |Laton Day Care Day Care | 60 Pre-K ‘
~ 29-May Hug a Bunch \Day Care | 22| Pre-K Jefferson |
12-Jun |Carol's Cottage Day Care | 60| Pre-K Jefferson
| 19-Jun |ABC Child Care B Day Care 35 K-6 Jefferson
03-Jul |Kinder Haus Day Care 30 Pre-KJefferson
i 10-Jul Carol's Cottage Day Care | 66 | K-7 Jefferson
10l [Hummingbird Child Development Day Care \ 25 Pre-K Jefferson
~ 17-Jul |Visitation Day Care _|Day Care 55 B 4-12 Jefferson
17 —JquMarrero ‘Day Care Day Care 1 55| Pre-K-4 Jefferson
17-Ju| \Visitation Day Care Day Care A S 1-3 Jefferson
17-Jul |Over the Rainbow |Day Care l p7] 1-6 Jeffersarni
31-Jul |Paula’s Chtld Care B B Day Care | 27 K-8 Jeffersori
_ 07-Aug |Audrey's Day Care ~ |DayCare 44 K-2 Jefferson ]
14-Aug Hug A Bunch |Day Care 66 K-6 Jefferson
06-Feb INewcomb Nursery |Day Care ‘ - 25 Pre-K Orieans
13-Mar |United Methodist Child Care |Day Care 23] Pre-KOrleans
17-Apr |Philips_Childcare |Day Care 66 Pre-KiOrleans
29 -May Tots & Toddlers _|Day Care 18| Pre-K Orleans
_ 25-May |LSU Medical \Day Care 70| 2 [Orleans
12-Jun Little Angels Child Care ‘Day Care 16 Pre-KOrleans
~ 03-Jul [Little Academy ) |Day Care 20 Orleans
10-Jul Bolden Child Care Center @ Xavier |Day Care 37 Pre-KOrleans.
10-Jul [Kindercare Day Care 40 K-8 Orieans .
24-Jul [People’'s Community Center _|Day Care | 33 Pre-K Orleans
_ 07-Aug Grace Chiid Center Day Care 3 _1-60rleans
26-Jun |Full House Day Care |Day Care 25 K-7/St. Bernard
- 1§Mar Toddlerhouse Day Care 19 Pre-K St. Charles
07-Aug |Gilda's Pre-Schaoi \Day Care 22 Pre-K-2St. Tammany )
TOTAL - DAYCARE CENTERS | G ' i 1.198
J&qu Laplace Adolescent Hospital \Hospital 20| Teens St. Charles
26-Jun (Zoo Teen Volunteers N/A 55 ~ 9-1ZNIA ——
TOTAL - OTHER N L ] B ‘ 75
- _09—Jan Family Christian Academy Private | 65 LS
20-Mar [Maria Immacolata Private | 40 i
03-Apr [Bonnie Ecole Private | 46 K )
03-Apr St. Clair Private i 34 > -y .
17-Apr \Our Lady Academy Private 55 8
~24-Apr River Forest Academy Private 44 Pre-K I
__01-May Holy Savior Private 40 6 -
~_15-May |St. Helen Central !anate 68 4
__15-May |Shaw Elementary anvate 43 Pre-K/11-12
_29-May (First Methodist B |Private i 22 Pre-K
(06-Nov St. John Elementary - |Private | 44 -
04-Dec (St. Margaret Mary ~ [Private | 55| R
~ 04-Dec Christian Life Academy ~ IPrivate I | 67 6|
| 16-Oct Millerville Academy Private 25] 6 E. Baton Rouge
08-Jan IChmchuba Middie B |Private 50 B 5 Jefferson
16-Jan |St. Matthew Private 5  Pre K Jefferson 0
23-Jan |St. Martin Private . 45 Pre-KJefferson
30-Jan Riverside Christian Academy Private . 80 3 lJefferson
30-Jan Ridgewood Prep |Private - | Ty 3—8Jefferson B
~ 30-Jan |All Saints Catholic - ]Pn!aitei - 65 26 Jefferson
06-Feb John Curtis |Private o 58 6 |Jefferson




AUDUBON INSTITUTE
Louisiana Nature Center
School Group Tours
Attendance by School Type
1996

| Subtotals

1996 School LA Parish
Week of School Type | Attendance Grade | or State
06-Feb [One in Christ Academy Private 33 6] Jefferson
05-Feb John Curtis Private 38, 5 | Jefferson N
13-Feb |Metairie Park Country Day |Private | 20 Fjr@w ._Je_ff_grson _
20-Feb |[John Curtis Private [ 47 8 Jefferson
06-Mar 'St. Louis King of France ~ IPrivate 28 5 |Jefferson
~13-Mar Metairie Park Country Day \Private 20| Pre-K Jefferson
| 13-Mar |St. Benilde |Private 37| 7] Jeﬁegon o
13-Mar St Mary Magdeline Private 50 8 |Jefferson
I | 20-Mar [Eimwood Park Academy |Private - 15 ) 2 | Jefferson
| 20-Mar Ecole Classique Private - 47 _ Pre-KJefferson _
_20-Mar [St. Martin Private - 46 7 |Jefferson
__20-Mar |Metairie Park Country Day Private 20 Pre-K|Jefferson
27-Mar |Alpha Montessori Private 41 Pre-K/K Jefferson |
27-Mar |St. Martin Private | 46 7|Jefferson ’
| 03-Apr Kehoe France Private | 72 1 |Jefferson
03-Apr [St. Clement of Rome Private ‘ 45| 1|Jefferson |
~ 03-Apr |Word of Faith Private [ 25| ~ Pre-K Jefferson |
~ 03-Apr [Metairie Park Country Day Private [ 29| 3-4 Jefferson |
| 03-Apr St Mary Magdeline B |Private B ‘ - 70 Pre-K Jefferson
10-Apr Immaculate Conception iPrivate . 58 6 |Jefferson
10-Apr |Parkway Presbyterian Private 55 Pre-Kl Jefferson
10-Apr |St. Matthew Private 68 7 Jefferson
17-Apr |Arden Canill Academy [Private 55 4 Jefferson
17-Apr wF(rst Assembly Christian “[Private B 21| 56 Jeffersorn
17-Apt |Kinder Haus Private 39 Pre-K Jefferson
24-Apr |Chinchuba Middle Private 50| 5 |Jefferson 7
_24-Apr 8t. Cletus Private 68 | 1 Jefferson
24-Apr [St, Ann Private 66 | 4 Jefferson N
01-May [Parkway Presbyterian_ Private - 55 | K Jefferson
01-May Salem Lutheran Private 66 3-4 Jefferson
01-May | Etmwood Park Agaaemv \Private 37 5-8 Jefferson
~15-May Vlctory Christian Academy Private 25 1 Jefferson
15-May Our Lady of Divine Providence Private 23 2 Jefferson
| 15-May Salem Lutheran [Private 1 63 i-2Jefferson
15-May |Arden Cahill Academy Private - 68 2 [Jefferson
29-May |Atonement Lutneran Private 25) 4 | Jefferson
| 29-May [St. Rosalie o Private 70 2 | Jefferson
29-May Basic | Innovations Private 50 | Pre-K- 1IJeﬂerson
~ 03-Jul |Alverez Kiddie Academny Private 16| 1~6Jefferson
~17-Jul Oak Park Baptlst Church ~ |Private | 32 Pre-K- 2 Jefferson N
| 18-Sep Riverside Christian Academy [Private 60 | 4 Jefferson
18-Sep [Ecole Classique [Private 43 K Jefferson
23-Oct [First Baptist Christian .!Ie’rlxate | 451 8 |Jefferson
30-Oct [Our Lady of Perpetual Help |Private | 55 2 Jefferson N
30-Oct First Baptlst Christian Private 20 3 |Jefferson |
06-Nov John Curtis Private 37) 7 | Jefferson
06-Nov [Immaculate Conceptiorn Private ] Pre-KlJefferson
~ 06-Nov [St. Lawrence the Martyr Private 247 Pre-KJefferson )
~ 06-Nov Memorial Baptist Private 70| K-5Jefferson
I 71gﬁov Metaire Park Country Day |Private 23 3 | Jefferson
27-Nov [St. Cletus Private 40, Pre-KJefferson
~ 27-Nov Ridgewood Prep |Private [ 37 S-4Jefferson
~ 04-Dec |St. Edward the Confessar Private 70 KJefferson
11-Dec |Alpha Montesson Private [ 40| Pre—KJefferson .
"~ 30-Jan Coast Eptscopal Private D
1/-Apv DlinoAn_d_h_e_zag Academy Private 13 5 Mtssussmpo
_15-May |Diamondhead Academy Private | 10 6 [Mississippi
_11-Dec [Diamondhead Academy Private 13 4 |Mississippi
| 09-Jan [Stuart Hall [Private 33| K Orleans
16-Jan \Pnnce of Peace Lutheran ‘E_nvgrtiei B 35, 4 |Orleans
16-Jan [St, Paul Lutheran ~ Prvate 50| Orleans
23-Jan Tnmty Eplscopal |Private 24 Pre-KOrleans
23-Jan St. John Berchman |Private 62] Pre-K/Orleans
23-Jan St. Paul |Private 28| 6 [Orleans -
20-Feb Calvary Baptist [Private 4 ~ 4-50rieans
06-Mar Ursuline Academy _IPr]VaTei 44 ~ 1-20rleans




AUDUBON INSTITUTE
Louisiana Nature Center
School Group Tours
Attendance by School Type

1996
1996 | School | LA Parish
Week of School | Type |Attendance |  Grade | or State | Subtotals
~ 13-Mar |St. Joan of Arc B IPrivate ) 46 1 [Orleans )
~13-Mar Trinty Episcopal - Private 46 4 Orleans
13 -Mar |B.M. Palmer School Private - 47 ) KiOrleans B
~ 20-Mar Holy Cross Private 66 610rleans o
~20-Mar |Louise McGehee Private ) 36 KOrleans
20-Mar 'St. George Private 41 K Orleans
| 20-Mar |Lakeview Fresbyterian Private 21 Pre-K Orleans
20-Mar |Trinity Episcopal Private 20 Pre-K Orleans
27-Mar |St. Anthony Private 49 ~ 6-80rleans
27-Mar [First Step Learning Center Private 20 Prejdprleans
27-Mar St. Paul Lutheran [Private 47 ~ 3-50rleans
~ 27-Mar 5t. Dominic Private [ 42 2|Orleans
27-Mar Magnolia Headstart ~ Private 44 Pre-KOrleans
03-Apr Les Enfants Nursery School Private 24 Pre-KOrleans
03-Apr St. Paul Private | 66 | 6-80rleans
| 10-Apr First Step Learning Center Private H 24 Pre-K Orleans
10-Apr Trinity Episcopal Private | 25 2|Orleans
10-Apr [Sacred Heart Academy Private 46 3 |Orleans i
~17-Apr [St_ Anthony Private ol 49 5 |Orleans
17-Apr |St. Peter Claver Private o [ 60 ~4-50rleans
i 17—Apr ISt. Luke's Episcopal Private 50 3 |Orleans i
17-Apr Audubon Montessori ~ [Private 26 KOrieans
1/-_Ag \[Sanus F’reschool |Private 20 Pre-KOrleans
24-Apr St. Paul ) |Private il 44 1-20rleans
_24-Apr Crescent City Baptist [Private 50 2 & 50rleans
24-Apr St. Paul the Apostie |Private 20/ 3 Orieans
_ 24-Apr St. James Major Private 33 6 Orleans
__ 24-Apr Ganus Preschool ~ |Private 2] Pre-K Orleans
| 24-Apr [Holy Name of Jesus Private 26 K Orleans
24-Apr |St. Elizabeth Ann Seton Private = 53 5 Orleans
24-Apr Calvery Baptist |Private | 53 2-8 Orleans
_01-May [B.M. Palmer School |Private \ 22 Pre-K Orleans
01-May [St. Peter Claver |Private 26 7 |Orleans
01-May [Holy Name of Jesus ~ |Private 20 K Orleans
~08-May [St. | Paul Private | 30 ~ 2|Orleans
15-May [St. Pius - B Private 58 ~ 2[Orleans
N 15@ 'St. Peter Claver PPrivate 68 | 1 |Orleans N
_15-May [St. Anthon Private 40| 4 Orleans
_ 15-May 'Sacred Heart Academy ~ lPrivate ) % 3 Orleans
29-May Chnst Episcopal Private 4_'?_ 5|Orleans
12-Jun St Peter Claver Private 66 5 Orleans
_12-Jun New Birth Baptist Church Private 14| K-4/Orleans
_19-Jun Faith Church Private 25] K-6 Orleans
~10-Jul Lake Castle Girls Private B 72 5-80rleans
10-Jul (Children of Salvation Private ] 30 ~ [Orleans
10-Jul |Lake Castle North B} Private | 55 [Orleans
11-Sep lincarnate Word o |Private ' 44 Pre-K Orleans ]
18-Sep |St. Paul the Apostle |Private 58 K-50rleans -
~ 02-Oct [St. George ~ |Private =N 40 1 |Orleans
~ 09-Oct [Newman Cub Scouts |Private 16 3|Orleans
09-Oct 1Crescent City Baptist Private 39 3 |Orleans
05-Oct Tnintty Episcopal Private 19 Pre-K.Orleans
16-Oct Trintty Episcopal B Private 2 Pre-K Orleans B
16—Oc1 \Louise Dawes Development Center Private 3 306, il >Orleans
16-Oct Newman - Private | 200 B 1 |Onleans.
23-Oct [Newman |ﬂ\(ate 2] 1 Orleans
23-Oct St. Frances Cabrini_ ~ Private 57| 7 |Orleans
30-Oct St. George ~ Pnvate i 39 1 |Orleans
~ 06-Nov [St. David - [Private 5 ~ 1-50rleans.
~ 06-Nov rSt Raymond - [Private ~ 36 6 |Orleans
13-Nov Tnnny Eplscopal Private N Orieans
13-Nov |St. Monica Private 27 8 |Orleans
13-Nov ‘St. Louis Cathedral -'(jrlvate ‘ 23 5 [Orleans
13-Nav | [Christ Episcopal cata Prwal_e_ - 50 5 |Orleans
13-Nov 'St pPaul |Private o 53] ~ 1-30rleans
13-Nov 'St. Anthony ~ IPrivate 44 1 [Orleans
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AUDUBON INSTITUTE
Louisiana Nature Center
School Group Tours
Attendance by School Type
1996
1996 | School | LA Parish |
Week of | School Type |Attendance  Grade or State | Subtotals
27-Nov Crescent City Baptist Private = 41| ~_4|Orleans
27-Nov INewman Private 66 | 3 Orleans B
| 27-Nov St. Louis Cathedral - Private 100 6-80rleans |
04-Dec Newman Private [ 23 Pre-KiOrleans
| 04-Dec 'St. Anthony Private [ 47 __ 2[Orleans
| 04-Dec [Crescent Ctty Baptist Private o 45 Pre-KlOrleans
04-Dec |St. Mary's Academy Private 44 7 [Orleans
04-Dec |St. Anthony B Private 45 5 Orleans
04-Dec |Christian Bros. Private A 5 |Orleans
11-Dec |First United Methodist Private 66 |Orleans
‘11-Dec Immaculate Heart of Mary Private 17 Pre-KOrleans
_11-Dec [Crescent City Baptist |Private \ 44 KOrleans
11-Dec |St. Mary of the Angels {Private | 38 7 Orleans
11-Dec |St. John Lutheran - |Private 57 PrmKZOrIeans
| 11-Dec |St. Charbonnet Church |Private ‘ 46 2 Orleans
27-Nov Buras High Christian |Private 55 2 iPlaquemines
0S-Jan [Early Education Center Private 200 Pre-K/St. Bernard
06-Feb |Early Education Center |Private 18 Pre-K|St. Bernard
20-Feb |Early Education Center |Private 13 Pre-K St. Bernard
27-Feb |Our Lady of Prompt Succor IPrivate 33| Pre-K St. Bernard
06-Mar |55t. Louise de Mariilac _|Private 58 & |St. Bernard
06-Mar [Early Education Center ~ Private 171 Pre-K St ol
“13-Mar |Our ir Lady of Prompt Succor ~|Private 70 5 ,SL,B,ef'la’d
~ 2G-Mar |St_ Robert Bellarmine Private 33 5 |St. Bernard
03-Apr |St. Mark B Private 32| K St. Bernard
01-May 'St. Robert Bellarmine = Private 3 3St. Bernard
15-May St. Robert Bellarmine Private 35 3 |St. Bernard
17-Jul |Step by Step ~ |Private 40 1-7St. Bernard |
02-Oct [Prince of Peace Private g 66 6-8St. Bernard
16-Oct |Early Education Center Private 68 Pre-KiSt. Bernard
~ 13-Nov [St. Louise de Marillac |Private ] 64 2 St Bemard _ ]
i 11-Dec St. Robert Bellarmine |Private 71 3]St. Bemardj
06-Nov |St. Rose Primary Private 48 "3/St. Charles
_‘_2_7 Fp.b [Our Lady of Lourdes Private 56 3 [St. Tammany
10+ Abfr"ﬁonhmmster Montessori Private B 30 Pre-K St. Tammany
ZSSeE ‘Shdeli First Baptist - 7lPrv\m_e B 50 4-58t. TammAangy |
20-Nov Northlake Christian |Private 25 2!St. Tammany =~ |
TOTAL - PRIVATE | | o [ 7,568
~_09-Jan [Cypress Cove Elementary Public | 62 1] B
~ 23-Jan (Cypress Cove Elementary Pj.ibln‘c | 55 ‘I_Z .
20 Feb [Claiborne Magnet Public 38 K
06-Mar [F.K. White Middle ~|Public 42 6-8
20-Mar |Marksville High Public 40 8] |
03-Apr |Cypress Cove Elementary Public \ 55| Pre-K.
17-Apr |Carter G, Woodson Public 29 8
17-Apr |N. East Laurdale Middle Public \ 30 5
~17-Apr |River Oak Elementary Public w 44 4
17-Apr [Delisle Elementary Public 26 35
24-Apr | Chickasaw School Public 44 B 3 -
01-May |Delisie Elementary Pubiic 66 3 -
_15-May (C. F. Rowley Public 50 <
~15-May (Glendale ~ [Public 59 5
15-May Carolyn Park B |Public 55 4]
09-Oct iCarolyn Park \Public 40 4
16—0c1 Marksville High iPublic o 44 |
~ 13-Nov !Carolyn Park |Public 33| 5|
13-Nov (Carolyn Park B IPublic _ 55] 4
02-Jan |Sherwood Forest B [Public 50] ~ KE Baton Rouge
30-Jan |Sherwood Forest Public 55| 4 |E. Baton Rouge
__17-Apr |Tanglewood Elementary \Public - 7251 3 |E. Baton Rouge
_ 08-May |Magnolia Woods Elementary ~ |Public 75 Z{EHBjtion Rouge
29-May |Progress Elementary Public 46 | 5 |E. Baton Rouge
_ 04-Dec[LSU Lab School Public | 65] ~ 4|E. Baton Rouge
0S-Jan |Ella Dolhonde Special Ed. “|Public 50 ~ 1-5Jefferson
08-Jan Cathqnne Strehle Public L 50 o 2 Jefferson
~09-Jan Woodland Elementary Public 38 Pre-K Jefferson
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1996
1996 | School | LA Parish
Week of | School | Type | Attendance | Grade or State | Subtotals
23 Jan |John Ciancy Elementary {Public 42 | 1 Jefferson ]
~ 06-Feb IBarbe Middle Public 44 | 9 Jefferson
_ 06-Feb ;Bndgedale ] - __|Public 66 | 5 | Jefferson
06-Feb |Bonnebel High Public = 38 9 |Jefferson
~ 06-Feb 'Catherme Strehle |Public | 50 ~ 2|Jefferson
13-Feb Behrman Elementary [Public ] 44 6 |Jefferson
| 20-Feb |Riverdale High _ |Public | 66| _ 9-12 Jefferson
08-Mar (George Cox Elementary Public 41 3 |Jefferson
| 13-Mar Ruppel Elementary Public 86 S |Jefferson
| 13-Mar |Harvey Kindergarten - [Public 60| K| Jefferson
~ 13-Mar Metairie Grammar School — |Public 55 4 |Jefferson
20 Mar 1K.ate Middleton Kindergarten |Public 50] Pre-K Jefferson
7973 Apr ‘Kenner Headstart o 1Publlc - 66| Pre-K Jefferson
_03-Apr |Johnson Gretna Park [Public 44 Pre-K Jefferson
__10-Apr |Roosevetlt Middle IPublic 45 7 |Jefferson
10-Apr |Riverdale Middie Public ' 55| 6 | Jefferson
17-Apr [Fisher Elementary ~ |Public | 66 | Pre-K Jefferson
| 24-Apr Paul J. Solis Elementary ~|[Public 55 ] 6 |Jefferson -
24-Apr Lafitte Elementary |Public | 66 | ~1|Jefferson
01-May |Green Park Elementary IP_u‘tﬂlc_ ' 75| KiJefferson
01-May Johnson Gretna Park |Public | 75 5 ,Jeﬁerson ]
01-May Chateau Estates Elementary [Public 36 4-5Jefferson
»7D1AM§\' [Riviere Elementary [Public 68 - 3 |Jefferson
_ 08-May Westwego _ ~ Public 57 K-1|Jefferson
15-May |Fisher Middie School ~ |Public 44 7 Jefferson
_15-May [Ellender Middle School |Public 65| 6-8 Jefferson
28-May [Cutoff e |Public ] | 35 5 Jefferson
| 19-Jun [Temry Parkway [Public 1 33| ~ K-5 Jefferson
_ 18-Sep |Ellender Middie School Public B 44| & |Jefferson -
25-Sep Alexander Elementary Public | 40 - 4 |Jefferson o
~ 30-Oct | Green Park Elementary _Publ;c B 35 4] Jefferson
~ 06-Nov 180udreaux Elementary B Public 56 | _4|Jefferson
~13-Nov |Bndgedale B Public ) 44 3 |Jefferson
~ 13-Nov Gretna Park Public 44 2 [ Jefferson
13-Nov [Boudreaux Elementary ~ Public s 551 4| Jefferson
~ 27-Nov Bissonet ~ |Public | 65 2| Jefferson
_ 04-Dec Terrytown Elementary |Public \ 4 | Jefferson
~ 11-Dec Terrytown Elementary ,[qu_"E, | - 5 |Jefferson
11:Qec Gretna Jr. High - |Public | 44 8 Jefferson
~ 27-Mar \G:Mmﬁ[:lﬂnerﬂary |Public 40 € Lafourche i
~ 01-May |West Thibodaux B [Public 41 7-9Lafourche
~01-May |Raceland Upper Elementary _ |Public 60 ~ 5Lafourche
24-Apr |Lewis Vincent Elementary ~ |Public 66, 3 |Livingston
~ 13-Nov |Frost School {Public 44 6 |Livingston
04-Dec |Frost School 'Public 33| 7 [Livingston
13-Feb |Gulfport High Public 49 11-12Mississippi
_ 174 -Apr Gurfport High K Public | 736‘ 11-12Mississippi
~ 24-Apr Gulfport High Public 16| 9 [Mississippi
| 20-Nov Gulfview Elementary [Public 39]  5|Mississippi
11-Dec Southside Elementary ~ Public | 66 ) 1 |Morehouse
~11-Dec Southside Elementary [Public 2] ~ 1 Morehouse
02-Jan ‘Mary Cognill |Public 32 2 ‘Orleans B
~ 08-Jan Jan |Lafayette ~ |Public 50 ) 4 4Oreans
23-Jan |Karr B - |Public = 66 8] |Orleans i
"~ 30-Jan |Karr |Public | 66 8 |Orleans
30-Jan |John Dibert [Public 33 2-30rleans
30-Jan [Eisenhower Elementary o |Public | 8] 3 Orleans
06-Feb [Dunbar Magnet — Public [ 67 5 Orleans
06-Feb |McMain Middie Magnet ~|Public | & N [Orlgﬂs
13-Feb |Jean Gordon [Public | 44 ~_KOrleans
20-Feb |C. .J. Cofton Jr. High - Public | 63 7-8 Orleans
20-Feb |Crossman School ) Public 49 | Pre-K-1/Orleans
20-Feb [Morial Eiementary ) Public [ 70, 3|Orleans B
20-Feb McDonogh 42 Public ' 46 ) KOrieans
06-Mar McMain Middle Magne! Public 1 43 ~ 8|Orleans
06- Mar Fifth Ward Jr. 77@35]‘15_ - ! 20| Pre-K|Orleans
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1996 School i LA Parish
Week of | School | Type | Attendance Grade or State | Subtotals
06-Mar Ben Franklin Elementary Public | 61 | 1 Orleans
_13-Mar |[Mary Coghill - |Public A 61 4 Orleans )
13-Mar Live Oak Middle F’ubllc - | 44 8 Orleans
20-Mar |Osborne Elementary |Public i 69 ~ KOrleans
20-Mar |Osborne Elementary IPublic 74 1 Orle_an_s N i
~_27-Mar [Mary Coghill ~ |Public B 66 6 Orleans |
27-Mar [McDonogh 42 B Public | 66 6Orleans |
03-Apr |Etienne De Bore Public 16 Pre-KOrleans
03-Apr |Chester Public 66 Pre-K Orleans
03-Apr [Guste - Public ‘ 66 Pre-K/Orleans |
17-Apr |Dunbar Magnet ~ [Public ' 46 ~ &|Orleans
17-Apr |IP.A. Capdau ) |Public 55 3 [Orleans ‘
_ 17-Apr |[Edwards School - Public 44 Pre-KiOrleans !
17-Apr |[Henderson ~_|Public 66 | Pre-KiOrleans
17-Apr [Hoffman ~ |Public 44 Pre-K Orleans ]
_24-Apr |Fifth Ward Jr. Hign Public 731‘] - 6-8Orleans ]
__01-May [Francis T. Nichols Public 33  9-120rleans |
~ 01-May [Norco Elementary Public l 38 2 |Orleans K
01-May [Lusher Jr. High ~ |Public 1 | 7-8Orleans |
01-May [Lusher Elementary Extension Public 50| 6 |Orleans |
01-May Williams Schoal ) Public ~ 2] Pre-K Orleans |
_ 01-May Gaudet Elementary Public 66 2-3Orleans |
~ 0&-May [Karr Public T 66 9 Orleans
15-May |Carver Elementary Public 21 4 Orleans
__15-May [Hynes Elementary Public | 50 KOrleans
15-May 'Schaumburg Elementary - _ |Public 49 Pre-K Orleans
~ 15-May New Orleans Free Scnool Public 53 1-4 Orleans |
 26-Jun Moton Public 110 K-7Orleans
 17-Jul Nelson Public 66 2-6Orleans |
~ 24-Jul \Williarn Rogers Public 40 K-GOr!eans B
_11-Sep [Philips Jr. High |Public 1 W |Orleans
11-Sep |Osborne Elementary |Public 28] - 1/Orleans
11-Sep Karr ~ Public 58 7 Orleans
 02-Oct McMain Middie Magnet |Public ] 5§ 7 Orleans
16-Oct [Ben Franklin Elementary Public ‘ 30| _KOrleans
| 16-Oct [Rosenwald Public ‘ 66 | __ 6[Orleans i
| 16-Oct [Osborne Elementary Public | 38 5 0reans
~ 230c 'Southern University Lab School |Public | 441_ g Orleans |
_ 23-Oct McDonogh 42 Public \ 66| 5-6Orleans
 23-Oct |O. Perry Walker |Public - 44 8 Orleans
30-Oct |Southern University Lab School Publlc B 2 66 | 11 |Orleans
30-Oct |Schaumburg Elementary  |Public 44 Pre-K Orleans
13-Nov |Schaumburg Elementary Public | 44 | Pre-K.Orleans B
27-Nov |Abramson ~ |Public | 25 7_‘8 Orleans |
| 04-Dec |Eisenhower Elementary |Public { 65| 2-4Orleans
04-Dec Lews [Public | 66 | ~ 7|Orleans
~11-Dec [Jean Gordon ) IPublic | 48 1 |Orleans
11-Dec (Oshorne Elementary ~ Public EE i|Orleans
~ 11-Dec lCarvef Primary Public | 57 3 |Orleans
~ 11-Dec |Lewss |Public 66 | 7|Orleans
18-Dec [Wicker Elementary [Public 66 ~ 3lOrleans _
18-Dec | IGaudet Elementary B |Public 66 3 |Orleans
16-Dec |Lafayette ~ [Pubiic 50 4 |Orleans
_ 06-Feb |Phoenix High B |Public 21| 4-12Plaquemines
10-Apr [Boothville Venice ~ |Public - 58 5 [P»Iaqu_e_rplpes
04-Dec Phoenlx Hngh |Public 55 EE 3‘P|aquem|nes
~ 16-Oct Reeves Elementary |Public 60 ) 3 |Rapides
~ 02-Jan|C Cﬁﬁpwley |Public 50 3 /St Bernard
16-Jan 1 [Arabi Elementary |Public 44 _5_ St. Bernard
_ 0b-Feb |Arabi Elementary [Public 18 Pre-K St. Bernard |
27-Mar |Millaudon Elementary - |Public 66 Pre-K St. Bernard
_ 03-Apr |Gauthier IPublic 66 F’re—K_;‘S.t.' Bernard
09-Oct [Cypress Cove Elemnentary |Public £ 66 18t Bernard
13-Nov |Arabi Park Middle School |Public 20 6-8.St. Bernard
_ 04-Dec |Arabi Headstart - [Publxc 30 Pre-K/St. Bernard |
~ 06-Mar IDestrahan High School 'Public 40 9-12St. Charles
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1996

1936 ‘ School | | LA Parish

| Week of | School Type [Attendance|  Grade | or State
| 27- Mar Glade Elementary - Public 34 2/St. Charles ]

16-Oct [R. J. Vial Elementary Public B 44 4 St Charles

_13-Nov |Stevensville Elementary _|Public 33 -SSt Martin |
02~4a_n Pontchatoula High 'Public 38 12st. Tammany |

02-Jan Mandeville Middle Public 60 | 6 |St. Tammany

~ 08-Jan Hammond Public 44 7 |St. Tammany

| 23-Jan Madisonvilie Public ‘ 20 Pre-KSt. Tammany

~ 06-Feb [Pineview Middle _|Public 55] 5|St. Tammany

| 13-Feb [Mandeville Middle Public 14/ 4-5St. Tammany

o 27-Mar IMandevilie Elementary ~ |Public _ 48 |St. Tammany

~ 03-Apr Berwick Elementag/ Public | 42 4St. Tammany

| 24-Apr Bayou Woods - ) Public | 20 Pre-K St. Tammany

_ 24-Apr |Berwick Elementary Public 9] 1 St. Tammany

01-May Honey iIsland Elementary \Public ) 65 3 |St. Tammany

| 16-Oct |C.J). Schoen Public | 41 6 |St. Tammany

| 23-Oct [Covington Elementary Public \ 70 3St. Tammany

| 30-Oct Abita Springs Elementary Public B S0 3 St. Tammany

| 13Nov Mandeville Elementary Public B 50 KISt. Tammany
~ 27-Nov |Hammond ~_[Public 51| 2|St. Tammany |
27-Nov |Cedarwood Elementary [Public ) 7 25| 4|St. Tammany |

| 27-Nov Pontchatouia High |Public 41 12 |St. Tammany

| 04 -Dec [Cedarwood Elementary |Public ) i0 7 /St Tammany

15-May (Coteau Bayou Biue " |Public 30 36Temebonne

TOTAL - PUBLIC

Subtotals |

GRAND TOTAL

T
i

23,823 |

.

8,551
23, 823
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1996 ' School LA Parish Subtotal
~Week of School Type | Attendance ! Grade or State by Month
18-Jan Oak Preschool \ . 15 Pre-K
16-Jan | Westbank Headstart - 66 | Pre-K N
~08-Jan |Wee Wisdom |Day Care 23] Pre-K
~ 23-Jan |Wee Wisdom - \Day Care 15] Pre-K
09-Jan |[Family Christian Academy |Private 66 | K-3
09-Jan |Chinchuba Middle Private 50 | S |Jefferson
| 0S-Jan |Stuart Hall ‘Private 33| ) KOrleans |
_ 0S-Jan [Early Education Center |Private | 20| Pre-KiSt. Bernard |
__16-Jan St Matthew Private 55| Pre-Kl Jefferson
| 16-Jan Prince of Peace Lutheran Private 35 4 [Orleans
16-Jan |St. Paul Lutheran Private 50 Orleans o
23-Jan 'St Martin B Private 45 Pre-K Jefferson i
[ 23-Jan St Paul Private 28| 6 |Orleans -
B 23—Jan Trinity Episcopal Private - 24 | Pre-KOrleans L
~ 23-Jan |St. John Berchman |Private 62 Pre-K Orleans \
~30-Jan Riverside Christian Academy [Private 60 3 | Jefferson |
3U«Jan |Ridgewood I3rep Private . 3-8 Jefferson [
| 30-Jan |All Saints Cathalic Private 65 2-6 Jefferson B j
~ 30-Jan |Coast Episcopal |Private 20| _ Pre-KMississippi |
02-Jan Sherwood Forest Public | 50| KIE. Baton Rouge |
~02-Jan |Mary Coghili Public | 32| 2 [Orleans 1
~ 024Jan CF. Rowley Public w 50 3 |St. Bernard _
~_02-Jan |Pontchatoula High Public 38 12 St Tammany ]
02-Jan [Mandeville Middie Public 60 6 St Tammany
_ 0s~Jan Cypress Cove Elementary Public 62 B 1
~0S-Jan [Woodiand Elementary Public b 38] ~ Pre-K Jefferson =
08- 9-Jan |Catherine Strehle Public 50| 2 Jefferson
~ 09-Jan [Ella Dolhonde Special Ed. Public B 50 1-5Jefferson |
09\Jan |Lafayette Public 50| 4 |Orleans B
~ 09-Jan |Hammond Public 44 7 1St Tammany
~16-Jan KArabl bi Elementary Public 44 o 5 St. Bernard _
~23-Jan lepress Cove Elementary \Public 55 1
~ 23Jan John | Clancy Elementary Public 42 1 | Jefferson N
e 23-Jan Karr Public 66 8 [Orleans N
23-Jan Madisonville Public 20 Pre-K St Tammany o
30-Jan Shenwood Forest Public B 55| 4 [E. Baton Rouge i
! SO\JanlElsenhower Elementary [Public "55| 3 _O_r[ejgsv -
~30-Jan | John Dibert [Public 33 2-3Orleans
_30<Jan |Karr |Public 66 8 |Orleans |
TOTAL - JANUARY Z 1 = ] ‘ [ 1,692 4
_06-Feb |Happy Start 17 Pre-KK
__13-Feb [Connie Green 1 10 Pre-K -
~ 27-Feb Buchanan | 55 5[ a
27-Feb (Chata Ima B | 46 Pre-K.
“08-Feb Newcomb Nursery B Day Care | 25| Pre-K Orleans i
__06-Feb John Curtis Private \ 38 S Jefferson B
06-Feb John Curtis Private 58 6 Jefferson - l
| 06-Feb |Onein Christ Academy Private B 33 6 |Jefferson
06-Feb -eb |[Early Education Center Private 18 Pre-KSt. Bernard 1 L
j_ﬁ_-EeAbllMetame Park Country Day Private 20 Pre-K Jefferson | ]
20-Feb {John Curtis ' Private 47| 8 Jefferson | 5
~ 20- FeE'CaIvary Bapnst Private 45 4-50rleans 4
~ 20-Feb]| g_a_rly_Educahon Center thvate 13 PreK §L Bernard -
3 27-Feb |Our Lady of Prompt Succor anatg - 33 Pre-KISt. Bernard R
27-Feb |Our Lady of Lourdes Private 56 3 [St. Tammany
Oo-Feb |Bndgedale |Public 66 5 |Jefferson -
06-Feb [Barbe Middie [Public 44| 9 Jefferson B
06-Feb [Catherine Strehle |Public B | 50 2 Jefferson
06-Feb [Bonnebel High Public 38] 9 Jefferson )
_ O6-Feb Dunbar Magnet [Public 87 5 [Orieans B
O_G_Eeb McMain Middle Magnet [Public 45 8 |Orleans L
_06-Feb Phoenix High Public 21] 4-12Plaquemines
_ 06-Feb |Arabi Eiementary |Public 18 Pre-KSt. Bernard o
06-Feb Pineview Middle Public B 55 5 St Tammany |
__13-Feb |[Behrman Elementary ) |Public [ 44 6 |Jefferson
B ~ 13-Feb! (Gulfport High Public | 49 11-12Mississippi
13-Feb |Jean Gordon B Public 44 B K Orleans |
13 Feb IMandewHe Middie |Public 14 4-55t Tammany
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1986
1986 | School LA Parish Subtotal
Week of School _ Type Aftendance Grade or State by Month
| 20-Feb |Claiborne Magnet [Public 38 ;
 20-Feb |Riverdale High Public 66 “9-12Jefferson |
~ 20-Feb | C.J. Colton Jr. High Public 83 7-80rleans |
20-Feb [McDonogh 42 ) Public 46 KlOrleans ]
20-Feb |Crossman School ~ |Public 49_ Pre-K-1|Orleans
20-Feb [Morial Elementary Public 70 3 |Orleans | ]
TOTAL - FEBRUARY [ 1,401 |
| 06-Mar |Bay Middle 60| 4, g .=
06-Mar Dove Park 15 3-4 |
13-Mar |Leinkauf 44 5] \
| 20-Mar (Mablewoaod Middle | 35 B -
20-Mar [Filliman | 1 62 B 6 o |
~ 27-Mar |Bay Senior High . ] [ 33] 9-17% L .
~ 13-Mar [United Methodist Child Care Day Care | ndl Pre-K Orieans <
~ 13-Mar | Toddierhouse Day Care | 18] Pre-KISt. Charles
_Q6_Mar St. Louts King of France __|Private 25 5 |Jefferson
06-Mar [Ursuline Academy Private 44] 1-20rleans
| 06-Mar |St Louise de Marillac Private B 58 ~_8/St. Bernard |
___06-Mar |Early Education Center Private - 17| Pre-K/St. Bernara 7_ ]
~13-Mar St Benilde |Private B a7 7 |Jefferson R
13-Mar (St Mary Magdeline \Private 50| 8 |Jefferson
~_13-Mar |Metairie Park Country Day ~ |Private ~20] Pre-K Jefferson i
13-Mar |Trinity Episcopal _|Private [ 46 4 |Orleans S
13-Mar |St Joan of Arc |Private | 46 | 1 |Orleans .
13-Mar [B.M. Palmer School ~ [Private [ 47 K Orleans . T e
13-Mar |Our Lady of Prompt Succor ~ Private B 70| 5 [St. Bernard
~ 20-Mar [Maria Immacolata Private 40/ 3] -
__20-Mar [Ecole Classique Private 47 _ Pre-K Jefferson ]
| 20-Mar [Elmwood Park Academy |Private 15 2 |Jefferson . o
20-Mar [Metairie Park Country Day lF’nv:«:te 20 _ Pre-KJefferson ]
20-Mar St. Martin [Private 46 7 iJefferson B
~ 20-Mar Lakeview Presbyterian [Private | 21 Pre-KiOrleans |
~ 20-Mar St George |Private {_ 41 KOrleans |
~20-Mar [Tninity Episcopal |Private | 20 Pre-KiOrleans ]
~ 20-Mar |Louise McGehee [Private ‘ 36 K Orleans
20-Mar |Holy Cross B Private 66 | 6 |Orleans
20-Mar |St. Robert Beliarmine ~ [Private \ 33] 5St Bernard
~27-Mar [St. Martin Private [ 46 7 |Jefferson
27-Mar |Alpha Montessori i Private 41 ~ Pre-K/K Jefferson
_ 27-Mar [First Step Learning Center |Private . 20] Pre-KOrleans
~ 27-Mar St Paul Lutheran _|Pnvate 47| 3-50reans |
~ 27-Mar St Dominic ~ Povate | 42 2 (Orleans |
~ 27-Mar St Anthony B Private B 49 6-8Orleans -
27-Mar Magnolia Headstart Private 44 Pre-KjOrleans ]
06-Mar |F.K. White Middle {Public 42 68 N
06-Mar |George Cox Elementary ~ |Public | 41 3 |Jefferson i N
~06-Mar [McMain Middle Magnet Public | 43 8 [Orleans | |
06-Mar |Fifth Ward Jr. Public 1 20! Pre-K Orleans df
06 Mar |Ben Frankiin Elementary ~ |Public 61 1 |Orleans |
~ 06-Mar |Destrahan High School Public 40| 9-12/St. Charles
_13-Mar |Metairie Grammar School Public 55 B 4 |Jefferson _
~ 13-Mar Harvey | Kmderganen “[Public 1 60 KlJefferson
| 134 Mar [Ruppel Elementary Public 1 86 5 |Jefferson =
_13-Mar Live Oak Middie 'Public B 44 8 Orleans -
_ 13-Mar |Mary Coghill Public 61 4 Orleans
_ 20-Mar |Marksville High |Public ‘ 40/ 9 ’ i
__ 20-Mar |Kate Middieton Kindergarten [Public 1B 50 Pre-KiJefferson ||
20-Mar |Osborne Elementary B |Public 74 1 [Orleans -
20-Mar |Osborne Elementary [Public , 69 K Orleans o=
~ 27-Mar <Galhano Elementary |Public 40 | 6 |Lafourche = B
~ 27-Mar Mary Coghill Public 66 6 |Orleans
~ 27-Mar McDonogh 42 Public B 66 6 [Orleans B
27-Mar [Millaudon Elemamary Public 66 ~ Pre-K St Bernard o
_ 27-Mar |Glade Elementary |Public 1 34 ~2[St. Charles |
~ 27-Mar |Mandeville Elementary [Public o 48 KISt Tammany L
TOTAL - MARCH ) ‘ 1 ' w 2,611
~ 17-Apr|Connie Green B B 10 Pre-K 1
T -Apr | Sandmll Elementary 45 3-4
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1986
1996 School " LA Parish Subtotal
Week of School Type Attendance Grade or State by Month
24-Apr [Noliwood _77' 66 6! N
__17-Apr Philips Childcare |Day Care _ 66 | Pre-KOrleans
__Q3-Apr[Bonnie Ecole _Private A K I
__ 03-Apr St Clair |Private 34 2] o
03-Apr St Mary Magdeline |Prvate 70| Pre-K Jefferson PR 1
_03-Apr |Metairie Park Country Day Private 28 3-4 Jefferson
| 03-Apr \Word of Faith |Private 25 Pre-KJefferson e
__03-Apr Kehoe France ) ~ |Private 72 1 |Jefferson = |
03-Apr |St. Clement of Rome |Private 46 | 1 |Jefferson \ ]
P _93 -Apr |Les Enfants Nursery School Private 24 Pre-KOrleans [ ]
03-Apr |St. Paul Private - 66 6-8 Orleans
‘03-Apr 'St Mark Private 2 K St Bernard
__10-Apr |Parkway Presbyterian ~ |Private 1 B5] Pre-K Jefferson ]
~ 1G-Apr St Matthew Pnivate 68 7 |Jefferson o
~ 10-Apr Immaculate Concephon Private 58 6 |Jefferson B
10-Apr \Sacred Heart Academy - Private | 46 3 |Orleans |
10-Apr Trinity Episcopal {Private 25| 2 |Orleans | -
~_10-Apr |First Step Learning Center |Private 24 | Pre-K Orleans
~_10-Apr [Northminster Montessori Private 30 Pre-K St Tammany |
17-Apr |Our Lady Academy ~|Private ~ 55] 8 - |
17-Apr Arden Cahill Academy ~ |Private 55| 4 Jefferson
17-Apr Kinder Haus Private 38 Pre-K Jefferson N
7 7-Apr |First Assembly Christian Private 21 56 Jefferson ]
17-Apr | Diamondhead Academy iPrivate _ 13| S \Mlsmsslppn
17-Apr |Audubon Montessori |Private I 26 ~ KlOrleans | I
~ 17-Apr Ganus Preschool ~ [Private__ 20| ~_ Pre-KiOrieans
17-Apr |St. Luke's Episcopal [Private 50 3 Orleans
17-Apr [St Anthony |Private 49| S Orleans S
17-Apr St Peter Claver |Private 60 4-50rleans b
_ 24-Apr| Rlver Forest Academy Private 44 Pre-K
_ 24-Apr 8t Cletus N “|Private 68 1 |Jefferson
~ 24-Apr St Ann. |Private 66 4 Jefferson
24-Apr |Chinchuba Middle _ IPrivate 50 5 |Jefferson LT
24-Apr [Holy Name of Jesus ~ |Private 26 K Orleans - }
~ 24-Apr |St_James Major |Private - 33 6 (Orleans i}
24-Apr ! ISt Paul |Private 44 1-20rleans - o
24-Apr | 'St. Paul the Apos!le |Private 20| 3 |Orleans -
~ 24-Apr Crescant City Baptist - anate B 50| 2&50reans
_24-ApriC Calvery Baptist ~ Private | 53 2-80rleans
24-Apr |St. Elizabeth Ann Seton Private 83| S |Orleans e T
_24-Apr Ganus Preschool |Private Y 2 Pre-KOrleans |
03-Apr [Cypress Cove Elementary |Public B 55 ~ PreK |
03-Apr [Kenner Headstart |Public 65 Pre-K Jefferson e
03-Apr Johnson Gretna Park |Public 44 Pre-K Jefferson |
03- -Apr [Etienne De Bore |Public 16 Pre-KOrleans ]
~ 03-Apr [Chester \Public 66 Pre-KlOrleans ]
| 03-ApriGuste B ~ Public ‘ 66 Pre-KOrleans
03-Apr | Gauthier |Public 66 | Pre-KISt. Bernard
03-Apr. tBerwuck Elementary |Public 42 | 4 |St. Tammany o
10-Apr |[Roosevelt Middle |Public 45[ 7 Jefferson
~_10-Apr Riverdale Middie B Public 85] 6 Jefferson 1 B
~ 10-Apr Boothville Venice [Public 58 5 Plaquemines
_ 17-Apr Delisle Elementary — [Public N 28| 35 e
_17-Apr [N. East Laurdale Middle ~ Publc 30 5] —h
17-Apr |Carter G. Woodson ~ Public — 29 B 8|
17-Apr River Oak Elementary |Public 44 4 -
__17-Apr Tanglewood Elementary |Public 28 3 E Baton Rouge |
17-Apr Fisher Elementary |Public 66 ~ Pre-K Jefferson o
17-Apr Guffport High [Public 36| 11-12Mississippi
17-Apr Hoffman ~ |Public | ol 44 Pre-K Qrleans
_ 17-Apr |Dunbar Magnet [Public 48l 8§ Orleans B
__17-Apr [P.A. Capdau ~ Public 1 55 g [Orieans
~17-Apr |Henderson ~ Public 66 Pre-KOrleans
1r-ipii_5~dwards Schoo!l Public M Pre-K)Orleans
24-Apr \Chickasaw School ~ |Public 44 3] TR A
3 :4~Apr_ Lafitte Elemeng:_ry_ |Pubhc 66 | 71 Jefferson
24-Apr Paul J. Solis Elementary [Public 55! 6 Jefferson [
24-Apr Lewis Vincent Elementary ~ |Public 66 ~ 3llivingston
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1996 | School ' LA Parish Subtotal
~Week of School Type Attendance Grade or State by Month
| 24-Apr Gulfport High Public 16 9 Mississippi o
_ 24-Apr Fifth Ward Jr. High Public H 31] 6-80rleans o
24-Apr |Berwick Elementary ~|Public 19 1St Tammany
24-Apr [Bayou Woods Public 20 Pre-K|St. Tammany
TOTAL - APRIL T S
_ 01-May |Bowling Green - 25| 4 | ]
01-May |Chata Ima 48 K
| 01-May Semmes ) 90 6!
15-May |Bates ) i 47 8 =
| 29-May [Hug a Bunch Day Care 22 Pre-K Jefferson
| 29-May |LSU Medical Day Care e 70 2 |Orleans |
~ 29-May Tots & Toddlers Day Care | 18 Pre-KOrleans |
01-May Holy Savior Private 40 6| 1
01-May Salem Lutheran Private 66 3-4 Jefferson .
01-May [Eimwood Park Academy Private | 37] 5-6 Jefferson __
01-May Parkway Presbyterian Private 65 K Jefferson |
01-May |B.M. Palmer School Private 2| Pre-K|Orleans |
| O1-May |St. Peter Claver Private 26 7 |Orleans ‘
| 01-May |Holy Name of Jesus Private 20 © KlOrleans
01-May |St. Robert Bellarmine |Private B 33 3 |St. Bernard
08-May |St. Paul |Private 30 2 |Orleans
15-May 'Shaw Elementary |Private 43| Pre-K/11-12
15-Mav |St. Helen Central |Private 68 4 |
15-May Victory Christian Academy [Private 25 1 [Jefferson T
15-May |Our Lady of Divine Providence [Private ‘ 23| 2 | Jefferson 1
15-May |Salem Lutheran B Private [ 63 1-2 Jefferson |
15-May |Arden Cahill Academy Private | 68 2 |Jefferson
| 15-May |Diamondhead Academy Private 10 6 Mississippi
15-May |Sacred Heart Academy Private | 46 3 |Orleans
15-May |St. Anthony [Private | 401 4 10rleans
15-May |St. Peter Claver ~ Private 1 68 | 1 Orleans
15-May |St. Pius . Private [ 58 2 'Orleans |
15-May |St Robert Bellarmine Private 38 3 |St. Bernard [
~ 29-May First Methodist Private 2 Pre-
29-May |St. Rosalie [Private 70 2 |Jefferson \
28-May Atonement Lutheran B Private 7 25 4 |Jefferson |
29-May |Basic Innovations Private N 50 Pre-K-1iJefferson |
___29-May (Christ Episcopal Private 47| B 5 |Orleans — ]
01-May Delisle Elementary |Public 66 3
— 01-May [Johnson Gretna Park |Public 75 5 |Jefferson 1
~ 01-May (Chateau Estates Elementary Public 3w 4-5 Jefferson B
~ 01-May Green Park Elementary |Public 75 Kl Jefferson
01-May [Riviere Elementary Pubiic 68 3 |Jefferson |
01-May |Raceland Upper Elementary Public 60 5 |Lafourche
| 01-May (West Tnibodaux Public 41] 7-9Lafourche i
| 01-May [Norco Elementary Public | 38 2 [Orieans I B
01-May |Gaudet Elementary Public [ 66 2-30rleans | i
01-May |Lusher Elementary Extension Public | 50 € [Orleans | .
| 01-May [Williams School Public 2 Pre-KOrleans [
01-May (Francis T. Nichols Public 33 9-12Orleans |
~ 01-May [Lusher Jr. High |Public B 7-8Orleans 1 ]
_01-May |Honey Island Elementary |Public 65 3 St Tammany I - K
08-May [Magnolia Woods Elementary [Public 75 2 [E. Baton Rouge |
~ 08-May |Westwego [Public ) 57 K-l Jefferson
08-May [Karr Public 66 ¢ |Orieans
15-May IC.F. Rowley ~ |Public 50 K]
_15-May |Glendale Public 59 5] T
" 15-May [Carolyn Park_ ~|Public . 55 4 ]
_15-May [Ellender Middie School ~ |Public 65 6-8 Jefferson
15-May |Fisher Middie School ~ |Public - 44 7 Jefferson
15-May [New Orleans Free School  [Public <] 1-4Orleans T
~15-May [Carver Elementary Public 71 4 Orleans o
15-May Hynes Elementary ) Public 50 K|Orieans W -
_15-May |Schaumburg Elementary Public L 49 - Ple-KlOrleans B
15-May |Coteau Bayou Biue Public 30| 3-6Terrébonng | =
"S;ng_ Progress Elementary Public T 46| ]E Baton Rouge B
29-May |Cutoff _ Public ‘ 35] 5 Jefferson
TOTAL - MAY | | 2,910
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1996 | School i | - ' LA Parish | Subtotal
Week of | School Type |Aﬂendance Grade or State by Month
[ 12-Jun |J.Bennet Jonnston 1 | 38] 15
19~Jun [Harry Reed o 1 ) 25] 9-12 RS
 26-Jun [Childrens Salvation ) | 35 \
) 79§:Jun |Camp Care-A-Lot Camp ] 58 | 6-8
| 05-Jun |Archbishop Blenk iCamp ‘ 5-7 |Jefferson
~05-Jun Our Lady of Divine Providence Camp ‘ 50, __|Jefferson -
~ 05-Jun |St. Clemem of Rome Camp_ | 50 |Jefferson
9 05-Jun |St. Margaret Camp | 50 |Orleans
_ 05-Jun [Resurrection of Our Lord Church Camp | S0 Orleans o]
[ 05-Jun St Rita ) Camp \ 50 Orleans
| 05-Jun [St_ Andrew ~ [Camp - 50| Orleans , |
05-Jun [St. Raphael Camp 50| Orleans |
05-Jun |Our Lady of Lourdes __Camp | 50| St Tammany
~ 12-Jun St Ann ~iCamp 50 Jefferson
12-Jun St. Lawrence the Manyr |Camp | 50 \Jefferson
12-Jun [Faith Academy ~ [Camp 25 Pre-K-2 Jefferson
12-Jun [St Benilde [Camp [ 50 ~Jefferson ]
12-Jun | Jackson State University |Camp ] 2] 9-12Mississippi
12-Jun |Stennis Space Camp ICamp 40| 3-5Mississippi
12-Jun |Lake Castle North ‘Camp 55] Pre-K-6 Orleans
| 12-Jun ]Southern University Camp B 35 ~ TeensOrleans ]
 i2-Jun Jesuit Summer Camp Camp | 66 | Pre-K-6 Crleans S SR
~i2-~Jun [Southern University ~_ICamp - 35 ~ B-80rleans ]
T.:-Jur St Dominic Day Camp |Camp B 45 _1-20rleans i
~ 12-Jun |Lake Casﬂe Girls Camp ‘Camp 72 Pre-K-K Orleans L
12-Jun [St Rita [Camp v 50 {Orleans ]
12-Jun [Resurrechon of Our Lord Church |Camp 50| 710rleans
| 15-Jun |St. Benilde Camp 50 | Jefferson B |
| 15-Jun| Bayou Savage Camp ] Camp ) 60 46 Jefferson
_18-Jun |Harahan Summer Camp ‘Camp 50 K-5 Jefferson
19-Jun | 'Stennis Space Camp |Camp 40 3-5Mississippi
19-Jun | St Pius Camp \ 50 ._ Orleans
~ 15-Jun St Andrew ] Camp | 50 ] Orleans
~19-Jun [St Margaret ~ |Camp | 50 ) |Orleans
~19-Jun |Zoo Camp K [Camp [ 35] 6 [Orleans
~19-Jun [Southern Unlversuy Camp 35 -50rleans
19-Jun | Xavier U University Camp 46 | 6- 7|Orleans
~18-Jun ISouthern University ) Camp 35 Teens/Orleans
19~Jun St. Dominic Day Camp |Camp 45 1 30rleans
[ 19-Jun |Resurrection of Our Lord Church |Camp 50 |Orleans |
~15-Jun [St Rita - [Camp N S0l Orleans
19-Jun 'St Mark - |Camp B 50 ) |St. Bernard
26-Jun |St Benilde +Camp | 50/ |Jefferson
_26-Jun| |St. Lawrence the Martyr Camp 50 |Jefferson ]
~ 26-Jun St Ann iCamp 50 Jefferson
26-Jun |Williams Blvd. Summer Camp |Camp ‘ 22 1-6 Jefferson
~ 26-Jun|NASA |Camp | 40 Mississippi
26-Jun |St. Clavier |Camp \ 66 3-4Orleans
~ 26-Jun |Zoo Camp |Camp ' 25 6Orleans
26-Jun |LNC Summer Camp B [Camp 25] Orleans .
26\)un 'St. Mark » /Camp S0 St Bernard | o
26-Jun Our Lady of Lourdes Camp 50 St Tammany
~ 05-Jun ‘M. Fanguy Day Care ~ |Day Care [ 12 K8 B L
12-Jun Carof's Cattage o 'Day Care . 60 Pre-K Jefferson |
| 12-Jun Little Angels Child Care |Day Care 16, Pre-KOrleans
~ 19-Jun |ABC Child Care i "|Day Care [ 35] K6 Jefferson |
26-Jun [Full House Day Care o Jggyga{c E 25 _ K-7/St Bernard I
~ 26-Jun Zao Teen Volunteers INZA 55§ 9-12N/A
~12-Jun St Peter Claver - Private ] 66 | ~ 5|Orleans
12-Jun [New Birth Baptist Church iPrivate 1 14 K4 Orleans
E jﬁ -Jun |Faith Church |Private 25 K-6Orleans
_19-Jun Terry Parkway ) ~ [Public [ 33 K-5 Jefferson
26-Jun [Moton |Public | 110 K-7,Orleans 3
TOTAL-JUNE _ ‘: 4 a l 2783
71_0qu Wlnnl_g Circle - [ ] K-8
10-Jul |ICEEP 2 & 1
~ 17-Jul|Chi Eta Phi Society | 25] 2-9

17-Jul |Best of Friends ) | I ' 0 16
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1996 [ School | LA Parish Subtotal
~Week of School | Type Attendance | Grade | or State . by Month
03-Jul |Cub Scout Pack A 'Camg o 22[ 25 - e,
~ 03l ILA Cooperative Extension Service  |Camp 43 4-6 Jefferson -
| 03-Jul[St Clement of Rome Camp B 50/ |Jefferson
. g;duﬁOur Lady of Divine Providence [Camp 50 |Jefferson -
03~Jul |St. Pius {Camp 50 'Orleans B
~ 03-Jul [St. Margaret - Camp 50 ___|Orleans ]
| 03-Jul ‘Froggles Child Care Camp 17 2-6COrleans
_ 03-Jul Franklin Ave. Baptist Church Camp 40 1-80rleans 1 D
03«)ul St. Andrew Camp 50 Orleans |
03-Jul |Kuji Center Camp 33 6-9Orleans R
| 03-Jul[Red Dragon Karate _|Camp 22 1-7/Orleans
_ 03-Jul |Joe Brown Cultural Camp Camp 55| 1-90rleans
. j-;lgl_ Wedgewood Elementary Camp B 43| Pre-K-§ |
10-Jul [Cub Scout Pack 393 Camp 38| 1-5 |
B 10-Jul Nunez Kiddy College Camp 15 2-5 Jefferson |
L ~10-Jul [Christian Center Summer Camp Camp ] 15 1-7/0rleans |
~ 10-Jul IFirst United Methodist Church Camp |Camp | 25| K-50rleans [ |
_10-Jul Danneel B Camp ] 66 [K-5 |Orleans - Nl
10 Jul 'St Rita Camp 55 Orleans e
~ 10-Jul |Jena Camp Camp ) 30| K-10Orleans
_10-Jul | Jesuit Summer Camp _|Camp - 66 | K-7|Orleans - o
10«Jull5t Dominic Day Camp Camp 44 1-2Crleans 1
____10~Jul [Toddlerhouse Summer Camp ~ Camp 58 Pre-K-58t. Charles R
17~Jul [Children's C College 'Camp 2 K
17-Jul | [Kiddie College Learning Center ~ Camp 44 Pre-K-4 Jefierson
17-Jul Kldspon Camp 110 | K-&Jeﬁursor B i
~ 17-Jul |St. Matthew the Apostie Camp 75| 7- 12Jeffg@p__ - )
| T7-Jul (St Matthew the Apostie Camp 7S] 3-6 Jefferson - |
~ 17-Jul |Naval Support Camp | 70| 1-7 Jefferson
~17-Jul St_Dominic Day Camp |Camp 44 B 1-2Crleans 1 -
~ 24-Jul [Majestic Oak Academy Camp 20 6-11 B
24-Jul |Crossgates Athletics Club (Camp 44 K-SV .
~ 24-jul |Stennis Child Developmem Center Camp 38 1-5MISSISSAPPI
24-Jul ‘Genmly Baptist Camp 33 Pre-K-4 Orleans |
24—Jul}fwlrvs£VThessaionmas Baptist Church ch [Camp 66 | K-90Orleans o ae
24-Jul [Family Advocacy |Camp 44 5-80rleans B
244&&@ Summer Camp Camp 40| K-GOrleans -
24-Jul |Ganus Camp . 4o0] Pte-K-&Orleans ) B
24-\JuIJRwerbend Pre-School Camp 40 Pre- K-440rlegps
 24-Jul|Booth Kids Club |Camp 17 Pre-K-90rleans
~ 24-Jul [Family Advocacy B Camp 44 1-4Orleans
~ 31-Jul Cedarwood Summer Camp Camp 5 K2
31-Jul IMetairie YMCA |Camp | 44] 6-7Jefferson
~ 31-Jul N.O. Marine Institute |Camp 40 9-120rleans
~31-Jul |Early Education Center |\Camp | 25 15St Bernard 0
_OS\JuI Kinder Haus |Day Care | 30| Pre-K|Jefferson
~03-Jul|Little Academy IDay Care 20 Orleans - ]
_10-Jul [Hummingbird Child Development {Day Care 25 Pre-KlJefferson o o
~_10-Jul Carol's Cottage |Day Qare 66 K-7 Jefferson
~ 10-Jul Kindercare Day Care 40! K-6Orleans o
~10-Jul |Bolden Child Care Center @ Xavier |Day Care 37| Pre-K Orleans - -
| 717 -Jul (Over the Rainbow |Day Care 22 16 Jefferson - N
17~Jul |Visitation Day Care |Day Care 55 4-12 Jefferson
17~Jul |Marrerc Day Care Day Care 55 ~ Pre-K-4 Jefferson -
- 1274!I Visitation Day Care Day Care 55 -3 Jefferson o
_ 24-Jul |B&B Daycare ¥ Day Care 26 Pre-K-1 =~ =
 24-Jul People's Community Center Day Care 3 Pre-K Orleans
31-Jul |Paula's Child Care Day Care ) 27 K-6 Jeffersor
_10~Jul |Laplace Adolescent Hospital ~ |Hospital 20 ~ TeensSt Charles
_03-Jul [Alverez Kiddie Academy ~ |Private ] 16 16 Jefferson
10~Jul [Lake Castie Girls B 1Prlvate 72| 5-80rieans
~10-Jul |Children of Salvation )Prlvale 30 ____Orleans -
~10~Jul |Lake Castie North ~ lPrivate 55 ~|Qrleans a - =
17-Jul _(._}ah Park Baptist Church [Private | 32 Pre-K-2Jefferson |
__17-Jul Step by Step ] Private 40/ 1-7.5t Bernard | )
17-Jul |Nelson Public 66 260rleans -
24-Jul|William Rogers [Public 40 K& Orleans .
TOTAL -JULY | ' 2,949
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1996 ; School LA Farish Subtotal
Week of School Type Attendance Grade  or State by Month_
_# 07-Aug |Aldersgate Methodist - |(Camp B .55 7-12 B
07-Aug |LNC Summer Camp jCamp ‘ 45 K-GOrleans B
_07-Aug [First Baptist _Camp l 20 [Orleans _
~07-Aug |Slidell Kindercare Camp \ 2 | __K-7/St. Tammany o
 07-Aug Audrey's Day Care |Day Care [ 44 'K-2 Jefferson | |
07-Aug Grace Child Center __|Day Care 31] ~1-60rleans i
~ 07-Aug |Gilda's Pre-School ~|Day Care 2] PrekK ZSL Tammany 8
14-Aug |Hug A Bunch Day Care 68 K5 Jefferson
TOTAL - i\guougsr - et i 306
~ 11-Sep \lncamate Word |Private 44 Pre-K Orleans [
~ 18-Sep! Rlversude Christian Academy |Private 60| 4 |Jefterson ]
18-Sep |[Ecole Classique Private 43| K|Jefferson =
18-Sep |St. Paul the Apostle ~ |Private 1 58 K-5 Orleans
25-Sep |Slidell First Baptist Private 50 4-55t Tammany |
11-SgpLQ$borne Elementary Public 28 1 Orlean's | ]
11-Sep |Philips Jr. High |Public 7 |Orleans |
~ 11-Sep [Karr |Public 58 __ 7|Orleans o
18-Sep Ellender Middle School |Public t‘ld_r 8 |Jefferson i
25-Sep |Alexander Elementary |Public 40 4 Jefferson )
TOTAL - SEPTEMBER { i ] 426
09-Oct[Connie Green B 10’ Pre-K i
16-Oct |Chef Homeschoolers = ) 44 4-12 L
~ 30-Oct|Cedarlake 30| ) 9-10 b
~ 16-Oct Joan's Day Care |Day Care A7| Pre-K. T
30-Oct \Wee Wisdom |Day Care 39 Pre-K ]
~02-Oct St George [Private 40 1 Orleans
~ 02-Oct Prince of Peace ) Private 66| 685t Bernard |
_ 08-Oct [Crescent City Baptist Private 38 3[Orieans o
~_08-Oct [Trinity Episcopal Private 19| “Pre-K Orleans A N
~05-Oct INewman Cub Scouts Private 16 3 [Orleans
~16-Oct |Miilervilie Academy [Private i 25| 6 [E. Baton Rouge
~ 16-Oct |Louise Dawes D°velopmem Center A’anate_ 30 |Orleans
16-051 Tnn_ry Episcopal |Private | 23] Pre—NOrieans
~ 16-Oct |Newman |Private 20| 1/Orleans ]
~ 16-Oct| 'Early Education Center [Private - 68 | ~— Pre-K St Bernard
23-Oct| |First | Bapnst Chrlsqan B __ |Private i 45 8|Jefferson |
23-Oct |St. Frances Cabrini ~ [Private 57 7 |Orleans S,
__ 23-0ct|Newman_ ) ~ [Private 20| ~ 1/Orleans
_ 30-Oct Our Lady of Perpetual Help  [Private 1 55 2 Jefferson
~ 30Oct | IFirst Baptist Christian ;Private | 20| 3 |Jefferson -
30-Q;!__§t George 7_Erv|vate i \ 39| ~ 1[Orleans _ b
02-Oct [McMain Middie Magnet Public 5| h IOrleans |
~09-Oct Carolyn Park ) Public 40 4 |
~ 08-Oct |Cypress Cove Elementary Public 66 1St Bernard
| 16-Oct [Marksville High Public | 44 | -
_16-Oct |Ben Franklin Elementary |Public 30| KOrleans 3 )
16-Oct Osborne Elementary |Public 38 5 [Orleans ‘
_16-Oct |Rosenwald |Public 66 G +oneans
_ 16-Oct |Reeves Elementary ~ [Public o 60 53/Rapides |
~_16-Oct|R. J. Vial Elementary - |Public a 44 4/St Charles |
_ 16-Oct|C.J. Schoen Public i 41 6 St Tammany
~ 23-0ct Southern University Lab School Public 44 9 |Orleans 1
23 -Oct'McDonogh 42 ~_ Public 66 ~ 580rieans
23-0ct|O. Perry Walker B IPublic a4 & [Orleans o
73—Oct Covington Elementary |Public | 70] 3/St Tammany |
~ 30-Oct |Green Park Elementary [Public 39 4 Jefferson i
30-Oct |Southern University Lab School  |Public 66 11 /Orleans
30-Oct |Schaumburg Elementary Public | 4 ~ Pre- K}Orleans
SCng_g]AbnE_SEr_mgs Elementary Fublic _'_7 50| JrSL Tammany
TOTAL-OCTOBER [ 1 - 1,629,
06-Nov ‘Mlilerwall 50
~ 06-Nov | [Freeport-Haley ‘ - 40 T
_13-Nov [West Elementary I 50 o .
~ 13-Nov [Schoeffner ] 65 -~
20-Nov (Cedarlake - - N 30
27-Nov |Law Headstart =1 55| - 1
~ 27-Nov [Bonnie Ecole - B 25| 21
~27-Nov |Kingsly House 27 Pre-KOrleans
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Week of School Type __|Aftendance Grade | or State by Month |
06-Nov |Laton Day Care Day Care i 60 Pre-K L
06-Nov St. John Elementary \Private 44 5 N
~ 06-Nov Immaculate Conception — |Private S 38| Pre-K| Jefferson -
~— 06-Nov [St. Lawrence the Martyr |Private 1 24| Pre-K| Jefferson N
~ 06-Nov |Memorial Baptist ~ Private . 70! K-5 Jefferson
~ 06-Nov [John Curtis ~ Private ) 37] 7 Jefferson [ |
_ 06-Nov St David Private o 55| 1-50rleans L
~ 06-Nov St Raymond - Private 36! - 6 |Orleans
__08-Nov St Rose Primary Private 48 3 |St Charles
| 13-Nov |Metaire Park Country Day Private 23 3 |Jefferson
___13-Nov |Christ Episcopal \Private 50 5 (Orleans |
| 13-Nov St Paul Private 53 1-3Orleans i
13-Nov [St. Louis Cathedral Private 231 5 |Orleans
13-Nov Trinity Episcopal ~ [Private Orleans B
13-Nov |St. Anthony |Private [ 44 1 Orleans
13-Nov |St. Monica |Private | 27 8 Orleans |
13-NovISt Louise de Marillac B _‘anate 64 2/St. Berfpard
~ 20-Nov Northlake Christian Private 25 2 |St. Tammany »
~ 27-Nov St Cletus i Private 40 Pre-F Jeﬂerson
[ ~ 27-Nov Ridgewood Prep B Private 37| 3-4Jefferson | -
27-Nov |St. Louis Cathedral Private 100 ) 6-8‘Oriea!13 B
27-Nov [Crescent City Baptist B Private 41] 4 Orleans )
~ 27-Nov [Newman [Private B ~ 66] 3|Orleans_
27-Nov |Buras High Christian Private 55 2 |Plaquemines
06-Nov Boudreaux Elementary  |Public 56 B 4 [Jefferson ) B
13-Nov Carolyn Park {Public 55] 4 -
~_13-Nov [Carolyn Park [Public i 33| 5 T
~ 13-Nov |Gretna Park [Public ) | 44 2 |Jefferson
~ 13-Nov |Boudreaux Eiementary [Public 55| 4 |Jefferson [
13-Nov |Bridgedale ) ~ |Public - 44 3 |Jefferson
__13-Nov |Frost School - 1Publlc N 44 6 |Livingston
~13-Nov |Schaumburg Elementary 44 Pre-KiOrieans ’
~_13-Nov |Arabi Park Middle School 20 6-8St Bernard ___
~ 13-Nov Stevensville Elementary 33 3-5St Martin
B 137N_o_\L‘Mandevnlle Elementary 50 K St. Tammany
~ 20-Nov |Gutfview Elementary B 39 5 |“ ppi B
~ 27-Nov |Bissonet | 65| 2 Jefferson
~ 27-Nov |Abramson - L 25 8 Orleans |
~ 27-Nov |Hammond 51| 2 St Tammany | |
 27-Nov Pontchatoula High [Public 41! 12 |St Tammany
 27-Nov | Cedamood_Elgmenmw _ |Public 25 4 [St. Tammany o i
TOTAL - NOVEMBER - - i ] | I 2127
_ 04-Dec|Cedarlake | 44| 3l o |
 04-Dec [Connie Green - - ~10] Pre-K D
04-Dec |Chnistian Life Academy Private ] 67| 6 | i
~ 04-Dec St. Margaret Mary  |Private 55 2] N
r—OA-Dec |St. Edward the Confessor Private | 70 KlJefferson _ |
04-Dec St Marys Academy B ~ [Private | 44 7 |Orleans .
04-Dec [Christian Bros. |Private 27| 5|Oreans
_{){_Dec [Crescent City Baptist |Private | 45] Pre-mO[liegns
04-Dec |St. Anthony [Private ~ 45] 5 [Orleans B o
~ 04-Dec Newman ']Pn'vate B 23 Pre-K Orleans 1
~ 04-Dec |5t Anthony |Pr1vate L 47 2]Or1eans ] |
11-Dec Alpha Alpha Montessor] - ~ |Private = . 40 Pre—KJefferson
~11-Dec |Diamondhead Academy Private 13] [Mississippi |
~11-Dec St. Mary of the Angels __Pnivate B ] 38 | 7 Orleans B
~ 11-Dec St. Jonn Lutheran Private 57  Pre-KZOrleans
~11-Dec |First United Methodist IF’rrvale 86 |Orleans }
~ 11-Dec [Crescent City Baptist IPrivate 44 KlOrleans ]
_ 11-Decimmaculate Heart of Mary _Private. 17| Pre-K Orleans
" 11-Dec |St. Charbonnet Church |Private 46 2 [Orleans
11-Dec 'St Robert Bellarmine S |Private "/'Tjd_ - 3]st Bernard s
~ 04-Dec [LSU Lab School _ |Publc 65 4 |E. Baton Rouge | -
~ 04-Dec Terrytown Elementary ~ Public 66 4 Jefferson I
~ 04-Dec [Frost School — |Public ~ 33 7 [Livingston
04-Dec |Lewis Public . 66 7 Orleans
OLDpc |[Eisenhower Elementary [Public - QSJ B 2-41-Orleans o
04-Dec (Phoemx CHigh ~ [Public 55| ~ 1-3Plaquemines
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| 04-Dec |Arabi Headstart Public 30| Pre-KiSt. Bernard |
04-DecCedarwood Elementary 'Public 0 7 ISt Tammany ]
 11-Dec [Terrytown Elementary [Public 66| 5 |Jefferson ]
| 11-Dec iGretna Jr. High Public 44 8 |Jefferson o
__11-Dec |Southside Elementary Public 55 ]Morehouse |
~ 11-Dec Southsnde Elementary Public 7] ) 1 Morehouse |
11-Dec |Lewis ) [Public 66 7 |Orleans |
__11-Dec |Osborne Elementary [Public 33 1[Oreans | i
~11-Dec [Carver Primary Public 57 3 [Orleans
| 11-Dec [Jean Gordon Public 46 1 Orieans 1 B
| 18-Dec |Gaudet Elementary Public 66 3 Orleans -
| ‘!8 -Dec |Wicker Elementary iPublic 66 3|Orleans |
18-Dec |Lafayette _ 'Public 50] 4 [Orleans
TOTAL - DECEMBER | 1,830
GRAND TOTAL | 23823 - 23,823
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1996
1995 | School i ‘ | LA Parish '
Week of School | Type iAﬂend.noe Grade or State Subtotals
15-May [Bates ‘ N 47 8 !
06-Mar Bay Middle | 60 4
27-Mar Bay Senior High o ] 33 912
17-Jul Best of Friends \ 30/ 1-6 ‘
 27-Nov [Bonnie Ecole ~25] 2 |
01-May |Bowling Green 5] 4]
| 27-Feb |Buchanan | 55| 5
04-Dec |Cedarlake [ 44 3
20-Nov |Cedarlake 30 4 ]
_30-Oct |Cedarlake 30 9-10 _
~ 10-Jul |CEEP - 2 5] o
~ 01-May Chata Ima ‘ 48 K —
27-Feb [Chata Ima ] 46 Pre-K
| 16-Oct |Chef Homeschoolers | 44 4-12
17-Jul |Chi Eta Phi Society 25 2-9
26-Jun [Childrens Salvation 35 [ ]
13-Feb [Connie Green 10/ ~ Pre-K '
_ 08-Oct Connie Green | 10|  Pre-K |
| 04-Dec Connie Green \ 10! Pre-K |
17-Apr [Connie Green | 10 _ Pre-K
06-Mar |Dove Park ‘ 15| 34
20-Mar [Filliman | [ 62| 6|
06-Nov |Freeporn-Haley 40 6|
~ 06-Feb |Happy Start ‘ 17] Pre-K-K_
19-Jun Harry Reed | 25| §-12 |
12-Jun |J.Bennet Johnston ] 38| 1-5
27-Nov |Law Headstan | ‘ 55| Pre-K |
13-Mar |Leinkauf | - 5
~20-Mar [Mablewood Middie | 35 6] B
~ 05-Nov IMillerwall - 50 3]
24-Apr INollwood 66 6] 2
| 16-Jan |Oak Preschool I 15 Pre-K N o
17-Apr Sandhill Elementary B 45| 34
_13-Nov |Schoeffner 55 5]
01-May [Semmes B &0 6|
~13-Nov |West Elementary 50 5-6
| 16-Jan |Westbank Headstart 66 Pre-Kl |
10-Jul Winning Circle ‘ 35 K-8
07-Aug |Aldersgate Methodist |Camp 1 55 B 7-12
05-Jun |Camp Care-A-Lot Camp Il 55 6-8
17-Jul |Children's College Camp | 2| K o
24-Jul |Crossgates Athletics Club Camp ol 44 K-8 o
10-Jul |Cub Scout Pack 393 Camp ) 38 1-5
| 03-Jul |Cub Scout Pack A Camp 22| 2-5
| 24-Jul Majestic Oak Academy Camp 20 6-11!
10-Jul Wedgewood Elementary Camp 43 Pre-K-5
24-Jul |[B&B Daycare Day Care \ 26 Pre-K-1 - _7i
_16-Oct | Joan's Day Care Day Care | 17 Pre-K . l
| 05-Nov |Laton Day Care ~ Day Care { 60 Pre-K o
05-~Jjun M. Fanguy Day Care Day Care 12 K6
_ 23-Jan Wee Wisdom ‘Day Care 15 Pre-K
~ 30-Oct WVee Wisdom Day Care 39 Pre-K
09-Jan Wee Wisdom ) Day Care 23] Pre-K
03-Apr |Bonnie Ecole Private 46 | K
04-Dec [Christian Life Academy Private 67 6| B
09-Jan Family Christian Academy Private ) 66 K-3 -
_ 29-May |First Methodist Private T 3 Pre-K B
~ 01-May Haly Savior Private 40 6
| 20-Mar Maria Immacolata Private 40| 3]
| 17-Apr |Our Lady Academy Private 55| 8] o
24-Apr |River Forest Academy i Private 44 Pre-K
_ 03-Apr |St. Clair ! _|Private 34 2 )
~15-May [St. Helen Central Private - 68 4
06-Nov St. John Elementary Private ‘ a4 5]
~ 04-Dec St. Margaret Mary Private 55 -
13Noy|CarolynPark PPublic 55 4
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~09-Oct Carolyn Park Public 40 4
13 Nov Caro_lﬂPark j - Public ‘ 33 B 8|
| 15-May [Carolyn Park Public | ) 55| 4 |
I 17-Apr |Carter G. Woodson |Public 29 8 B
24-, Apf Chickasaw School |Public 44 il
_ 20-Feb (Claiborne Magnet |Public ‘ 3%, K
03 Apr \Cygress Cove Elementary Public SSJ } Pre-K
23 Jan |Cypress Cove Elementary P_qtgllc 55! 1] B
= 09-0(:1 |Cypress Cove Elementary ‘Public 66 1
09-Jan | Cypress Cove Elementary Public 62 i U
~ 01-May }Dehsle Elementary Public | 66 )
__17-Apr [Delisle Elementary Public 26 3-5 B
06-Mar [F.K. White Middle - |Public - 42 88
_15- May |Glendale Public 59 5] _ o
| 16-Oct [Marksville High Public 44 | K
_ 20-Mar [Marksville High Public 40/ 8]
17- -Apr N. East Laurdale Mrddle iPublic 36 5
[ 17-Apr RRiver Oak Elementary ~ |Public 44 a R
TOTAL - UNIDENTIFIED PARISHISTATE 2 | 1 | ) 3,407
16-Oct anller\nIIe Academy “|Private Nl 25| 6 E. Baton Rouge |
 04-Dec LSU Lab School Public 65 4 |E. Baton Rouge
OS-May Magnalia Woods Elementary |Public 75| ) 2[E Baton‘[\’gqggi
~ 29-May |Progress [Public T 48 5 |E. Baton Rouge
~30-Jan [Sherwood Forest - Public 55] 4]E Baton Rouge |
_02-Jan Sherwood Forest Public 50 KE. Baton Rouge |
17-Apr Tanglewood Elementary Public | 25| 3 |E. Baton Rouge i
TOTAL - E. BATON ROUGE PARISH Iz | ) o 341
05-Jun Archbishop Blenk \Camp 5-7, Jefferson
~19-Jun | ‘Bayou Savage Camp Camp - 60 4-6Jeﬁerson;
~12-Jun [Faith Academy “Camp T 25 Pre-K-2Jefferson
19 -Jun |Harahan Summer Camg lCarrm 50 K-S Jefferson |
~17-dul H(lddue College Learning Center ~ [Camp 44 Pre-K-4.Jefferson |
177»Jul Kjdspoﬂ ~_ Camp 1101 K-8 Jsfferson
_ 03-Jul LA Cooperative Extension Service  |C Camp 43 4-6 Jefferson
31-Jul |Metaine YMCA [Camp 44 ;Sw?‘.reﬁéigon
~17-Jul|Naval Support |Camp 70 17 Jefferson
~10-dul Nunez Kiddy College Camp 15 2. ‘gefferson
~ 05-Jun |Our Egd&vime Providence |[Camp [ 50 \Jefferson
03 -Jul |Our Lady of Divine Providence |Camp 50 Jeffersop
12 Jun St. Ann -~ |Camp 50 Jefferson
~ 26-Jun/St. Ann [Camp A 50 [Jefferson
3 — 12-Jun| \St Benilde - Camp | 50 |Jefferson
~ 26-Jun (St Benide [Camp 50 |Jefferson
19-Jun [St_Benilde [Camp 50 |Jefferson
 05-Jun ISt. Clement of Rome [Camp | 50 | Jefferson .
| 03-Jul |St. Clement of Rome [Camp | 50| |Jefferson i
~12-Jun |St. Lawrence the Martyr |Cam S0 _ Jefferson |
26-Jun |St. Lawrence the Martyr [Camp 50| ~ Jefferson |
~17-Jul |St._ Matthew the Apostie [Camp 75 3-8 Jefferson B
17-Jul |St. Matthew the Apostle Camp I J_Egeﬁerson
~ 26-Jun |Wiliams Bivd. Summer Camp _ Camp | = 16Jefferson
19-Jun |ABC Child Care |lbayCare 35 K-6 Jefferson
07-Aug Audrey's Day Care |Day Care | 44 K-2Jefferson |
12-Jun [Carol's Cottage |Day Care 60 Pre-KJefferson
71_0;J£\Carol s Cottage Day Care | 66, K- 7_.J_effe_rson
29-May Hug a Bunch - ~ bayC Care 22| _ Pre-KJefferson
14-Aug Hug A I Bunch ~ |Day Care S| 66 KB Jefferson
1v0~Jul Hummmgblrd Child | Devclopmen' Day Care - 25 Pre-K Jefferson |
~ G3-Jul [Kinder Haus |Day Care 30 Pre-KJefferson
17 Jul IMarrero Day pgr_e__ |Day Care 55|  Pre-K-4Jefferson
7417_.!ub0verthe Rainbow |Day Care | 1-6Jeﬁerson
31-Jul |Paula's Child Care  |Day Care 27| - K—6Jeﬁerson
17-Jul \\/lsrtatlon Day Care __Day Care 85| 1- 3’.igf_fg§on
17-Jul Visitation Day Care ~ |payCare 55 4-12Jefferson
30-Jan All Saints Catholic _ |Private | 65 o 2-6Jefferson
11 -Dec \Alpha Momcsuon anate 40 o Pre-KJefferson
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 27-Mar Alpha Montessori ~ Private A  Pre-K/K Jefferson
03-Jul |Alverez K R(ddlge Academy .Pnyale | - 16 1-6 Jefferson
___15-May |Arden Cahill Academy Private | 68 _ 2|Jefferson
___17-Apr |Arden Cahill Academy Private 55| 4 |Jefferson
_29-May |Atonement Lutheran Private 5] 4 [Jefferson
| 25-May Basic Innovations Private 50 Pre-K-1/Jefferson
 09-Jan lChmchuba Middle B _Private |50 5 |Jefferson
| 24-Apr [Chinchuba Middie |Private | 50 S |Jefferson
__18-Sep Ecole Classique |Private | 43 K Jefferson
| 20-Mar |[Ecole Classique [Private 47 Pre-KJefferson
| 01-May [Elmwood Park Academy B ‘anale . | 37 5-8\)_e_f_f_9rson
__ 20-Mar [Eimwood Park Academy " |Private | 15 2 |Jefferson
~ 17-Apr [First Assembly Christian_ Private | 21 5.8 Jefferson
30-Oct |First Baptist Christian ~~~ Private 20 3 |Jefferson
23-Oct |F |First Baptist Christian Private 45 8 |Jefferson
| 06-Nov Immaculate Conception Private 39 Pre-KJefferson
__10-Apr 1Immaculate Conception Private 58 6 |Jefferson
05-Nov John Curtis |Private B 37 7 Jefferson
06-Feb |John Curtis L ¢ [Private j 58] 6 Jefferson
| 06-Feb John Curtis B [Private 38 o 5 | Jefferson |
~ 20-Feb John Curtis Private 47| 8 Jefferson
03-Apr [Kehoe France Private 721 1 Jefferson
17-Apr Kinder Haus [Private ) 39| Pre-K Jefferson
05-Nov [Memcrial Baptist Private 70] K-SJefferson
__13-Nov |Metaire Park Country Day Private 23] 3 | Jefferson
13-Mar Metairie Park Country Day ~~ Private 20 777Pre-b§.)_e[fgr_so_g _ B
03-Apr IMetaine Park Country Day Private - 29| 34 Jefferson
| | 13-Feb Metairie Park Country Day |Private 20| Pre-K Jefferson
_ 20-Mar |Metairie Park Country Day Private - 20 Pre-K Jefferson
17ﬂl£)a_k Parb_\ Baptist Church Private 32 Pre-K- 2 Jefferson
__06-Feb |One in Christ Academy 'anate B 33 6 \Jefferson
15 ~May | Our Lid} of Divine Providence | [Private I 23| 2 Jefferson
~30-Oct [Our Lady of Perpetual Help |Private i 55 2 Je_f‘fﬁrﬁgn_ -
10-Apr [Parkway Presbyterian Private 65| ~ Pre-K Jefferson
~01-May |Parkway Presbyterian |Private - 55 KJefferson
27-Nov |Ridgewood Prep [Private 37| 3-4Jefferson
30-Jan |Ridgewood Prep - 7‘E’rw_ate_7 ) 3-8 Jefferson
__18-Sep [Riverside Christian Academy |Private | 60 4 Jefferson
30-Jan Riverside Christian Academy  |Private 60 | 3 Jefferson
~15-May 'Salem Lutheran ~ |Private 63 1-2Jefferson
__01-May |Salem Lutheran |Private B8 3-4 Jefferson
~15-May $EIW Eleméntary - |Private | 43 Pre-K/11-12 Jefferson
_ 24-Apr St Ann |Private 66 | 4 Jefferson
~13-Mar 'St. Benilde |Private 37 7 Jefferson
03-Apr St. Clement of Rome [Private 46 1 Jefferson
~ 27-Nov St. Cletus A |Private 40 ~ Pre-KJefferson
~ 24-Apr |St. Cletus Private ) 68 1 | Jefferson o
04-Dec St. Edward the Confessor [Private 70 KJefferson
06-Nov | v St Lawrence the Martyr PﬂVfﬁc’, ! (. 24 Pre- KJefferson |
06-Mar |S |St. Louis King of France Private 25 5 [Jefferson
27-Mar |St. Martin Private i | a8 7 |Jefferson
20-Mar (St. Martin_ ~ Private i 46 7 [Jefferson
_ 23-Jan |St. Martin Private 45 ~ Pre-K Jefferson
_03-Apr |St. Mary Magdeline Private 70 Pre-KJefferson
13-Mar |St. Mary Magdeline ) _|Private 50| - 8 |Jefferson
10-Apr ISt. Matthew Private DN 68 | 7 |Jeffersan
16-Jan [St. Matthew ) ~ Private 55 Pre-KJefferson
29-May |St. Rosalie_ a2l Private B 70 2 |Jefferson
B _b_May 'Victory Chnistian Academy Pnivate 25 1 Jefferson
__03-Apr \Word of Faith |Private ~25] Pre-K Jefferson
__25-Sep Alexander Elementary B |Public 40 4 Jefferson
06-Feb [Barbe Middle TPubllc | 44 9 Jefferson
13-Feb Behrman Elementary ~ Public [ 44 6 | Jefferson
__27-Nov Bissonet |Public 65 2 Jefferson
06- Feb B@ngpel High |Public 38 9 Jefferson
06-Nov ‘Boudreaux Elementary _|Public 56 4 Jefferson
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13-Nov |Boudreaux Elementary ~ |Public 55| 4 | Jefferson
_06-Feb |Bridgedale Public 66 | 5 |Jefferson
13-Nov Bridgedale Public 44 3 | Jefferson
06-Feb |Catherine Strehie Public 50 2 |Jefferson
| 09-Jan Jan |Catherine Strehle |Public 50| 2 | Jefferson N
[ Q1-May [Chateau Estates Elementary Public 36 45 Jefferson
) 29-MayTCutoff Public | 35] 5 Jefferson :
__09-Jan |Ella Dolhonde Special Ed. Public | 50 1-5 Jefferson
15 -May (Ellender Middie School Public 65 6-8Jefferson
| 18-Sep |Ellender Middle School IPublic B 44 8 | Jefferson
17-Apr [Fisher Elementary Public \ 66 | Pre-KlJefferson
15-May {Fisher Middle School ) Public ' 44 7 |Jefferson
_ 06-Mar |George Cox Elementary Public ‘ 41] 3 Jefferson
30-Oct |Green Park Elementary |Public 38 4 | Jefferson
01-May Green Park Elementary {Public - 75 KlJefferson
11-Dec |Gretna Jr. High ~ |Public 44 8 |Jefferson
13-Nov [Gretna Park Public ‘ 44 2|Jefferson
13-Mar [Harvey Kindergarten __|Public | 60 o KJefferson
23-Jan |John Clancy Elementary B Public 42 1 | Jefferson
01-May |Johnson Gretna Park Public 75! 5| Jefferson
03-Apr |Johnson Gretna Park Public 44 Pre-KJefferson
 20-Mar [Kate Middleton Kindergarten iPublic 501 Pre-K Jefferson
~ 03-Apr |[Kenner Headstart - Public 66 | Pre-K Jefferson
_24-Apr |Lafttte Elementary [Public | 66| 1 Jefferson
13-Mar |Metairie Grammar Schaol Public 55| 4 Jefferson
29:Ap_r_ipaul J. Solis EIementa;_y Public 55 6 Jefferson
20-Feb |Riverdale High [Public 66 | ~ S-12Jefferson
10-Apr |Riverdaie Middle |Public S5 | B € |Jefferson
01-May |Riviere Elementary |Public 68| 3 |Jefferson
_10-Apr [Roosevelt Middle ~|Public 45 7 Jefferson
_13-Mar Ruppel Elementary Public 668 S Jefferson
_19-Jun Terry Parkway [Public gl 3 K- SJefferson ]
11-Dec [Terrytown Elementary Public B 66 5 Jefierson
~ 04-Dec [Terrytown Elementary Public 66 4 Jefferson
_08-May |Westwego Public ) 571 K-1lJefferson
08-Jan Woodland Elementary Public 38 Pre-KJefferson —
TOTAL - JEFFERSON PARISH Iz | T | 6669
~ 27-Mar Galliano Elementary Public 40 6 |Lafourche
" O‘l-May IRaceland Upper Elememarv |Public i 60 STLafourche
01-May [West Thibodaux Public 41 7-9Lafourche .
TOTAL - LAFOURCHE PARISH ) S ] « 141
" 13 Nov [Frost School Public ‘ 44 6 lelg‘g_stgn
~ 04-Dec [Frost School Public 33| 7 |Livingston
24 -Apr |Lewis Vincent Elnmentary Public 66 3 |Livingston
TOTAL - LIVINGSTON PARISH 5 i s 143
~12-Jun [Jackson State University Camp [ 42 9-12M|35|ss;pp1 |
~ 26-Jun INASA Camp 40! IMississippi
~ 24-Jul Stennis Child Development Center  [Camp 38 1-6M|ssmsupp|
1”—Jun Stennis Space Camp Camp 40 3-SMississippi
jQim Stennis Space Camp 'Camp 40 3-5Mississippi
30-Jan [Coast Episcopal Private | 20 Pre-KMississippi
11-Dec |D|amcndheaa_Amemy _[Private 13] 4 ]MlSSlssmg
_17-Apr |Diamondhead Academy ~ |Private 13] 5 [Mississippi
15-May lDtamondhead Academy B Private 10 6 |Mississippi
17-Apr |Gulfport High IPublic B 11-12Mississippi
13-Feb |Gultport High 'Public 1 49 11-12Mississippi
“t‘»-ApArlG_q_?fpgn_ﬂ!gn B \Public 16 9 |Mississippi
20-Nov Gulfview Elementar‘y |Public | 39 5 MISSISSIPPI ]
TOTAL - MISSISSIPPI F— b [ _396)
~ 11-Dec [Southside Elementary B Public | 55 1 |Morenouse
~ 11-Dec |Southside Elementary Public 22| 1 |Morehouse
TOTAL - MOREHOUSE PARISH \ 77
26-Jun (Zoo Teen Volunteers INIA 55 9-12ZN/A
| "7-Noy_ Kingsly House | 27_;/~ ~ Pre-KlOrleans
24-Jul [Booth Kids Ciub |Camp 1 17 Pre-K-90rleans
10-Jul [Christian Center Summer Camp  |Camp 15 1-7Orleans
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~10-Jul Danneel [Camp 66 K-5 |Orleans
| 24-Jul Family Advocacy [Camp 44 ) 5-90rleans
[ 24-0ul [Family Advocacy B Camp | 44 1-4 Orleans il
[ 07-Aug [First  Baptist |Camp [ 20 |Orleans |
24-Jul [First Thessaloninas Baptist Church  [Camp 1 66 K-8 Orleans |
~10-Jul First Unted Methodist Church Camp |Camp 25 ~ K-50rleans
~ 03-Jul IFranklin Ave. Baptist Church Camp 40 B 1-8Orleans .
03-Jul Froggies Child Care Camp 17| ~ 2860rleans
| 24-Jul |Ganus Camp 40 Pre-K-3 Orleans
[ 24-Jul [Gentilly Baptist “ICamp i B Pre-K~4 Orleans
| 10-Jul Jena Camp Camp I 30 ~K-10rleans _
10-Jul ‘Jesun Summer Camp _ ICamp | 66 K-7iOrleans
12-Jun Jesuit Summer Camp ‘Camp ‘ 66 Pre-K-6 Orieans .
03-Jul |Joe Brown Cultural Camp Camp 55 1-9Orleans o
03-Jul [Kuji Center Camp 33 6-9Orleans |
| 12-Jun |Lake Castle Girls Camp Camp 72 ~ Pre-K-KOrleans |
~12-Jun |Lake Castle North Camp & ~ Pre-K-6Crleans 1
 26-Jun |LNC Summer Camp Camp 25 'Orleans =~ -
'24-Jul [LNC Summer Camp \Camp 40 K-6Qrieans N
07 -Aug LNC Summer Camp Camp 45 | K-6Orleans
31-Jul N.O. Marine Institute Camp 401  9-120rleans
~ 03-Jul |Red Dragon Karate Camp 22 1-7|Crieans -
05-Jun [Resurrection of Our Lord Church  [Camp | 50| |Crieans
_ 19-Jun |Resurrection of Our Lord Church Camp } ‘ 50! Orleans
— 12-Jun lResurrecnon of Our Lord Church Camp B 50 N Orleans
[ 24-Jul Riverbend Pre-School ~ Camp 40 Pre-K~4 Orleans
B [ 12-Jun Southern University B |Camp 35| 6-8Orleans
_12-Jun Southern University Camp 35| Teens Orleans B
~19-Jun |Southern University Camp | 35| TeenéOrbeans B
~19-Jun ‘Southern University E}amp 35 -SOrIeans
~03-Jul |St. Andrew ) |Camp * 50 “[Orleans
05-Jun St Andrew Camp 50 B |Orleans |
19~Jun St. Andrew - Camp_ 50 |Orleans
~ 26-Jun St Clavier ~ [Camp 66 3-40rleans
| 12-Jun |St. Dominic Day Camp [Camp ‘ 45 1-2Orleans
| 10-Jul[St Dominic Day Camp |Camp 44 12 Orleans
19-Jun |St. Dominic Day Camp Camp 45 “1-3Orleans
17-Jul |St. Daminic Day Carmp {Camp 1 44 1-20rleans B
~ 03-Jul 'St. Margaret 'Camp . 50 ~ [Orleans
| 05-Jun St. Margaret [Camp 50/ IOrleans
| 19-Jun |St Margaret [Camp 50] |Orleans
~03-Jul |St. Pius lCamp 50! Orleans
~19-Jun St Pius “ICamp 50 Orleans
~ 05-Jun 'St Raphael ‘Camp 50 Orleans
~12-Jun St. Rita Camp 50 B Orleans
05-Jun |St. Rita Camp N 50 Orleans
19-Jun [St. Rita o Camp 50 [Orleans
~10-Jul|St. Rita ~ |[Camp 55| 'Orleans B
~ 19-Jun n Xavier University Camp 46 | ~ 6-70Orleans
_ 26-Jun Zoo Camp Camp - 25 6 |Orleans
~ 18-Jun [Zoo Camp ‘Camp 5] ~ 6|[Orieans
10-Jul [Boiden Child Care Center @ Xavier _Day Care | a7 ~ Pre-KOrleans
07 -Aug \Grace Child Center Day Care ) 31 1-6 Orleans
~_10- Ju_Rmdercare ) Day Care & 40| K-€Orleans
t_ 03-Jul [Little Academy Day Care 20] ~_|Orleans
| 12-Jun i Little Angels Chiid Care ~ |Day Care 16| Pre-K Orleans 3
 29-May [LSU Medical |Day Care | 70 2 Orleans 7
~ 06-Feb Newcomb Nursery |Day Care 25] ~ Pre-K Orleans
L 24-Jul |People's Community Center Day Care 3_3| Pre-KiOrleans
~17-Apr IPhlllps Childcare ~ Day Care 66|  Pre-KOrleans
_ 29-May Tots & Toddlers l;Dav Care 18| Pre-K Orleans
| 13-Mar [Unned Methodist Child Care Day Care 23 Pre-KOrleans
~ 17-Apr ‘Audubon Montessori Private B 26| |Orleans
s 01-MQTB h_AAPglmer School _Private 22| Pre-K Orleans
13-Mar |B.M. Palmer School - Private 47 ~ KOrleans
20-Feb Calvary Baptist |Private 45| 4-5Orleans N
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~ 24-Apr Calvery Baptist |Private 53] 2-80rleans
10-Jul [Children of Saivation Private 30 B Orleans
13 Nov IChnst Egscopal Private ‘ - 50| 8 Orleansﬁ -
2Q—May ‘Chns’t Episcopal Private 47\ 5 |Orleans
04-Dec Christian Bros. Private ¥ 27! 5 Orleans |
_ 24-Apr [Crescent City Baptist Private | 50 2 & 50rleans
11-Dec |Crescent City Baptist ~_ |Private 44| KOrleans
04-Dec [Crescent City Baptist \Private | 45 Pre-K|Orleans
 09-Oct [Crescent City Baptist [Private 39 B 3 |Crleans
27-Nov [Crescent City Baptist |Private 41 4 |Orleans |
19 Jun [Faith Church Private 25 K-GOrleans
 10-Apr |First Step Learning Center ~ [Private 24 Pre-KOrleans |
-  27-Mar [First Step Learning Center Private il D 20 Pre-KOrleans
 11-Dec [First United Methodist [Private 66 VL(_)_rlgans
24-Apr |Ganus Preschool Private 2 Pre-KOrleans
~17-Apr [Ganus Preschool |Private | 20 Pre-K|Orleans
20-Mar [Holy Cross ) |Private [ 66 6 |Orleans
- 01-May ‘Holy Name of Jesus Private [ 20 KOrleans
| 24-Apr Holy Name of Jesus B Private 26 KOrleans
11-Dec [Immaculate Heart of Mary Private ' 1z Pre-K Orleans
__11-Sep |Incarnate Word IPrivate 44 Pre-K/Orleans
 10-Jul |Lake Castle Girls Private 72 5-8 Orleans
~ 10-Jul |Lake Castle North {Private 55 |Orleans
_ 20-Mar Lakeview F‘resbytenan Private 21| Pre-K|Orieans
~ 03-Apr| |Les Enfants Nursery Schoal Private | 24| Pre-KiOrleans
| 16-Oct Louise Dawes Develogment Center  |Private 30 |Orleans
7_20_Mar Louise McGehee |Private 36 K Orleans
_27-Mar |Magnolia Headstart {Private | 44 Pre-KOrleans
i2-Jun [New Birth Baptist Church {Private | 14| K-4 Orleans
27-Nov INewman “iPrivate ‘ 66 3 [Orleans
~ 16-Oct [Newman — |Private } 20| 1 |Orleans
23-Oct INewmarn |Private 20| 1 Orleans
04-Dec Newman |Private | 23| Pre-K Orleans
09-Oct INewman Cub Scouts [Private I 3 Orleans
~ 16-Jan IPnnce of Peace Lutheran Private B 35 4 ngr_le_ggs
154 -May <Sacred Heart Academy _anate i 46 | ___3|Orleans y
10-Apr |Sacred Heart Academy Private ‘ 46 5[Crleans
09-Jan Stuart Hall |Private | 33| KOrleans
_ 17-Apr |St. Anthony |Private 491 5|0rleans
| 04-Dec |St. Anthony - ) [Private 47| ~ 2[Orleans
15-May [St. Anthony ~ |Private 40 4|Orleans
_ 27-Mar [St. Anthony ) Private 49 6-8O0rleans
| 04-Dec St. Anthony - Private 45| 5 [Orleans
i R 13-Nov St. Anthony Private 44 1 |Orleans o
8 “11-Dec |St. Charbonnet Chureh Private 46 2 Orleans
[ 06-Nov [St David Private 55‘ 1-50rleans _
 27-Mar |St. Dominic Private 42 _2 Orleans -
_ 24-Apr |St. Elizabeth Ann Sefon |Private | 53] 5|Orleans I
23-Oct iSt. Frances Cabrini ~ |Private | 57 7 |Orleans
20-Mar St. George ~ |Private [ 41 KOrleans
30-Oct lSt George Private 39| 1|Orleans
02-Oct |St. George [Private 40 —1Orieans |
24-Apr [St. James Major |Private B 33 6 Orleans ]
13-Mar [St. Joan of Arc [Private 45 1 IOrIgaE;A S|
23-Jan |St. John Berchman Private 82 Pre-K|Orleans |
11-Dec 'St John Lutheran ~ |Private 57 F’re-KZOrleans
13-Nov [St. Louis Cathedral - |Private i 23] 5 |Orleans |
2]’_N_9v 'St. Louis Cathedral anvatc ] 100 .6-80rieans
17-Apr |St. Luke's Episcopal Private 59‘ 3 |Orleans
11-Dec |St. Mary of the Angels __ Private 38 7 |Orleans
04-Dec |St. Mary's Academy _Private 44 7 |Orleans
~ 13-Nov |St. Monica iPrivate oF 8 |Orleans
24-Apr |St. Paul e [Private — 44 ~ 1-20rleans
08-May |St. Paul ~ [Private 30 2|Orleans
03-Apr | ISt. Paul [Private e8| 6-8Orleans
13-Nov 1St F‘aul o ;&@ 53 ~1-30rleans
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~ 23-Jan St. Paul Private | 28| 6 (Orleans
16-Jan |St. Paul Lutheran Private | 50| |Orleans
_ 27-Mar |St. Paul Lutheran |Private 3 __ 47] 3-50rleans .
24-Apr |St. Paul the Apostle __|Private 20 - 3 Orleans
16-Sep | ISt Paul the Apostle _Private 56 l(ASQr_legns
| 17-Apr| |St. Peter Claver B [Private 60 4-50rleans
| 12-Jun[St. Peter Claver - {Private 66 5|Orleans
15—May St. Peter Claver B Private 68 1 |Orleans
 01-May |St. Peter Claver Private 26| 7 |Orleans
156-May [St. Pius Private - 58 ~ 2|Orleans l
06-Nov [St. Raymond [Private’ i 36| ~ 6|Orleans |
09-Oct Trinity Episcopal [Private 19 Pre-KOrleans \
20-Mar ‘Tnnny Episcopal Private 20| Pre-KOrleans
13-Nov Tnnny Episcopal |Private g, Orleans =
13-Mar | Trinity Episcopal B |Private 46 4 |Orleans |
16-Oct [Trinity Episcopal ) Private 23] Pre-KOrleans |
10-Apr [Trinity Episcopal S Private 25 2 |Orleans 1
23-Jan Trinity Episcopal ~ |Private _2{11 3 Pre-KOrleans |
06-Mar ‘Ursuline Academy Private 44 1-2Orleans
27-Nov |Abramson o ~ |Pubiic 25| 8 Orleans
~ 06-Mar [Ben Franklin Elementary - Public 61/ 1|Orleans
16-Oct Ben Frankiin Elementary _ |Public_ ‘ 30 KOrleans
15-May |Carver Elementary ~ |Public ‘ 71 4 Orleans
11-Dec |Carver Primary Public 57 3[Orleans
03-Apr [Chester \Public 66 Pre-KlOrleans
__20-Feb |Crossman School __ |Public_ 49! ~ Pre-K-1/Orleans
20-Feb |C.J. Colton Jr. High |Public 63 7-80rieans
17- Apr Dunbar Magnet Public 4B 8 |Orleans
~ 06-Feb |Dunbar Magnet [Public 67 5|Orleans
_17-Apr |[Edwards School B "Public 44 Pre-KOrleans
04-Dec |Eisenhower Elementary [Public 65 | 2-4Orleans
30-Jan |Eisenhower Elementary [Public ! 5|  3|Orleans
03-Apr [Etienne De Bore {Public ' 16| Pre-KlOrleans
_06-Mar [Fifth Ward Jr Public I 20 Pre-K Orleans =
24-Apr 1thth Ward Jr. High Public [ 31 6-8Orleans
~0i-May Francis T. Nichols Public I 33| ~ 9-120rleans
_18-Dec Gaudet Elementary Public b 66 ~ 3|Orleans -
_ 01-May Gaudet Elementary Public ] 86 ~ 2-30rleans
QSﬁp_rwGuste i Public \ 66 Pre-KOrleans
_ 17-Apr [Henderson ~ |Public 66 Pre-K Orleans
__17-Apr |Hoffman |Public 44 Pre-KiOrleans
_15-May |Hynes Elementary [Public 50| KiOrleans
13-Feb |Jean Gordon ~ Public a4 K Orleans il
~11-Dec |Jean Gordon ) Public 46 | 1 |Orleans
~ 30-Jan |John Dibert B 'Public 33| ~ 2-30rleans |
~ 30-Jan |Karr Public 66 | & |Orleans b
11-Sep Karr Public 58 | 7 |Orleans
~ 23-Jan Karr B Public B g 66  8|Orleans
~ 08-May |Karr i Public N 66 9 |Orleans
18-Dec \Lafayette Public 50| 4 |Orleans
09-Jan Lafayette - [Public 50 4 Orleans
11-Dec [Lewis Public 66 7 Orleans -
_ 04-Dec |Lewis ~ |Public 66 7 Orleans ]
13 Mar |L|ve Oak Middle Public 1 44 8 |Orleans
01-May | [Cusher Elementary Extension ~ Public 50 o) Orleans
07+ -May ILusher_JLHJgLi Public R ~ 7-80rleans
_27-Mar Mary Coghill ~ |Public 86 6 |Orleans
02-Jan Mary Coghill - [Public | 32| “2|Orleans
13-Mar Mary Coghill T Public l 61 4|Orleans
~ 20-Feb McDonogh 42 Public | 46 K K Orleans
_ 23-Oct McDonogh 42 Public \ 66 | 5-6 Orleans )
~ 27-Mar [McDonogn 42 Public | 66| 6 |Orleans
_06-Mar [McMain Middie Magnet ~ [Public 4] 8 Orleans
_ 08-Feb [McMain Middie Magnet _|Public - 45 | 8 Orleans
02-Oct [McMain Middle Magnet Public ' __55] 7 (Orleans
20-Feb [Morial Elementary ~_|Public 70 ~ 3|Orleans
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26-Jun [Moton ] [Public 110/ K-70Orleans
7_”11 -Jul Nelson ) EP'u-bihc 1 66 2-60rleans
| 15-May |New Orleans Free School [Public 53 1-4Orleans
/ INorco Elementary B Public T 38 2(Orleans
Oshorne Elementary Public 74| 1 IOrieapi e
20-Mar (Osborne Elementary ~ |Public i 69| KOrleans
~ 11-Sep Osborne e Elementary Public 28 "1 iOrleans
| 16-Oct [Osborne Elementary B Public . 38 5 |Orleans
[ ~11-Dec (Osborne Elementary Public 33 1|Orleans
23-Oct |O. Perry Walker Public 44 | 8 |Orleans
11-Sep ‘Phlhps Jr. High Public | . 7 |Orleans
17-Apr [P.A_ Capdau o Public 55 S [Orleans
~ 16-Oct [Rosenwald |Public 66 6 Orleans B
15-May ‘Schaumburg Elementary |Public = 49 Pre-KiOrleans
~13-Nov Schaumburg Elementary |Public 44 | Pre-KOrleans
~ 30-Oct |Schaumburg Elementary |Public 44| Pre-K Orleans
| 30-Oct [Southern University Lab School Public 66 | 11 |Orleans .
~ 23-Oct |Southemn University Lab School |Public - 44| 9 [Orleans
~ 18-Dec lchker Elementary Public 66 ~ 31Orleans |
~ 24-Jui |William Rogers Public 40 K-60rleans |
01-May Williams School Public 2 Pre-K Orleans _k
TOTAL - ORLEANS PARISH e | I 8,778
I ._/-Nov Buras ngh Chnsnan |Private B 55 ~ 2|Plaguemines
 1G-Apr [Boothville Venice Public 13 58| 5 |Plaguemnines
04 Dec [Phoenix High Fublic 55 _1-3Plaguemines
" 06-Feb |Phoenix High |Public 21 4-12Plaguemines
TOTAL - PLAQUEMINES PARISH z e 189
16-Oct |Reeves Public 60 3 |Rapides
TOTAL - RAPIDES PARISH ; b e = 60
~31-Jul |Early Education Center Camp 25| 16St. Bernard
~18-Jun St Mark ~Camp 50 | |St. Bernard
_ 26-Jun |St. Mark |Camp 50| ISt. Bernard
~26-Jun |Full House Day Care wbg_y Care 25 K-7iSt, Bernard
 O6-Feb arly Education Center Prvate 18 Prekst Bemad
_09-Jan Early Education Center |Pr|vate 20 Pre-KISt. Bernard
20-Feb ‘Early Education Center ‘anale 13 Pre-)Q'St Bernard
06-Mar |Early Education Center N [Private o 1€ Pre- K St Bernard B
16—Oct t |[Early Education Center Private 68 | Pre-K'St. Bernard i
~ 13-Mar Our Lady of Prompt Succor |Private 70 5 St. Bernard
_27-Feb Our Lady of Prompt Succor ~|Private | 33| Pre-K St Bernard
OZOGl |Pnnce of Peace ~ |Pnivate 68 __ 6-8St. Bernard
~ 17-Jul|Step by Step - Private 40| ~ 1-7St. Bernard
~ 06-Mar St Louise de Marillac [Private 58 ~ 8 5t Bernard
B ]Qﬁqy |St. Couise de Marillac |Private 64 2 St. Bernard
03-Apr St. Mark [Private 3 KSt. Bernard
20-Mar 'St. Robert Bellarmine |Private 33 §St. Bernard
15-May |St. Robert Bellarmine ~ |Private E 35] 3 St. Bernard
01-May | |St. Robent Bellarmine Private - 3 3 \St Bernard
_ 11-Dec |St. Robert Bellarmine _ Private 1 71 3/St. Bernara
16 -Jan |Arabi Elementary |Public { 44 '5St. Bernard
~ 06-Feb Arabi Elementary — Public 18] Pre-KSt. Bernard
04-Dec Arabi Headstart ~ Public 30] ~ Pre-KSt Bernard
_13-Nov jArapi Park Middle School [Public B 20 _ 6-8St Bernard
15-May |t [CF _Rowley [Public B 50 KSt. Bernard
02-Jan [C.F. Rowley ~ Public 50 | 3 /St Bernard
03-Apr | Gauthcer Public 66| Pre-K.St. Bernard
~ 27-Mar Millaudon - [Public 66 Pre-K.St. Bernard
TOTAL - ST. BERNARD PARISH zZ 1 1165
10-Jul | [Toddlefhouse Summer Camp ~ ICamp 5§i Pre-K-55t. Charles
13-Mar |Toddlerhouse - Day Care 19 Pre-KSt. Charles
~10-Jul ul Laplace Adolescent Hospital Hospital 200 Teens'St Charles
06-Nov 'St. Rose Primary Private | 48 3|St. Charles
06-Mar ;Destrahan High ¢ School |Public 40 9- 1282 Charles
27-Mar |Glade Elementary [Public - 34 2[St. Charles
16-Oct |R. J. Vial Elementary ~ Public e 44| 4|St. Charles
TOTAL - ST. CHARLES PARISH 2 o ] 260
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1996
1996 School ] LA Parish
| Week of School A Type Attendance | Grade | or State Subtotals
13-Nov Stevensville Elementary ~Public Ex]| 3-58t. Martin
[ TOTAL - ST. MARTIN PARISH 5 5 w | 1 33
 24-Apr r [Berwick Elementary |Public 19| 1.St. Mary
03-Apr [Berwick Elementary Public 42| 4 8t. Mary
TOTAL - ST. MARY PARISH _ 61
| 31-Jul |Cedarwood Summer Camp Camp 66 K-2/St. Tammany
| 26-Jun |Our Lady of Lourdes |Camp 50 ~|St. Tammany
| 05-Jun |Our Lady of Lourdes Camp 50 St. Tammany
_07-Aug |Slidell Kindercare Camp 22 K-71St. Tammany
| 07-Aug [Gilda's Pre-School Day Care = Pre-K-2St. Tammany
~20-Nov Northlake Chnistian Private 25 2|St. Tammany
10-Apr Northminster Montessori Private 30 Pre-K|St. Tammany |
| 27-Feb |Our Lady of Lourdes iPrivate 56 | 3|St. Tammany
_ 25-Sep |Slidell First Baptist ~ |Pnvate 50 | -5S8t. Tammany
| 30-Oct |Abita Springs Elementary Public 50| 3|St. Tammany
| 24-Apr [Bayou Woods o Public 20| Pre-KISt. Tammany
| 04-Dec |Cedarwood Elementary Public 10 7 |St. Tammany
27-Nov Cedarwood Elementary Public 25] 4St. Tammany
| 23-Oct Covington Elementary Public 70 3 |St. Tammany
| 16-Oct |C.J. Schoen Public 41 6 |St. Tammany
| 27-Nov [Hammond Public 51 2 /St Tammany
| 09-Jan [Hammond Public 44| 7 |St. Tammany
01-May]Honey Island Elementary |Public 65 3|St. Tammany
23-Jan Madisonville Public 3 20 Pre-KiSt. Tammany
| 27-Mar Mandeville Elementary \Public 48 | KfSt Tammany
[~ 13-Nov Mandeville Elementary Public 50 __KSt. Tammany
13-Feb ‘Mandeville Middle |Public 14| - 4-58t. Tammany
~02-Jan [Mandeville Middle [Public 60| 6 St. Tammany
06-Feb [Pineview [Public 55 5 St Tammany
_02-Jan Pontchatoufa ngh \Public 38 12 |St. Tammany
27-Nov |Pontchatoula High Public 41 12[St. Tammany |
I TOTAL - ST. TAMMANY PARISH iz [ \ 1073
| 154 5-May |Coteau Bayou Blue |Public 30| 36 Terrebonne -
TOTAL - TERREBONNKE PARISH I 0 - | | 30|
[SRARD TOTAL =l 23,823 | | 23.823
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80. ox 4327 * Mew Orleans, LA 70178 + 304-861.2537
May 29, 1996
TO: Cynthia Thibodeaux

Laune Conkerton
FROM: Margaret Davidson

RE: Audubon Institute Membership Analyses

Attached are the results of 3 Membership projects I have completed during my
internship. The first is a graphic description of membership by age range. Not
sur :rm"g;v, the largest percentage of members fall into the 36 to 45 year old "amoorv

and the second laraest falls into the 46 to 60 year old range. This 1s true for all three
facilities: Audubon Zoo, Aquarium of the Americas, and Louisiana Narure Center.

These categories are the most likely to have voung children or grandchildren who are
more likely to be drawn to activites at these facilities. An obvious strategy for
me up in the future is to mainin the high levels in these categories while trying
to appeal to more customers in the 20 to 35 year old range.

The second croject involved anaivzing membershup by state, parish and city,
using zip codes avaiiaole in .\[e:noers D's- catabase. The purpose of thus project was to
supplement the research on the f developing an out-of
: e attached 2 sets of
i f nots \._.... 'y 3

s and Jerferson pan..hes, "he next h..oqes
o Of total members, followed by St. Bernard and St.
. respectively. These are the 5 uar.shec that make up the
gion. The smallest number of members are located in
es, recording only 1 member in each. These parishes comprise most of the

| central parts of the state. Parishes from Baton Rouge east to Washington

2g0ry, ana a national r memb

-

I R, the Acadiana parishes, and southeast the Plaguemines Parish are
ail represer n our membershup. If an out-of-market product svere tc be developec
thus region would probably be the best starting place for increasing memeershup.

Currently there are quite of .evx memberships located 1n several states across the
country, the most surprising being 2 membershups in i\uwka and 4 in riau aii! Manv of

these national members are the

- result of ourists purchasing Aquarnium memberships for

ucxker pri

1C

ce for the entire o

s 15 located in Mississippi wat!
ziven the close proximity to .\r’W
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locations of the current members would be very influential in terms of targeting. A
national membership would have to based upon the global interest of conservation, not
upon facility attendance. For example, the Smithsonian Institute has national members
who have never been to Washington, D.C. This is not to say however that this analysis
was useless, More research could be done on these national members to determine if
any of them are potential donors.

The third project involved surveying several zoos and aquariums across the
country to determine the feasibility of an out-of-market membership category. Nineteen
orgarizations were surveyed, and of these we received responses from 9. This is a 47%
response rate, which is not too bad. However, of the responses there were no examples
of out-of-market membership categories. Most stated that either an out-of-market
product had never been considered, or that the organization was located too close to
other major zoos or aquariums to make this a beneficial consideraton. The Toledo Zoo
remarked that while this had never been thought of before, now they may look into it.
Attached is the latest update on the responses. More may arrive in the coming weeks.

Let me know if you have any questions about any of this information. I've
envcyed working on these projects and hope they will be beneficial to you. Thank you!

184
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AUDUBON INSTITUTE
MEMBERSHIP BY AGE RANGES

1995
AGE ~ Membership -
RANGE | 200 | % | AOA [ % | LNC | % _
20 - 35 1,932 0.19 804 0.12 248 0.17
36 - 45 3,510 034 2020 0.31 514! 0.35
46-60 2,406 024 1,869 0.28 416 0.28
60 + 2,365 023 1927 0.29 300 0.20

TOTAL 10,213 1.00] 6,620 1.00 1,478 1.00
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iAudubo'nflnsti’tute

Membership by Age Range

Percentage of Total Membership

20-35 36 - 45 46 - 60 60 +
Age Ranges

BZoo @AOA ELN |

{As of 1/961
iAs of 1/96;
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Audubon Institute
Membership by Age Range
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April 22. 1996

Alicia Lein

Director of Development
Columbus Zoological Garden
P.O. Box 400

Powell, OH 73065-0400

Dear Ms. Lemn:

As Director of Membership at The Audubon Institute I am currently researching the
feasibility of developing and ‘“‘out-of-market” membership category. This category would
be geared specifically for those who live within a 90-mile radius of our geographic region.
As part of the research we are surveying zoos and aquariums around the country to
determine the marketability of such a membership category. I am asking for your
assistance by completing the attached questionnaire. Please return it to me or to the
attention of my research assistant, Margaret Davidson, either by mail or fax (FAX # 504-
866-0819). 1 greatly appreciate your time and effort assisting with this project, and if we
can ever be of any assistance please feel free to contact me. Also, if you would like, I will
be happy to share with you the results of this research.

Thank you agamn for your participation.

Sincerely,

Cynthia Thibodeaux
Director of Membership

attachment




AUDUBON INSTITUTE
OUT-OF-MARKET MEMBERSHIP CATEGORY
SURVEY OF OTHER ZOOS & AQUARIUMS

Please complete the foilowing:

General Information

Name:

Annual Attendance: Metro Population: A
Membership Attendance:

Annual Membership Budget: # of Current Memberships :

Renewal Rate

Qut-of-Market Information
Oo you have an out-of-market

membership category? e YBS ———
What are the benefits? — . Limited access to facility
Newsletter
Magazine

Special Visitor or Tour packages
Other, please list bnefly

Renewal Rate for out-of-market
membpership category:

How long have you marketed
this membership category”?

Has this category been

successful, in terms of?2... Increased donations
Pupiic Relations
Financiai (benefits vs. costs)
Other, please explain bnefly

Pnce of Family Membership: —_— Pnce of Family Membership for
out-of-market category. if different:

How many of your current
memberships are from outside
of your market area?

How have you marketed this —  Direct mail ———  Newspaper

membership categery? Telemarketing ———— Magazine
Radio — —— _ Television
Other

!f you have not out-of-market
membpership. have you aver
zonsidered such acalegory?—____ Yes ———— No. Why?

Thank you very much for your assistance with this research. !f you have any questions please feel free to call
Cynthia Thibodeaux al (504) 861-2537, ext. 157, or Margaret Javidson at (504) 881-5107. Once again, thank youi




AUDUBON INSTITUTE

OUT-OF-MARKET MEMBERSHIP SURVEY

RESPONSES
City Type
Toledo Zoo
Sacramento |Zoo
San Antonio |Zoo & Aquarium
Baltimore Aquarium
Seattle Aquarium
New England |Aquarium
Monterey Bay Aquarium
John G. Shedd | Aquarium
Tennessee Aquarium
Baltimore Zoo
Atlanta Zoo
Cincinnati Zoo
Columbus Zoo
Houston Zoo
Jacksonville !Zoo
Kansas City Zoo
Indianapolis Zoo
Lincoln Park Zoo
Woodland Park |Zoo
Results as of 10/18/96
Response Rate:
Total # Surveyed 19
Total Responses 9
 Rate 47.37%

Response

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

Date ;
05/06/96

04/22/96
05/14/96
04/26/96

I
04/22/96 |

Date
Sent J
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96 ‘
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96 ‘
04/19/96 |
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96 |
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96
04/19/96 |

Response
Time-days
17

25

2nd FAX
Sent

|
05/15/96
05/15/96
05/15/96

05/15/96 |
05/15/96
05/15/96
05/15/96

05/15/96 |

05/15/96 |
\

05/15/96 |

05/15/96 |
05/15/96 |
05/15/96
05/15/96

yes

yes

yes
yes

| Response |

Response

Date | Time-days

05/17/96 2

05/27/96 12

05/24/96 9
05/16/96 1

N4
Uy e




AUDUBON INSTITUTE
OUT-OF-MARKET MEMBERSHI SURVEY

Other Comments

Market include San
Francisco Bay
area.

RESULTS
\ National | ‘
Toledo ‘Sacramento San Antonio | Aquarium | Seattle | New England Monterey Bay John G. Shedd
Zoo | Zoo | Zoo & Aquarium 1 Baltimore | Aquarium | Aquarium Aquarium | Aquarium
Metro. Population 614,128 \ 356,000
Annual Attendance 850,000 1,600,000
# of Memberships 42,500 ‘ 43,700
Membership Attendance ' 457,274 ; ‘ 166,000
Annual Membership Budget 382,320 | I 647,000
Renewal Rate ‘ 72% ‘ ‘ ‘ 68%
|Out-of-Market Category? N ‘ No |
Benefits: n/a [ n/a 1
[ | | [
. \ \ ‘
Renewal Rate n/a . | [ n/a l ‘
Age of Category? n/a ‘ n/a
Success of Category n/a ’ n/a |
\
\
How is this category : n/a [ ‘ n/a ‘
marketed? ‘ ‘
'Have you ever considered ‘ | 1 NJ
this type of category? No Have not felt it ‘
Why not? Never thought necessary, but }
about it, now linterested in
they will lour results ‘
Price of Family Memberships $40 $75'
Price of Family Membership n/a n/a
for out-of-market category ‘
% of Current Memberships no answer | 4% |
from outside market area outside Calif. w

|



AUDUBON INSTITUTE

OUT-OF-MARKET MEMBERSHI

RESULTS

'Metro. Population

Annual Attendance

# of Memberships
Membership Attendance
Annual Membership Budget
Renewal Rate
Out-of-Market Category?
Benefits:

Renewal Rate
Age of Category?
Success of Category

How is this category
marketed?

Have you ever considered
lthis type of category?
Why not?

Price of Family Memberships
{Price of Family Membership
ifor out-of-market category

% of Current Memberships
from outside market area

Other Comments

Tennessee
Aquarium

433,210
1,100,000
17,438
70,000
350,000
54% |
No

n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a l

n/a |

¥

No answe

$60
n/a

30%

| outside MSA!

Atlanta

| Zoo
2,800,000 |
850,000
‘ 30,000
130,000 |
n/a }
‘ 1%
No
‘ n/a \

| n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a

INo, bt do have ‘
Isome olt-of-

Imkt. memberships
(2,000) ‘

$49

Columbus

Zoo
1,300,000 |
1,100,000
40,000
395,000 |
’ 250,000 |
79%
No
n/a l

l n/a
' n/a
n/a

n/a

| -

W/in 2-3 hr drive
from other large ‘
z00s

$49

‘ n/a

5%
due to popularity
of Jack Hanna

Houston
Zoo

4,200,000
1,400,000
13,300
unknown|
571,000
76%
No
n/a

n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a
[
[

No

Considering‘
adding reciprocit
as a benefit for a
% of membershi

$40
n/a

Very few!

|
Jacksonville Kansas City

Zoo |
1,000,000
431,362
7,000;

No answer|
366,000

\
No

n/a
n/a
n/a

n/a

|
N
Doesn't fit;
marketing plan -
just reduced # oﬁ

member categories

$49
n/a

no answer



AUDUBON INSTITUTE
OUT-OF-MARKET MEMBERSHI

RESULTS
|
| Indianapolis | Lincoln Park | Woodland Park

Zoo | Zoo | Zoo
Metro. Population 3000000‘ no answer
Annual Attendance [ 2,000,000 | 1,000,000
1‘# of Memberships | 18,000 35,000 |
{Membership Attendance n/a 400,000
!Annual Membership Budget | 1,200,000 no answer
'Renewal Rate 85% 67% |
Out-of-Market Category? No No
|Benefits: ‘ n/a |

|
|Renewal Rate n/a ‘ n/a
|Age of Category? n/a n/a
|Success of Category n/a n/a
|
‘How is this category n/a nfa
marketed?
Have you ever considered N No answer
this type of category? ‘ Also have
Why not? | Brookfield Zoo }
w/in area. ‘

|Price of Family Memberships ‘ $45 350
|Price of Family Membership n/a n/a
for out-of-market category [ ‘
‘% of Current Memberships ‘ | no answer Very low

from outside market area | ‘ |

Other Comments




Audubon Institute
Memberships by State

State | Memberships |
Alaska | 2
Alabama | 101
Arkansas | ) 8]
Arizona | N 5
California - [ 46
Colorado | - 8
Connecticut | .2z
District of Columbia | 16
Florida . 60
Georgia 26|
Hawaii ) 4
|idaho ‘ 2
Fl_linois 19
indiana i 10
Kansas 5
[Kentucky B - |
Louisiana | 27,828
Massachusetts L 13]
Maryland B 13
(Michigan . 10
Missouri [ - 9
Mississippi ‘ 435
[INorth Carolina | 14
North Dakota e 1
Nebraska i3 2
New Hampshire £ 2
New Jersey | 13
New Mexico | 3
Nevado ; 6
New York | 19|
Ohio 17|
Oklahoma & 4]
Oregon - 2]
Pennsyvania 10
Rhode Island t 1]
South Carolina - 3]
South Dakota 1]
[ Tennessee 15
Texas | - 98
Utah | 1]
Virginia - B ~10]
Washington i 6
Wisconsin N 13
West Virginia | 3
Total U.S. 28,869
International 8
Grant Total S 28,877
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Audubon Institute
Louisiana Membership by Parish

] % of
~_Parish Memberships | Total
Unidentified Zip Codes | 8 0.03%
Acadia B 8 0.03%
Allen | 4] 0.01%
Ascension 36| 0.13%
Assumption T | 12| 0.04%
Avoyelles Lt 2 0.01%
Beauregard 4 0.01%|
Bossier 4] 0.01%
Caddo 22| 0.08%
Calcasieu = N 31 0.11%
Caldwell 1, 0.004%
Catahoula 1 0.004%|
Claiborne ' 1. 0.004%
Concordia I 0.004%
East Baton Rouge 360 1.29%
[East Feliciana 2 0.01%
[Evangeline 3 0.01%
Franklin | 0.01%
Grant = 1 0.004%
Iberia ) 25| 0.09%
Iberville | 9  0.03%
Jackson o 1[ ~ 0.004%
[Jefferson - 11,370  40.86%
Jefferson Davis - 5] 0.02%
[Lafayette 94|  0.34%
Lafourche 1 284 | 1.02%
Lincoln ) 6| 0.02%
| Livingston ) 24 0.09%
[Morehouse R 2 0.01%
Natchitoches 2, 0.01%
Orleans | ) 10.308  37.04%
[Ouachita 13 0.05%
|Plaquemines 260 0.93%
Pointe Coupee 7 0.03%
Rapides | 28 | 0.10%
Richland B | 1 0.004%
Sabine 1 0.004%
St. Bernard - 958 3.44%
St. Charles 810, 2.91%
St. Helena - | 18 0.06%
[St. James 3 0.11%
St. John the Baptist ) =5 - 437 1.57%
St. Landry . . 20 0.07%
St. Martin N 3 32| 0.11%
St Mary | W 013%
St. Tammany 2,008 7.22%
Tangipahoa i 216 0.78%
Terrebonne 245 0.88%)
(Union - 1] 0.004%
'Vermillion B 12 0.04%
[Vernon. — 1 0.004%
| Washington 46 | 0.17%
| Webster ) 1, 0.004%|
West Baton Rouge e - 7] 0.03%
|West Feliciana | 4 0.01%
Grand Total - LA 27,828 | 100.00%
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Audubon Institute
Loulsiana Memberships by Parish

(7.2%) St. Tammany

(3.4%) St. Bemard

(37.0%) Orleans (2.9%) St. Charles

(1.6%) St. John the Baptist

(1.3%) East Baton Rouge
(1.0%) Lafourche
(0.9%) Plaquemines

48 g

(1.7%) W/<50 Households

(40.9%) Jefferson
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complete the requirements for her degree she completed a five month internship in non-

profit development at The Audubon Institute in May of 1996.
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